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UNITED STATES
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Washington, D.C. 20549
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SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE AOF 1934
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ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008
Or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 1-10113
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquéitdrs pursuant to Item 405 of RegulationKSis not contained herein, and will not
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10-K or any amendment to this Form 10K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a Smaller Repor
Company.
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExgje Act). Yesdd No
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute "fodalaoking statements" within the meaning of the Pmv&ecurities Litigatic
Reform Act of 1995. Such forwaldeking statements involve known and unknown rigkscertainties and other factors which may caus
actual results, performance or achievements to atenmlly different from any future results, perfaance, or achievements expresse
implied by such forwardeoking statements. The most significant of suattdes include, but are not limited to, our abilépd the ability ¢

King Pharmaceuticals Research and Development,(tKing”) (to whom we have licensed our Aversié'@nTechnoIogy for certain opic
analgesic products in the United States, Canadaviexico) and the ability other pharmaceutical camips, if any, to whom we may lice!

our Aversion® Technology, to obtain necessary regulatory appsogatl commercialize products utilizing Aversf%iﬁechnology, the ability 1
avoid infringement of patents, trademarks and oftreprietary rights of third parties, and the dbilto fulfill the U.S. Food and Drt
Administration’s (“FDA") requirements for approving our product candidate@scbmmercial manufacturing and distribution in thaitec
States, including, without limitation, the adequafythe results of the laboratory and clinical s&sdcompleted to date and the results of «
laboratory and clinical studies, to support FDA @l of our product candidates, the adequacy efdéwvelopment program for our proc
candidates, changes in regulatory requirementsradwsafety findings relating to our product caathid, the risk that the FDA may not a
with our analysis of our clinical studies and maslaate the results of these studies by differeathmds or conclude that the results of
studies are not statistically significant, clinigaineaningful or that there were human errors @d¢bnduct of the studies or the risk that fui
studies of our product candidates are not posaivetherwise do not support FDA approval or comradlscviable product labeling, and t
uncertainties inherent in scientific research, ddegelopment, clinical trials and the regulatorprval process. Other important factors
may also affect future results include, but arelimoited to: our ability to attract and retain s&d personnel; our ability to secure and prc
our patents, trademarks and other proprietary sighigation or regulatory action that could reuus to pay significant damages or chang
way we conduct our business; our ability to competecessfully against current and future competitour dependence on thipdwty supplier
of raw materials; our ability to secure U.S. Drugfdcement Administration ("DEA") quotas and soutige active ingredients for our prodt
in development; difficulties or delays in clinidalals for our product candidate or in the commarananufacture and supply of our prodi
and other risks and uncertainties detailed in Beport. When used in this Report, the words "eg@thdproject,” "anticipate," "expec
"intend,"” "believe," and similar expressions idgnforward-looking statements.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagessearch, development and manufacture of prathradidates providing abt

deterrent features and benefits utilizing our pietpry Aversion® Technology. Our innovative Aversioh Technology platform has be
successfully utilized in developing multiple opi@dalgesic products candidates. Development of@x® Tablets, our lead product candid
is supported by numerous laboratory studies andistitally significant and clinically meaningful Bse Il and Phase Il stu
results. Additional product candidates in develepmare supported by laboratory and bioequivalestoelies. Our portfolio of prodt
candidates includes opioid analgesics intendedf¢atevely relieve pain while simultaneously discaging common methods of pharmaceu
product misuse and abuse including:

« intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cégsu
« nasal snorting of crushed tablets or capsules

- intentional swallowing of excess quantities of &blor capsules.

Acurox ® is an orally administered immediate release tabdettaining oxycodone HCI as its sole active anatgegyredient. O
December 30, 2008, we submitted a 505(b)(2) NewgBpplication (“NDA") for Acurox® Tablets to the FDA including a request for pric
review. In addition to AcuroX , we have numerous Aversion Technology opioid analgesic product candidates anious stages
development containing the active analgesic ingmdi found in widely prescribed and frequently &dugproducts. All of our prodt
candidates utilize Aversiof Technology and are covered by an issued US patdth in combination with our anticipated produabéling
and drug product listing strategies are anticipé&egrovide our opioid products with protectionrfrgeneric competition through the expira
of our patents in 2025.




The misuse and abuse of pharmaceutical productemeral, and opioid analgesics in particular, isigmificant societal proble
described as epidemic in nature. It is estimated 75 million people in the U.S. suffer from paamd, according to U.S. government surv
33.1 million people, or more than 10% of the U.Bpyation, have used prescription opioid analgesmsmedically at some point in th

lifetime. We expect our Aversiof Technology opioid product candidates to competengrily in the market for immediate release of
products (“IR Opioid Productsvhich are commonly prescribed for relief of painm fturations generally less than 30 days. In 200t
Health reported 248 million prescriptions dispenfmdopioid analgesic tablets and capsules, of tlipproximately 232 million were for
Opioid Products and 16 million were for extendekbase opioid tablet and capsule products (“ER @pRyioducts”)which are common
prescribed for relief of chronic pain for duratioranging from several weeks to several months ngdo. We have contracted, througt
independent market research firm, numerous madssarch studies including two which surveyed 401 486 opioid analgesic prescrib
U.S. based physicians, respectively. These studiesaled that physicians are keenly aware of dpaialgesic abuse and are perso
concerned with the potential impact of drug abuseth®ir respective medical practices. Our study@f physicians indicated that of
prescriptions likely to be written for our prodwandidates that utilize the analgesic oxycodonés 88l be switched from immediate rele:

products containing either hydrocodone or oxycodavith the remaining 41%being switched from other currently marketed opiaiglgesi
products such as codeine, propoxyphene, morphiteframadol. Ninetyeur percent (94%) of 401 physicians surveyed iagid they woul

either prescribe one of the Aversi@nTechnoIogy products profiled in the market reseajabstionnaire for one of their last five pati

receiving an opioid prescription or they are awafe patient in their practice for whom Aversi@nTechnoIogy opioid analgesic prodt
would be an appropriate choice.

We have established and intend to pursue futuagesfic alliances and licensing agreements withrphaeutical companies to enha
our ability to develop and commercialize our pradwandidates. In October 2007, we entered into eerise, Development &

Commercialization Agreement with King to develoglasommercialize certain opioid analgesic produtilizing our proprietary Aversioff
Technology, including Acurof Tablets. The King Agreement initially provided Ilginwith an exclusive license in the United Statesnail
and Mexico (the “King Territory”) to Acurof Tablets and Acurac@[(oxycodone HCl/niacin/acetaminophen) Tablets, andgtion to licens
future opioid analgesic product candidates utiiziour Aversion® Technology in the King Territory. In May and Dedeen 2008, Kin

exercised its option and licensed an undisclosédidpnalgesic tablet product and Vycavgr(hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/acetaminopl
Tablets, respectively. Under the terms of the Kérggeement, King made an upfront cash payment tof 30 million. As of February 2
2009, we had received an additional $25.4 millimnT King in the form of milestone payments, optieas and reimbursement for research
development expenses. In addition, we are elidimduture regulatory and sales milestone paymeeismjbursement for certain research
development expenses and royalties on combinedahnetisales of all products commercialized unkderiding Agreement.

We conduct research, development, laboratory, naaiurfing, and warehousing activities at our operatifacility in Culver, Indiar
and lease an administrative office in Palatinéndis. In addition to internal capabilities andieities, we engage numerous clinical rese
organizations (“CROs"ith expertise in regulatory affairs, clinical trdesign and monitoring, clinical data managembiustatistics, medic
writing, laboratory testing and related servic&ich CROs perform, under our direction, developnaeik regulatory services relating to

Aversion® Technology product candidates.
Our Strategy

Our goal is to become a leading specialty pharmazdicompany focused on addressing the growingetagroblem of prescriptic
drug abuse by developing a broad portfolio of preareutical products with abuse deterrent featurdsanefits. Specifically, we intend to:

« Capitalize on our Experience and Expertise in tresdarch and Development of Pharmaceutical Produdts Abuse Deterre
Features and Benefil. Our strategy is to facilitate rapid product depeent and minimize risk by utilizing active pharceutice
ingredients with proven safety and efficacy prafileith known potential for abuse, and develop nesdpcts utilizing our proprieta

Aversion® Technology using the FDA's 505(b)(2) regulatory qass.




o Emerge as a Leader in Developing and Commercigifmnoducts with Abuse Deterrent Features and Bendfble to Unique
Address the Growing Problem of Abuse of Prescniptizrugs. We believe that AcuroX and our other product candidate:
development have demonstrated that Averé%Trechnology allows products to provide the analgésnefit they were intended

deliver, while simultaneously having features tha intended to deter misuse and abuse. We bdliege benefits will be attract
to physicians, third party payors, and advocacypscsensitive to the problem of prescription drbgsz.

« Optimize Shareholder Value and Temper Risk by bkicgnour Product Candidates to Strategically Foaigeharmaceutici
Companies in the U.S. and Other Geographic Tergr On October 30, 2007, we and King Research antglbpment, Inc.,
wholly-owned subsidiary of King Pharmaceuticals, Inc.eed into a License, Development and Commerciadizafgreement t

develop and commercialize in the United States,aGanand Mexico opioid analgesic products utilizmgersion® Technology
including Acurox® Tablets and AcuracétTablets. We believe opportunities exist to entéo similar agreements with other parti

for these same opioid products outside the Kingifbey, and in the United States and worldwide dereloping additional Aversioh
Technology product candidates for other abuseahlgsdsuch as tranquilizers, stimulants and sedatiBg licensing our produ
candidates to strategically focused companies @itbertise and infrastructure in commercializatibplvarmaceuticals, we are abl¢
leverage our expertise, intellectual property rsgéutd Aversior? Technology without the need to build costly saled mmanufacturin
infrastructure. We anticipate that our future rawe if any, will be derived from milestone and alty payments related to 1

commercialization of products utilizing our Avemi%TechnoIogy.

*  Apply our Aversior® Technology to Non-Opioid Products that are Subjechbuse. We intend to first develop a broad pipelin
opioid analgesic products, and thereafter we intenéxpand our portfolio to other pharmaceuticaddorct categories containi
potentially abuseable active ingredients such asqtrillizers (brand products such as valifimxanax® , Halcion® and Ativan® ),
stimulants (brand products such as Dexedfinadderall®, Ritalin® and Concertg) and sedatives (brand products such as Nen
®  Butisol®, and Secona(?). These products, like the opioid analgesics on whiekare currently focused, are prone to similami

of misuse and abuse. While we do not currentlygasignificant resources on this area, we belibaé the application of Aversioh
Technology to these naspioid products may have a similar regulatory psscand could result in a significant market oppatyufor
us.

- Maintain our Efficient Internal Cost Structur. We maintain a streamlined corporate infrastriectiocused on: (i) selectic
formulation development, laboratory evaluation, ofacture, quality assurance and stability testihgestain finished dosage fo
product candidates; (ii) development and prosenutibour patent applications; and (iii) negotiatiand execution of license &
development agreements with strategically focudemmpaceutical companies. By outsourcing the higgt elements of our prod
development and commercialization process, we \eelibat we substantially reduce required fixed bead and capital investm:
and thereby reduce our business risk. We curreatlgot, nor do we intend to, use a sales foramtomercialize products on our o\

Product Candidates in Development

Aversion® Technology product candidates which hdemonstrated Proof of Concelpire set forth in the table below.

Our Product Candidates Stage of Developmen

Acurox®(oxycodone HCl/niacin) Tablets New Drug Application ("NDA") submitted to FDA -30-08 with a
request for priority reviey

Acuracet® (Oxycodone HC|/n|aC|n/APAP) Tablets |nvestigati0nal New Drug Application (HlND") filediith FDA and
active beginning -1-08. Testing for NDA submission in progre

Vycavert (hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/APAP) Tablets Proof of Concept complete. Testing for IND filimgprogress

4th (undisclosed opioid analgesic) Tab Proof of Concept comple

5th (undisclosed opioid analgesic) Tab Proof of Concept comple




! Proof of concept is attained upon demonstratioasfain product stability and bioavailability pareters defined in the King Agreeme
Refer to description of the King Agreement in tRisport. King has either licensed or has an optioficense all opioid product candide

listed above, except the"8Undisclosed Opioid Analgesic Product Candidateh@U.S., Canada and Mexico.
Aversion ® Technology Overview

Aversion ® Technology is a proprietary platform technology ypding abuse deterrent features and benefits tdyoaaministere:
pharmaceutical drug products containing potentiahuseable active ingredients. Our current focas been to utilize our Aversiofi
Technology with opioid analgesics administered ablét or capsule form. In addition, we believe Aien ® Technology is a versat
technology which may be applicable to ngpieid active ingredients subject to abuse and athterred in tablet or capsule form, incluc
tranquilizers, sedatives and stimulants.

Aversion ® Technology opioid analgesic product candidatesuihela unique composition of commonly used active m@active
pharmaceutical ingredients. The opioid active édignts are intended to provide effective relieiirpain while the proprietary mixture
inactive ingredients provide ndherapeutic functionality. When dissolved in wateother solvents, the functional inactive ingesds quickl
form a viscous gel, which increases the difficuiiyextracting the opioid active ingredient in arfoand volume suitable for injection.
addition, the combination of functional inactiveiadients is intended to induce nasal passagemdiscband disliking effects if the tablets

pulverized and snorted. Aversi?nTechnoIogy opioid product candidates also inclugein, an active ingredient in vitamins, cholest
reducers and nutritional supplements, in amountsroiéned by us to be well tolerated when our prodiandidates are administerec
recommended doses but which are intended to intkroporary dysphoric effects as increasing numbétatdets are swallowed above

recommended dose. When Aversf%n'echnology is utilized, it is intended that theuliag product provides the same therapeutic benhel

the non Aversiorf’ Technology product, while simultaneously discounggihe most common methods of pharmaceutical ptotiguse an
abuse.

Intended to Deter I.V. Injection of Opioids Extraetl from Dissolved Tablets

Prospective drug abusers may attempt to dissoluermtly marketed opioidontaining tablets or capsules in water, alcoholptbe
common solvents, filter the dissolved solution, #meh inject the resulting fluid intravenously totain euphoric effects. In product candid

utilizing Aversion® Technology, extracting the active ingredient usiegerally available household solvents, includirager or alcohol, into
volume and form suitable for intravenous (“I.Vitjection, converts the tablet into a viscous gettare and traps the active ingredient in
gel. Additionally, it is not possible, without @ifulty, to draw this viscous gel through a neeidb® a syringe for I.V. injection. We believe t
this gel forming feature will inhibit prospective/l drug abusers from extracting and injecting apactive ingredients from product candidi

developed utilizing Aversiofi Technology.
Intended to Deter Nasal Snorting

Prospective drug abusers may crush or grind cuyremérketed pharmaceutical opioddntaining tablets or capsules and snor
resulting powder. The abused active ingredienthénpowder is absorbed through the lining of theahpassages providing the abuser w

rapid onset of euphoric effects. Aversi%ﬁ'echnology products are intended to discouragel isa®ating by burning and irritating the ne

passages of a prospective drug abuser who crusitesnarts such products. We believe products whitdize Aversion® Technology wil
inhibit prospective nasal drug abusers from sngrtirushed tablets.

Intended to Deter Swallowing Excess Quantities afblets

We have included niacin, an active ingredient itamwiins, cholesterol reducers and nutritional supplets, in our opioid analge

product candidates utilizing Aversié@nTechnology. We believe that should a person swa#igcess quantities of tablets utilizing Aversfon
Technology they will experience an unpleasant comimn of symptoms, including warmth or flushingghing, sweating and/or chil
headache and a general feeling of discomfort assaltrof the increasing dose of niacin. It is etpd that these niacinduced dysphor
symptoms will begin approximately 10 to 15 minus#er the excess dose is swallowed and will digeiggproximately 75 to 90 minu
later. In addition, we believe it is generally dgoized by physicians, nurses, and other health paoviders that niacin has a well establis

safety profile in long term administration at do$as exceeding the amounts in each product caralidtiizing Aversion® Technology. W

believe the undesirable niacin effects at escaalimses will not prevent, but are expected to ¢dsteallowing excess quantities of Aversitn
Technology product candidates.




U.S. Market Opportunity for Opioid Analgesic Products Utilizing Aversion ®Techno|ogy

The misuse and abuse of prescription drug prodonagneral, and opioid analgesics in particulag &@gnificant societal problem tl
has been described as epidemic in nature by Josegalifano, Jr., Chairman and President, NatidDehter for Addiction and Substai
Abuse at Columbia University, July 2005. THational Survey on Drug Use and Health, 2006 an@72Cestimated that 33.1 million people
more than 10% of the population, have used presznippioid analgesics nomedically at some point in their lifetime. In atioln, it is
estimated that more than 75 million people in th8.Wuffer from pain, which is more than the numbfepeople with diabetes, heart dise
and cancer combined. For many pain sufferers,id@inalgesics provide their only pain relief. Asesult, opioid analgesics are among
largest drug classes in the U.S. with over 248iomiltablet and capsule prescriptions dispensedd8 2f which approximately 232 milli
were for IR Opioid Products and 16 million were &R Opioid Products. However, physicians and ottealth care providers at times
reluctant to prescribe opioid analgesics for fdfamsuse and abuse and possible diversion of tagie prescriptions for illicit use by peo
other than their patients.

We expect our Aversion@echnology opioid product candidates to competmarily in the IR Opioid Product segment of the ag
analgesic market, a segment with a 4% compoundedahmrescription growth over the last five yea@®n average, an IR Opioid Prod
prescription contains approximately 57 tablets apsules. According to thMational Survey on Drug Use and Health, 2006 an@7:
prescription drug abusers have supplanted abudeadl dlicit drugs except marijuana. Of these abd prescription products, IR Opi
Products, which typically provide rapid onset ofalgesia and require dosing every 4 to 6 hours, csephe vast majority of this abt
compared with ER Opioid Products, which releaseér tbpioids gradually, generally over a 12 to 24 hperiod. Due to fewer identifi
competitors and the significantly larger market dispensed prescriptions for IR Opioid Products parad to ER Opioid Products, we h
initially focused on developing IR Opioid Produatdizing Aversion® Technology.

According to IMS Health, in 2008, sales in the IRi@d Product segment, comprised of 97% generiadyets, were $1
billion. Assuming the FDA approves differentiatetdel claims of the abuse deterrent features andflie of our product candidates, of wt

no assurance can be given, we anticipate that verston® Technology IR Opioid Products will be premium pdceompared to gene
products resulting in rapid growth of sales in fReOpioid Product market segment.

Despite considerable publicity regarding the akmfs@xyContin® Tablets and other ER Opioid Products, U.S. govenragtistic
suggest that far more people have used IR OpiadurRts normedically than ER Opioid Products. These statistitimate that nearly 5 tin

as many people have misused the IR Opioid Prodtictdin ®  Lortab® and Lorcet® (hydrocodone bitartrate/acetaminophen) as have

abused OxyContiF"?. We estimate 60-95% of the 33.1 million lifetitd& opioid abusers have nomedically used the active ingredients in
IR Opioid product candidates. As indicated infileowing chart, the top five abused opioid produate available only as IR Opioid Products.




Lifetime Non-Medical Use of Selected Pain Relieverége 12 or Older: 2007

Vicodin®, Lortab® & Lorcet® |GG -0 1
Darvocet®, Darvon® & Tylenol w/Codiene [ NG 1G.C
Percocet®, Percodan® & Tylox® |GGG 11 5
Hydrocodone [N 7.6
Codeine NG ©.7
OxyContin® |G 4 4
Demerci® [ 2.4
Morphine [ 2.4
Methadone [ 1.6
Uttram® [ 1.2

o] 5 10 15 20 25
Numbers (in millions)

® Immediate Release Only @ Extended & Immediate Release

Source: SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, NatibSarvey on Drug Use and Health, 2006 and 2007.

We have commissioned, through an independent megketrch firm, three physician market researctiiesuwith 282, 401 and 4

opioid prescribing U.S. based physicians, respelgtivA sampling of key findings from these approately 1,100 physicians includes:

Physicians are keenly aware of opioid analgesic abu

The 282 physicians surveyed estimated on averageatiout one out of six prescriptions for oxycodand hydrocodone containi
products are abuse

94% of the 435 physicians surveyed experiencedast lone suspicious incident regarding opioid abusiee past month, while nea
64% experienced four or more discretely differewidents regarding opioid abuse in the past m¢

Physicians are personally concerned with opioid @leus impact to their respective practices

Following the survey of 282 physicians, the researchers adad, “abusq of opioid analgesicg is a particular problem f
physicians because many are not fully sure whobissiag these opioids, and they view such abuse kegal threat to the
practice.” ‘More than half [of the physicians surveyed] beligkieir physician colleagues are more concerned tainvniding stat
review [of their opioid prescribing habits] than etiag[ professional associati(] pain guidelines [for their patien”.

After the survey of 435 physicians the researchergluded “the primary motive for prescribing theeksion® Technology produ
[ s]is the concern physicians have about opioid abndetee threat it represents to their prac”

Physicians are favorably inclined toward prescrilgropioids with abuse deterrent features and bersefit

94% of the 401 physicians surveyed indicated they tvould either prescribe one of the Aversﬁ@oﬁechnology products profiled
the market research questionnaire for one of theirfive patients receiving an opioid prescript@rthey are aware of a patient in tl

practice for whom Aversioft Technology products would be an appropriate choice.

57% of the 435 physicians indicated that their @mp@nalgesic prescribing would increase if they everore certain they were |
aiding abusers




* Following the survey of 401 physicians, the resears concluded “thesp Aversion © Technology oxycodone products] wo
disproportionately replace current immediate redeasycodone [and oxycodone/acetaminophen] presmmigt but would also dre
substantial volume from hydrocodone/acetaminophieduycts’

Overall, we believe the availability of opioid agebics with the deterrent features, including potslwsing our Aversior?
Technology, will greatly impact the selection obgucts used for relief of pain. Our market reskaurvey of the 401 physicians indice
that of the prescriptions likely to be written four product candidates that utilize analgesic oggo@, 59% will be switched from immedi
release products containing either oxycodone ordoatlone, with the remaining 41% being switchednfrather currently marketed opit
analgesic products such as codeine, propoxyphemphime and tramadol.

A majority of pharmaceutical products in the U.8& paid for by third party payors such as insurghgrmacy benefit managers, self-
insured companies and the federal and state goesnsnthrough Medicare, Medicaid and other prograwise. believe our product candide
will have to demonstrate a clinical benefit to fhetient and/or an economic benefit to third paryqrs to receive favored treatment by
payors.

Independent estimates have been made assessipgttially significant cost impact of prescriptiopioid abuse to insurers.
analysis of health and pharmacy insurance clainsden 1998 and 2002 for almost 2 million Americapnaducted by Analysis Group, i
and others indicated that enrollees with a diagnotiopioid abuse had average claims of approxim&®4,000 per year higher than an age-
gender matched noopioid abuse sample. A 2007 report by the Coalidgainst Insurance Fraud inflated this excess pesfpatient to mo
than $16,000 for 2007, and by applying the U.S.egoments estimated 4.4 million annual opioid abusers, bated that opioid abuse col
costs health insurers up to $72.5 billion a year.

Acurox ® Tablets Development Program

On December 30, 2008, we submitted a 505(b)(2) NDAAcurox® Tablets to the FDA, including a request for prig
review. The NDA for Acurox®Tablets includes results from numerous clinical &adabratory studies assessing the efficacy andysaf
Acurox® Tablets and to demonstrate abuse deterrent featimedenefits, including the data and results feiodies set forth in the tal
below.

Studies in the Acuroy® Tablets 505(b)(2) NDA Submissiol Summary of Results

AP-ADF-101 Niacin dos-response (0-75mg) Identified appropriate niacin dose in each Acurox®
Phase Tablet

AP-ADF-104 Bioequivalence to non Aversi® Technology Referenc  Acurox® Tablets are bioequivalent to the Refere
Phase Listed Drug Listed Drug

AP-ADF-108 Single dose linearity and food effe Acurox® Tablets demonstrate single d¢
Phase linearity. Absorption is delayed by foc

AP-ADF-109 Multi-dose linearity Acurox® Tablets demonstrate multi-dose linearity
Phase

AP-ADF-106 Evaluate effects of nasal snorting in subjects with Refer to summary in this Report
Phase history of snorting and nasal drug abi

AP-ADF-103 Repeat dose safety and tolerabi Confirmed appropriate niacin dose in each Ac®
Phase I Tablet

AP-ADF-107 Niacin dos-response (-600mg) Confirmed appropriate niacin dose in each Ac®
Phase || Tablet

AP-ADF-102 Evaluate relative dislike of oxycodone HCl/niaciersus Refer to summary in this Report
Phase I oxycodone HCl alon

AP-ADF-111 Evaluate abuse liability of oxycodone HCl/niacirrsues Refer to summary in this Report
Phase I oxycodone HCI alon

AP-ADF-105 Evaluate safety and efficacy in relief of modeitat Refer to summary in this Repc
Phase Il severe pail

Extraction Test

Syringe Test

Laboratory test quantifying I.V. abuse deterrent
properties
Laboratory test quantifying 1.V. abuse deterrent
properties

Refer to summary in this Report

Refer to summary in this Report




Study AP-ADF-106 or Study 106: Study 106 was a two part, Phase |, single-cestagle-blind, clinical study in nodependet
subjects with a history of recreational intranagpioid use to assess the safety, tolerability ahdrpacodynamic effects of intranas
administered crushed Acurox®&blets, crushed generic oxycodone HCI tabletspamd oxycodone HCI powder. The primary objectif®ar
1 (15 subjects enrolled, 13 subjects completedubjects analyzed) was to determine the maximuenat#d dose of crushed AcuroX@blet:
that subjects could snort in a single administrat®ubjects were administered escalating dosesished Acurox®@Tablets (7.5/30 mg) starti
at one half tablet and increasing in half tabletéments on successive days. Part 1 also asges®ed hours after administration) vital sic
subjective ratings of liking and somatic (bodily)sebmfort, and objective assessments of the naawtyc determined by endoscc
and intranasal photography. Part 2 (15 subjestslled, 12 subjects completed, 10 subjects amd)yassessed the relative abuse liabili
intranasally administered crushed AcuroX@blets (7.5/30 mg), crushed generic oxycodone ili@lediate release tablets and pure oxyco
HCI powder, all with a quantity of oxycodone HCluggplent to the group median highest tolerated adsscurox® Tablets determined in P
1. Part 2 measurements were made over 12 hoursnahaled vital signs, subjective measures of tikend somatic (bodily) discomfc
objective assessments of the nasal cavity andhlemacokinetics of oxycodone after intranasal adstration.

Part 1 of the study determined the maximum toler&&anasal dose of crushed AcuroX@blets was 15 mg oxycodone HCI/60
niacin (i.e. 2 x 7.5/30 mg Acurox® Tablets). Thegestigator concluded it was not in the subjelotst interests to continue to higher levels
to the severity of side effects as weighed agatihst study objectives. Objective and subjectiveess®ents indicated nasal conges
irritation, discharge, and burning. These effecésememporary and were most pronounced at 30 nsrafter dosing with a return to base
levels by 1 hour. The overall drug effects (Ovielalig Liking, Overall Drug Experience, and TakeuQrAgain) were measured on a 100 ¢
visual analogue scale (VAS) assessed 8 hours paesitgl Increasing AcuroX doses were associated with a decrease in likingescand
decrease in willingness to take the drug again. @kierall Drug Experience was disliked (VAS<50) sewry drug dose (0.5, 1, 1.5, an
crushed Acuro® Tablets).

In Part 2 of the study, nasal administration of@bed AcuroX Tablets (7.5/30 mg ) resulted in disliking and Ipwesitive drug effe
on the Overall Drug Experience and Overall Drugitdkscales. In comparison, crushed generic oxyeceddCl tablets and oxycodone +
powder resulted in high drug liking and positiveigleffects with the mean difference being statidiicsignificant at p< 0.0035. Furthermor
subjects were much less willing to take crushedréx(f Tablets again compared to crushed oxycodone tahtetsoxycodone powder
0.0007). Intranasal administration of crushed Agdt Tablets caused significantly greater negative dbjeeffects for nasal congestion
discharge (px 0.0223) and negative subjective effects for nhsahing, congestion and need to blow nose (p0038). The results were
statistically significant for the objective assessitnof nasal irritation.

Examination of endoscopy and external photograpghrgaled visible differences between the treatmasitsnly the crushed Acuréx
treatment was associatedith white foamy substance in the interior and nhéddirbinate of the nose and visible facial flughirDxycodon
bioavailability was similar between all three treants. In both Parts of the study, no serious a#vevents were reported. All adverse e\
were classified as mild or moderate with the maestalent adverse events being nasal symptoms (sbagediscomfort, discharge), flushi
tearing and euphoria.

The principal investigator's overall conclusion wihsit, based on Study 106 results, intranasal &adiration of crushed Acuré
Tablets has a distinctively lower abuse potentiahtthe same oxycodone HCI dose administered atedugeneric oxycodone HCI tablet
pure oxycodone HCI powder.

Study AP-ADF-102 or Study 102: Study 102 was a Phase I, single center, randomdwmgble blind crossover design clinical trie
24 subjects with a history of opioid abuse withrianary endpoint to assess, whether the subjecligetisthe drug effect they were feeling wi
varying levels of niacin were administered in conaion with 40 mg of oxycodone HCI| compared to 49 axycodone HCI (alone) anc
placebo. Each subject was randomized to a dosdogience that included doses of niacin (0, 240, 4&8dd 600 mg) administered
combination with 40 mg oxycodone HCI, while the jeats were fasted and 600 mg niacin in combinatigth 40 mg oxycodone Ht
administered following a standardized hifglt-meal. Each dosing day, vital sign measuressajective and behavioral effects were asst
before dosing (baseline) and at 0.5, 1, 1.5, 24,3, 6, and 12 hours after dosing. After comptetof the study, subjects responded
Treatment Enjoyment Assessment Questionnaire extselhich of the treatments they would take agdihe maximum scale response to
question “Do you dislike the drug effect you areliieg now?” (i.e., the “Disliking Score”)was designated as the primary effic
variable. Study results were as follows:
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- In the fasting state, all three doses of niacindmbination with oxycodone HCI 40mg produced sigaifit (p< .05) Disliking Score
compared to oxycodone HCIl 40mg alone. No othejestike measure was significantly affected by tleeim addition to oxycodon:

« The high fat meal eliminated the niacin effect atgb delayed the time to oxycodone peak blood e

« The addition of niacin to oxycodone HCI alters sudbjective response to oxycodone HCI as indicatethé significant responses
the Disliking Score. This observation in conjunatiwith the results from the Treatment Enjoyment Qioanaire indicates that t
addition of niacin reduces the attractiveness gtodone to opiate abuse

- There were no serious adverse events. Niacin pestacdose related attenuation of pupillary corntiri¢ diastolic blood presst
increase and probably systolic blood pressure @s&eproduced by oxycodone HCI. The alterations iagim on the vital sig
responses to oxycodone 40 mg were minimal, wene gemarily with the 600 mg niacin dose and weréalimically significant.

The principal study investigat@’overall conclusion was that the results of St supported the hypothesis that the additic
niacin to oxycodone HCI in a minimal ratio of 30 m@cin to 5 mg oxycodone HCI is aversive compaeadxycodone HCI alone. T
addition of niacin did not alter the safety profiltoxycodone HCI alone.

Study AP-ADF-111 or Study 111: Study 111 is entitled "A Phase I, Single-CeniRandomized, Doubl&lind, Assessment of t|

Abuse Liability of Acurox® (oxycodone HCI and niacin) Tablets in Subjects witHistory of Opioid Abuse”. In Study 111, 30 fak®ibject
with a history of opioid abuse received a singleadof study drugs every 48 hours for 9 days ane warolled in two dosing sequences.
first dosing sequence (Sequence 1) included rarmiirdoses of (i) niacin 240mg alone; (ii) a combaraof oxycodone HCI 40mg with niac

240mg (4 times the expected recommended dose afoRéuTablets 5/30mg); and (iii) placebo tablets. Thgeotive of Sequence 1 was
assess the effects of oxycodone HCI on the effefctsacin. The second dosing sequence (SequenagclRded randomized doses of (

combination of oxycodone HCI 40mg with niacin 240if#gtimes the expected recommended dose of Aclirdablets 5/30mg) and (

oxycodone HCI 40mg alone. Sequence 2 was designasdsess the abuse liability and abuse deterizoteatial of Acurox® Tablets verst
oxycodone HCI alone. On each dosing day, vital siggasures and subjective and behavioral effeats assessed before dosing (baseline
at0.5,1,1.5, 2, 3,4, 5, 6, and 12 hours afosirdy. Vital signs included measurement of puige sblood pressure, heart rate, oral temper
and respiratory rate. For both Sequence 1 ande®equ2, subjective changes were measured with atémwo Drug Rating Questionnaire-
Subject (DRQS) and a 40 item short form of the Atidh Research Center Inventory (ARCI). The ARGswomprised of three scale sc
including the Morphine Benzedrine Group scale (MB@Jasuring euphoria, the LSD/dysphoria scale megasgaomatic/bodily discomfort a
dysphoria and the Pentobarbital Chlorpromazine Bdtd&sroup scale (PCAG) measuring apathetic sedatiar Sequence 2 only, in addit
to the DRQS and ARCI, subjects also completed @eBtialue Assessment Questionnaire and a Treatfpejtlyment Assessme
Questionnaire.

Sequence 1 results demonstrated that responsadion 240 mg alone compared to placebo causes is@mifdislike scores (p = .0
and significant LSD/dysphoria scores (p < .001hwitese negative niacin induced effects manifestapidly, reaching peak at 0155 hour
and thereafter diminishing. At 0.5 hours aftergdadministration, oxycodone HCI 40 mg has limitéfée on niacininduced disliking an
dysphoric effects. At the one hour observation afitekward, oxycodone may attenuate niacin-indutisiiking and dysphoric effects.

Sequence 2 demonstrated that the combination afomone HCI 40mg and niacin 240mg (4 times the ebgoleeecommended dose

Acurox ® Tablets 5/30mg) had the potential to be aversivenntompared to oxycodone HCI 40mg alone as showstdiistically significar
and clinically meaningful results in the dislikk#i scores (p = .033), the Treatment Enjoyment Assent scores (p = .005) and
LSD/dysphoria scores (p<.001). The dislike/likerecat 0.5 hours was designated the primary measwabuse liability and abuse deterre

potential for AcuroxX® Tablets 5/30mg and the Treatment Enjoyment Assasssteres and LSD/dysphoria scores at 0.5 hours aditiong

measures of the abuse deterrence potential of Actiablets. Subjective measures not achieving stalssignificance included the ME
scores measuring euphoria, the PCAG score measapathetic sedation and the Street Value Assess@eestionnaire score, in wh

subjects indicated they would pay more for oxycadbi€| alone compared to Acur8xTablets (p=.097).
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In this study of 30 subjects with a history of ddi@buse there were no serious adverse eventstedpohlterations by niac
compared to placebo on vital signs were minimal aotdclinically meaningful. The differences inalitsigns between oxycodone HCl/nie

and niacin alone at 4 times the expected recomnaetiolge of AcuroX Tablets were minimal and not clinically meaningful.

Study AP-ADF-105 or Study 105: Study 105 is entitled “A Phase Ill, Randomizeauble-blind, Placebaentrolled, Multicente

Repeat-dose Study of the Safety and Efficacy ofrée’ (oxycodone HCI and niacin) Tablets versus PlacelbdHe Treatment of Acut
Moderate to Severe Postoperative Pain Followingi@ettomy Surgery in Adult PatientsA total of 405 patients were randomized to or

three treatment arms of approximately 135 patipetsarm. One treatment arm received a dose ofAwurox ® Tablets 5/30 mg, a secc

treatment arm received a dose of two Acufokablets 7.5/30 mg, and the third treatment armivedea dose of two placebo tablets. S
drugs were administered every 6 hours for 48 hotite primary endpoint was the sum of the diffeeent pain intensity, measured o
100mm visual analog scale (VAS), compared to basabver a 48 hour period (“SPIR ). Prior to initiating Study 105, the study des

endpoints and statistical analysis plan were subthito and agreed by the FDA under a Special PobtAssessment and the study
conducted accordingly. Results of Study 105 deinatesthat compared to placebo, AcufdsTablets 5/30 mg and 7.5/30 mg both met
primary pain relief endpoint with p=.0001 and p<QQQrespectively. AcuroX Tablets were generally well tolerated with the mustvalen

reported adverse events in patients receiving Aclirbablets being nausea, vomiting, dizziness, prudtn flushing; side effects known to
consistent with opioid and niacin therapies. Madterse events were mild or moderate and there meeserious adverse events. Six pat

(2.2%) receiving AcuroX Tablets withdrew from the study due to treatmentergent adverse events compared with no withdsadad t
treatment-emergent adverse events for the placehmpg

Extraction Test - In consultation with experts in the field, a laltorg protocol for evaluating the relative 1V abukability of
Acurox® Tablets was designed. To provide unbiased, s@imally derived and documented study results, wgaged a laboratory contr.
research organization CRO ") specializing in pharmaceutical product analysisxtecute the protocol. The protocol was intendeahitoic
the uncontrolled "real world" environment, excemttprofessional chemists with access to a widgeari laboratory equipment and supg
would pose as potential IV drug abusers. As wdddhe case with a potential IV drug abuser, tlobsenists were allowed unrestricted ac
to information in developing oxycodone extractiorthods and techniques. The CRO was provided wilist af ingredients (active a
inactive) contained in each test product, allotigdto 80 hours total time to complete the evaluetiand allowed to use any methodol
and/or solvents desired to attempt to extract odgoe HCI from the tablets in a form suitable fdr.linjection. The test products we
OxyContin ® (oxycodone HCI) Tablets 1 x 40 mg (RuedPharma), Oxycodone HCI Tabs 8 x 5 mg (MallindkroPercocet ®gxycodon
HCI/APAP) Tablets 8 x 5/325 mg (Endo) and -Acurox@ycodone HCl/niacin) Tablets 8 x 5/30 mg (Acurd@he results of the Extracti
Test suggest that currently marketed oxycodonedd@taining tablets may be easily dissolved in wates little as 3 10 minutes for potenti
abuse via IV injection. By contrast, the Extractibest simulation suggests that preparing an inpdetiorm of Acurox®Tablets is difficult an
not practical due to the time required (almost Grepand the inability to obtain a sufficient oxgome yield that would provide any degre
euphoric effect to the prospective drug abuser.

Syringe Test- The Syringe Test was developed to simulate theiveldifficulty of abusing dissolved opioid tableasad capsules v
IV injection. The test was designed as a sciedtificreproducible method to quantitatively meastire difficulty of drawing into a syringe
solution made from tablets or capsules dissolvedairying types and volumes of solvent. The te#lizas seven (7) solvents available
potential abusers, the largest syringe barrel abkslwithout a prescription and the largest bore needlehe subcutaneous syringe
family. The needle and barrel are much larger tiyaically used by abusers and represent a wos# seenario (e.g. easier to prepare &
injection). The Syringe Test results suggest firaparing an injectable form of Acurox®ablets using a variety of available solvent
impractical due to high solvent volume requiremeamsl the viscous/gelatinous mixture formed whemsahisng Acurox® Tablets in lowe
volumes of the solvents tested. Even if a "Theécally Injectable” solution of crushed Acurox®ablets is achieved it would require furt
processing by the prospective abuser to separateodgne from other tablet ingredients (includingaim and numerous excipients) ar
reduction in total volume to provide a solutioreivolume and form that is practically suitable férinjection.
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Expectations for AcuroX’ Tablets Product Labeling

The FDA has publicly stated that explicit claimsadfuse deterrence will not be permitted in prodaioeling unless such claims
supported by double blind controlled clinical sesldemonstrating an actual reduction in producsaly patients or drug abusers. We be
the cost, time and practicality of designing anglementing clinical studies adequate to supportiekpabeling claims of abuse deterrence
prohibitive. The FDA has stated that scientifigadlerived data and information describing the ptgischaracteristics of a product candi
and/or the results of laboratory and clinical stsdsimulating product abuse may be acceptablectade in the product label. We intenc

include in the labels of our Aversio@ﬂechnology product candidates both a physical desmn of the abuse deterrent characteristics
information from our numerous laboratory and claicstudies designed to simulate the relative diffic of abusing our produ
candidates. The extent to which such informatidhbe included in the FDA approved product labéll e the subject of our discussions v
and agreement by the FDA as part of the NDA revigocess for each of our product candidates. Fyrthecause FDA closely reguls
promotional materials, even if FDA initially appeslabeling that includes a description of the elileterrent characteristics of the product
FDA will continue to review the acceptability ofggmotional labeling claims and product advertisiaghpaigns for our product candidates.

King Agreement

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticake&eh and Development, Inc. (“King”), a whotiyned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dewmeent and Commercialization Agreement (the “KiAgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and ¢defthe "King Territory") certain opioid analgegitoducts utilizing our proprieta
Aversion® Technology. The King Agreement initially provid&hg with an exclusive license in the King Terrigdior Acurox® (oxycodon:
HCl/niacin) Tablets and Acurac&foxycodone HCl/niacin/APAP) Tablets, utilizing Awion® Technology. In addition, the King Agreem
provides King with an option to license in the Kimgrritory all future opioid analgesic products dped utilizing Aversiorf Technology. A
December 31, 2008, King had exercised its optiolicemse two additional product candidates inclgdam undisclosed opioid analgesic ts
product and Vycavert™ (hydrocodone bitartrate/m&sPAP) Tablets, each of which utilize our Aversidiiechnology. We are responsi
for using commercially reasonable efforts to depeA@urox® Tablets through regulatory approval by the FDA.e King Agreement provid:
that we or King may develop additional opioid amslig product candidates utilizing our Aversfofechnology and, if King exercises its opt
to license such additional product candidates, wi#hbe subject to the milestone and royalty paptseand other terms of the King Agreement.

Pursuant to the King Agreement, we and King fornaegbint steering committee to oversee development @ommercializatic
strategies for Aversion® opioid analgesic proddittensed to King. We are responsible for all AcufoTablet development activities,
expenses for which we are reimbursed by King, thhoiDA approval of a 505(b)(2) NDA. After NDA apmal King will be responsible fi
commercializing AcuroX’ Tablets in the U.S. With respect to all other pid licensed by King pursuant to the AgreemenalinKing
Territories, King will be responsible, at its owxpense, for development, regulatory, and commézeitidbn activities. All products develog
pursuant to the King Agreement will be manufactusgding or a third party contract manufacturer enthe direction of King. Subject to 1
King Agreement, King will have final decision magiauthority with respect to all development and ow@artialization activities for all licens
products. We have reviewed our participation in Klireg-Acura joint steering committee in light of the ré@gments of Emerging Issues T
Force, Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements Mitltiple Deliverables” (“EITF 00-21"and concluded that this activity has no stand:
value therefore it does not meet the criteria tedresidered a separate unit of accounting.

At December 31, 2008, we had received aggregatm@atgs of $51.9 million from King, consisting of 80 million nonrefundabl
upfront cash payment, $10.9 million in reimbursesearch and development expenses relating to A@ufablets, $6.0 million in fees relati
to King's exercise of its option to license an undiscloggidid analgesic tablet product and Vycavert™ Tihland a $5.0 million milesto
fee relating to our successful achievement of thimary endpoints for our pivotal Phase Il clinicstlidy for Acurox® Tablets. The Kin
Agreement also provides for King's payment to usad$3.0 million fee upon King’ exercise of its option for each future opioid dua
candidate. In the event that King does not exeritgsoption for a future opioid product candid&&g may be required to reimburse us
certain of our expenses relating to such futureidgiroduct candidate. Further, we may receivéoup23 million in additional nomefundabl
milestone payments for each product candidate seerio King, including AcuroX Tablets, which achieve certain regulatory milesoim
specific countries in the King Territory. We cadsaareceive a onéme $50 million sales milestone payment upon trst httainment of $7¢
million in net sales of all of our licensed procaiecross all King Territories. In addition, fotesaoccurring following the one year anniver:
of the first commercial sale of the first liceng@duct sold, King will pay us a royalty at one6ofates ranging from 5% to 25% based ot
level of combined annual net sales for all prodlicesnsed by us to King across all King Territoriesth the highest applicable royalty r
applied to such combined annual sales. King's ltpygayment obligations expire on a product by prctdand country-byountry basis upc
the later of (i) the expiration of the last validtent claim covering such product in such counsny(ii) fifteen (15) years from the fii
commercial sale of such product in such countrg. Nnimum annual fees are payable by either partieuthe King Agreement. Referenc
made to Item 11 of Note A of the Notes to ConsaéidaFinancial Statements included as a part ofRkeigort, entitled Revenue Recognitic
and Deferred Program Fee Revenue” for a descrijtidhe revenue recognition method employed byGbmpany under the King Agreement.
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The King Agreement expires upon the expiration dhgks royalty payment and other payment obligationseunthe King
Agreement. King may terminate the King Agreemenits entirety or with respect to any product a ime after March 31, 2010, upon

provision of not less than 12 months’ prior writteatice, and in its entirety if regulatory approwdithe NDA for Acurox® Tablets is nc
received prior to March 31, 2010 and with respedc particular product with respect to a countrwhich regulatory approval for such proc
is withdrawn by a regulatory authority in such ctvsyun We may terminate the King Agreement with exto a product in the United State
the event such product is not commercially launcheding within 120 days after receipt of regulat@pproval of such product or in
entirety if King commences any interference or agfian proceeding challenging the validity or ermfability any of our patent rights licen:
to King under the King Agreement. Either party & right to terminate the King Agreement on adpiet by product and country-tgountry
basis if the other party is in material breach tefdbligations under the King Agreement relatingstach product and such country, an
terminate the Agreement in its entirety in the évba other party makes an assignment for the biesfefreditors, files a petition in bankrup
or otherwise seeks relief under applicable banksufatws, in each case subject to applicable curegs

In the event of termination, no payments are duepixthose royalties and milestones that have adgptor to termination under t
King Agreement and all licenses under the King A&gnent are terminated. For all Acura terminatiomd germination by King where we i
not in breach, the King Agreement provides forttia@sition of development and marketing of thered products from King to us, includ
the conveyance by King to us of the trademarksainetgulatory filings and approvals solely useddamnection with the commercializatior
such licensed products and, in certain cases, ifay' & supply of such licensed products for a traoisal period at King's cost plus a mark-up.

The foregoing description of the King Agreement taims forward-looking statements about AcufdSablets, and other prodi
candidates being developed pursuant to the Kingeédment. As with any pharmaceutical products umtirelopment or proposed to
developed, substantial risks and uncertainties exidevelopment, regulatory review and commerzalon process. There can be no assu
that any product developed, in whole or in partspant to the King Agreement will receive regulgtapproval or prove to be commercii
successful. Accordingly, investors in the Compahypuld recognize that there is no assurance tieaCtimpany will receive the milestc
payments or royalty revenues described in the Khggeement or even if such milestones are achietret, the related products will
successfully commercialized and that any royaltyeneies payable to us by King will materialize. Fanther discussion of other risks ¢
uncertainties associated with the Company, see 1t&nm this Report under the heading “Risks Factors

Patents and Patent Applications

In April 2007, the United States Patent and Tradén@ffice (“USPTQO"), issued to us a patent titledléthods and Compositions
Deterring Abuse of Opioid Containing Dosage Fornigie “920 Patent”).The 54 allowed claims in the 920 Patent encompastait
pharmaceutical compositions intended to deter tbetrmommon methods of prescription opioid analgesaduct misuse and abuse. Tt
patented pharmaceutical compositions include sipegjfioid analgesics such as oxycodone HCI andduattone bitartrate among others.
believe the 920 Patent encompasses all of ourapivdlgesic product candidates currently in devekg.

In January 2009, the USPTO issued to us a secatehtp@he “402 Patent”)The 18 allowed claims in the 402 Patent encon
certain combinations dappaandmuopioid receptor agonists intended to deter opioiagesic product misuse and abuse.
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In June 2008, the USPTO provided to us a NoticAllsiwance for 21 claims in a non-provisional patapplication titled Method:
and Compositions for Deterring Abuse of Opioid Gamihg Dosage Forms” (the “122 Applicationpon consideration of a poten
interference proceeding between the 122 Applicatiod a third party patent application containinglam similar to a claim in our 1.
Application, we filed with the USPTO a Request @ontinued Examination of the 122 Application andazdled from the 122 Application t
claim similar to the claim included in the thirdrppapatent application. In September 2008, the TUSRrovided to us a second Notice
Allowance for the remaining 20 claims in the 122phAgation. Although we do not believe there is asis for the USPTO to declare
interference, at this stage we can make no asssahat the USPTO will not declare an interferemdating to any of the 20 claims contai
in the second Notice of Allowance for our 122 Appglion.

In addition to our two issued U.S. patents andN¢ice of Allowance provided in September 2008, al®o have five U.S. non-
provisional pending patent applications and mugtipiternational patent applications filed relattogcompositions containing abuseable at
pharmaceutical ingredients. Except for those sgiunferred in the King Agreement, we have retaiakkdntellectual property rights to ¢
Aversion® Technology and related product candidates.

Reference is made to Item 1A, “Risk Factofsf a discussion, among other things, of pendingmaapplications owned by th
parties including claims that may encompass ouréxfi Tablets and other product candidates. If suchl tharty patent applications resul
valid and enforceable issued patents containinignelan their current form, we or our licensees dobé required to obtain a license to ¢
patents, should one be available, or alternatitelglter our product candidates to avoid infrimgguch third-party patents.

Competition in the Opioid Product Market

We compete to varying degrees with numerous comepaim the pharmaceutical research, development,ufactaring an
commercialization fields. Many of our competitorgvk substantially greater financial and other reseriand are able to expend more fi
and effort than us in research and developmerttef tompetitive technologies and products. Althoadarger company with greater resou
than us will not necessarily have a higher liketilaf receiving regulatory approval for a particuteoduct or technology as compared
smaller competitor, the company with a larger reseand development expenditure will be in a pogito support more development proj
simultaneously, thereby potentially improving tlilelihood of obtaining regulatory approval of a aoercially viable product or technolc
than its smaller rivals.

We believe potential competitors may be developpipid abuse deterrent technologies and produatsh otential competito
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapsutf South San Francisco, CA, (in collaboratiothvding Pharmaceuticals Inc.), Pur
Pharma of Stamford, CT, Endo Pharmaceuticals ofl@h&ord, PA, Elite Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of Noatey NJ, Neuromed Pharmaceutic
of Vancouver, BC and Collegium Pharmaceuticals,, lotCumberland, Rl. These companies appear todesing their development effa
on ER Opioid Products while our lead product caatlid Acurox® Tablets, and the majority of our other Aversi®diechnology opioi
analgesic product candidates under developmentRa@pioid Products.

Government Regulation

All pharmaceutical firms, including us, are subjecextensive regulation by the federal governmeritcipally by the FDA under tl
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the “FD&C Agctnd, to a lesser extent, by state and local goventsn Before our products may
marketed in the U.S., they must be approved by for commercial distribution. Additionally, weere subject to extensive regulation by
DEA under the Controlled Substances Act for redeadevelopment and manufacturing of controlled tarises. We are also subjec
regulation under federal, state and local lawsuiing requirements regarding occupational safédporatory practices, environmer
protection and hazardous substance control, andomaybject to other present and future localestatieral and foreign regulations, incluc
possible future regulations of the pharmaceuticdustry. We cannot predict the extent to which way/rhe affected by legislative and of
regulatory developments concerning our productsthedealthcare industry in general.

However, because of recent developments in thel&gie and regulatory framework within which drpgpducts are reviewed &
approved by FDA, approval of drug products by FDAymbe subject to continuing obligations intendedassure safe use of
products. Specifically, effective March 25, 2008der Title 1X of Subtitle A of the Food and Drugiministration Amendments Act of 20
(“FDAAA™), FDA may require a Risk Evaluation and Njation Strategy (“‘REMS”Jo manage known or potential serious risks assextiadtt
drugs or biological products. If FDA finds that £RS is necessary to ensure that the benefits opmaucts outweigh the risks associ
with the products, FDA will require a REMS and, sequently, that the Company take additional measwrensure safe use of the proc
Components of a REMS may include, but are not éithib a Medication Guide, a marketing and salesnwanication plan, elements to as:
safe product use, a REMS implementation systemadimdetable for FDA’s assessment of the effectgsnof the REMS.
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The FD&C Act, the Controlled Substances Act andeotfederal statutes and regulations govern théntgsmanufacture, quali
control, export and import, labeling, storage, reckeeping, approval, pricing, advertising, prorantisale and distribution of pharmaceu
products. Noncompliance with applicable requireradrdth before and after approval, can subject wsthord party manufacturers and ot
collaborative partners to administrative and jualisianctions, such as, among other things, waietters, fines and other monetary payme
recall or seizure of products, criminal proceedjrgyspension or withdrawal of regulatory approviatgerruption or cessation of clinical trie
total or partial suspension of production or digition, injunctions, limitations on or the limitati of claims we can make for our products,
refusal of the government to enter into supply @ts for distribution directly by governmental agees, or delay in approving or refusa
approve new drug applications. The FDA also hasthkority to revoke or withhold approvals of nemg applications.

The Federal Controlled Substances Act imposes wariegistration, recordeeping and reporting requirements, procuremen
manufacturing quotas, labeling and packaging reguénts, security controls and a restriction ongigion refills on certain pharmaceuti
products. Establishments may not handle contraled) substances until they have been inspectedemistered by the DEA. Facilities m
be equipped to meet DEA security requirements. iAcipal factor in determining the particular reauirents, if any, applicable to a produt
its actual or potential abuse profile. A pharmaiwaliproduct may be “scheduled” as a C-I, C-II,IC-C-1V or C-V controlled substance, w
C-I substances considered to present the highastofi substance abuse andvGsubstances the lowest. Because of the potertiahlfuse
opioid analgesic active pharmaceutical ingrediemd finished drug products, including all of ourefsion® Technology product candidat

are regulated, or scheduled, under the Controlidgbtances Act. Because it contains oxycodone wW€believe that Acurof Tablets will b
a DEA C-Il product.

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," b@nmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generallyogeized as safe and effect
for its intended use. Our products are new drugshSapproval must be based on adequate and weliotled laboratory and clinic
investigations. In addition to providing requireafety and effectiveness data for FDA approval,ugdnanufacturer's practices and procec
must comply with current Good Manufacturing Praesid“cGMPs”), which apply to the manufacturing, receiving, hotgdiand shipping
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expgme, money and effort in all applicable areastietpto quality assurance and regula
compliance, including production and quality cohtmcomply with cGMPs. Failure to so comply rigkslays in approval of drug products
possible FDA enforcement actions, such as an itijpmcagainst shipment of products, the seizure afi-complying products, crimin
prosecution and/or any of the other possible canseces described above. We are subject to peiimgpection by the FDA and DEA.

The FDA Drug Approval Process

The process of drug development is complex andthgngrhe activities undertaken before a new phasutical product may |
marketed in the U.S. generally include, but arelimoted to, preclinical studies; submission to tHeA of an IND, which must become act
before human clinical trials commence; adequatewagittcontrolled human clinical trials to establish tlefesy and efficacy of the produ
submission to the FDA of an NDA; acceptance fandjlof the NDA by FDA,; satisfactory completion af &DA preapproval inspection of tl
clinical trial sites and manufacturing facility facilities at which the both the active ingredieatsl finished drug product are produced to a
compliance with cGMPs; and FDA review and apprafdhe NDA prior to any commercial sale and disitibn of the product in the U.S.

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluatidrpmduct chemistry and formulation, and in somsesa animal studies and ot
studies to preliminarily assess the potential yafetd efficacy of the product candidate. The rasolt preclinical studies together w
manufacturing information, and analytical data #wen submitted to the FDA as a part of an IND. IND must become effective prior to 1
commencement of human clinical trials. The IND bmes effective 30 days following its receipt by fRBA unless the FDA objects to,
otherwise raises concerns or questions and imposéisical hold. In the event that FDA objectstih@ IND and imposes a clinical hold,
IND sponsor must address any outstanding FDA caiscer questions to the satisfaction of the FDA teefdinical trials can proceed. Th
can be no assurance that submission of an INDresiult in FDA authorization to commence clinicabls. Once an IND is in effect, t
protocol for each clinical trial to be conductedlanthe IND must be submitted to the FDA, which maynay not allow the trial to proceed.
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Human clinical trials are typically conducted ime phases that often overlap:

Phase I: This phase is typically the first involving humargicipants, and involves the smallest number oo participan
(typically, 2050). The investigational drug is initially introced into healthy human subjects or patients artddder safety, dosa
tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution ardretion. In addition, it is sometimes possildegain a preliminary indication
efficacy.

Phase 1I: Once the preliminary safety and tolerability of thetlg in humans is confirmed during phase |, phbse/olves studies in
somewhat larger group of study subjects. Unlikagehl studies, which typically involve healthy sdi§, participants in phase
studies maybe affected by the disease or condibiowhich the product candidate is being developetase Il studies are intende
identify possible adverse effects and safety rigkgvaluate the efficacy of the product for sged#irgeted diseases, and to deter
appropriate dosage and tolerance.

Phase llI: Phase Il trials typically involve a large numbeafspatients affected by the disease or conditianwibich the produ:
candidate is being developed.. Phase lll clinicald are undertaken to evaluate clinical efficanyd safety under conditic
resembling those for which the product will be usedctual clinical practice after FDA approval the NDA. Phase Il trials a
typically the most costly and time-consuming of dfiaical phases.

Phase IV: Phase IV trials may be required by FDA after thprapal of the NDA for the product, as a conditidrtlee approval, ¢
may be undertaken voluntarily by the sponsor ofttied. The purpose of phase IV trials is to cong to evaluate the safety i
efficacy of the drug on a longrm basis and in a much larger and more diverSerigoopulation than was included in the prior s
of clinical investigation.

After clinical trials have been completed, the sfnmust submit an NDA to the FDA including theules of the preclinical ar
clinical testing, together with, among other thindstailed information on the chemistry, manufacigy quality controls, and proposed proc
labeling. There are two types of NDAs; a 505(b}hd a 505(b)(2). A 505(b)(1) NDA is also known a%dl NDA" and is described t
section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C Act as an applicatmmtaining full reports of investigations of sgfeind effectiveness, in addition to ot
information. The data in a full NDA is either ownby the applicant or are data for which the applideas obtained a right of reference. A 505
(b)(2) application is one described under secti®f(b)(2) of the FD&C Act as an application for whimformation, or one or more of 1
investigations relied upon by the applicant for rappl "were not conducted by or for the applicamd or which the applicant has not obtai
a right of reference or use from the person byoorwihom the investigations were conducted”. Thisvigion permits the FDA to rely f
approval of an NDA on data not developed by thdiegpt, such as published literature or the FDAlglihg of safety and effectiveness «
previously approved drug. 505(b)(2) applications submitted under section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C #Awctl are therefore subject to the s
statutory provisions that govern 505(b)(1) applaad that require among other things, "full repbdssafety and effectiveness. The FDA

provided written guidance to us stating that Acutd@ablets is a suitable product candidate for sukiotisas a 505(b)(2) NDA.

Each NDA requires a user fee, pursuant to the remquénts of the Prescription Drug User Fee Act (“FHAU), as amended. Accordi
to FDA'’s fee schedule, effective on October 1, 2008,Her2009 fiscal year, the user fee for an applicafé® requiring clinical data (such
an NDA) is $1,247,200. The FDA adjusts PDUFA ugsess on an annual basis. PDUFA also imposes arshpmneduct and facility fees. T
annual product fee for prescription drugs and lgme for the 2009 fiscal year is $71,250 and theuah facility fee for facilities used
manufacture prescription drugs and biologics far 8009 fiscal year is $425,600. A written request be submitted for a waiver of
application fee for the first human drug applicatitnat is filed by a small business, but no waivlersproduct or establishment fees
available. Where we are subject to these fees,ahegignificant expenditures that may be incuimeithe future and must be paid at the tim
submission of each application to FDA. The Kingrégment provides that King will reimburse us foe thDA application fee for Acur@
Tablets.
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After an NDA is submitted by an applicant, andtifsi accepted for filing by the FDA, the FDA wilien review the NDA and, if a
when it determines that the data submitted arewsatedo show that the product is safe and effedtvéts intended use, the FDA will apprc
the product for commercial distribution in the UT$iere can be no assurance that any of our pradunctidates will receive FDA approval
that even if approved, they will be approved widbdling that includes descriptions of its abusesrdent features. Moreover, even if
product candidates are approved with labeling ithetides descriptions of the abuse deterrent cheniatics of our products, advertising
promotion for the products will be limited to thgesific claims and descriptions in the FDA appropeaduct labeling.

The FDA requires drug manufacturers to establighraaintain quality control procedures for manufaaty, processing and holdi
drugs and investigational products, and productstrha manufactured in accordance with defined fipations. Before approving an NC
the FDA usually will inspect the facility(ies) atweh the active pharmaceutical ingredients andgfied drug product is manufactured, and
not approve the product unless it finds that cGMihgliance at those facility(ies) are satisfactolfythe FDA determines the NDA is r
acceptable, the FDA may outline the deficiencieshim NDA and often will request additional inforneet, thus delaying the approval c
product. Notwithstanding the submission of anyuested additional testing or information, the FDnuately may decide that the applicat
does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Afeemproduct is approved, changes to the approveduptoduch as adding new indicatic
manufacturing changes, or changes in or additioribe approved labeling for the product, may regsitbmission of a new NDA or, in sa
instances, an NDA supplement, for further FDA reviand approval. Postpproval marketing of products in larger or differegatien
populations than those that were studied duringeldgvnent can lead to new findings about the safetefficacy of the products. Ti
information can lead to a product sponsoequesting approval for and/or the FDA requighgnges in the labeling of the product or evel
withdrawal of the product from the market.

The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act, or BP@&came law in 2002 and was subsequently reaudtbdnd amended
FDAAA. The reauthorization of BPCA provides an didehal six months of patent protection to NDA apphts that conduct accepts
pediatric studies of new and currentharketed drug products for which pediatric inforimatwould be beneficial, as identified by FDA i
Pediatric Written Request. The Pediatric Researmghit{z Act (“PREA”"), became law in 2003, and was also subsequently hvedzed an
amended by FDAAA. The reauthorization of PREA iieggithat most applications for drugs and biologitdude a pediatric assessn
(unless waived or deferred) to ensure the drugkbéologics' safety and effectiveness in childr&uch pediatric assessment must contain
gathered using appropriate formulations for eaoh gup for which the assessment is required, dhatadequate to assess the safet
effectiveness of the drug or the biological prodiectthe claimed indications in all relevant ped@subpopulations, and to support dosing
administration for each pediatric subpopulationvidrich the drug or the biological product is safel @ffective. The pediatric assessment:
only be deferred provided there is a timeline fog tompletion of such studies. FDA may waive {phHytor fully) the pediatric assessm
requirement for several reasons, including if thpli@ant can demonstrate that reasonable attemgsotiuce a pediatric formulation neces
for that age group have failed. We have requesteeferral of the pediatric assessment in our Ac®rdablets NDA submission.

The terms of approval of any Acurox®blet NDA, including the indication and produdbéding (and, consequently advertising
promotion) may be more restrictive than what isgbaun the NDA or what is desired by us. AdditibpaFDA may condition approval
abuse deterrence statements and claims for Acurbat®lets on phase IV clinical studies for continestessment of such statement
claims. The Acurox@lablet testing and FDA approval process requiréstsumtial time, effort, and financial resources] are cannot be st
that any approval will be granted on a timely bai§iat all.

Further, as a condition of approval of any NDA, FD#ay require a REMS to ensure the safe use andtonioig of any of ot
products. If required, a REMS may include, but maybe limited to, use of an FD&pproved Medication Guide and/or Patient Packagert
a communication plan for patients or healthcarevigers concerning the drug, a description of elethémassure safe use of the product, ¢
timetable for FDA'’s assessment of the effectiverddgthe REMS.

In addition, we, our suppliers and our licensees r@quired to comply with extensive FDA requirensebbth before and afi
approval. For example, we or our licensees areired, to report certain adverse reactions and mtialu problems, if any, to the FDA, anc
comply with certain requirements concerning adsaryj and promotion for our products, which, as assed above, may significantly affect
extent to which we can include statements or claieisrencing our abuse deterrent technology in ybdabeling and advertising. Al
quality control and manufacturing procedures mostiaue to conform to cGMP after approval to avibid product being rendered misbrar
and/or adulterated under the FD&C Act as a redutbanufacturing problems. In addition, discovefyany material safety issues may resu
changes to product labeling or restrictions onaalpct manufacturer, potentially including removatte product from the market.
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Whether or not FDA NDA approval in the U.S. hasrbeétained, approvals from comparable governmeegallatory authorities
foreign countries must be obtained prior to the w@ncement of commercial activities in those coestriThe approval procedure varie
complexity from country to country, and the timgué&ed may be longer or shorter than that requioedDA approval.

Facilities for Research, Development and Manufactung

We conduct research, development, laboratory, nsatwfing and related activities for product cantidautilizing Aversion®
Technology at our Culver, Indiana facility. The,@80 square foot facility is registered with the M perform research, development
manufacture of certain DEA Scheduled active phaeutical ingredients and finished dosage form présluéVe obtain quotas for supply
DEA-scheduled active pharmaceutical ingredients froen MtA and develop finished drug product candidaisage forms in our Culv
laboratories. We manufacture clinical trial suppliof drug products in our Culver facility in volemsufficient to meet FDA standards
NDAs. King is responsible for commercial manufaetaf the product candidates licensed under thg Kigreement. We expect that all fut
product candidates developed by us will be comralyamanufactured by our licensees or other quedithird party contract manufacturers.

Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment; the reseaeblopment and manufacture of innovative abusermete orally administere
pharmaceutical product candidates.

Legal Proceedings
We are not involved in any material legal procegdin
Environmental Compliance

We are subject to regulation under federal, statklacal environmental laws and believe we are atemal compliance with su
laws. We incur the usual waste disposal cost agtativith a pharmaceutical research, developmehtremufacturing operation.

Raw Materials

To purchase certain active ingredients requiredofor development and manufacture of product camesdatilizing our Aversiorf
Technology, we are required to file for and obtaupply quotas from the DEA. No assurance can bengthat we will be successful
obtaining adequate DEA quotas in a timely mann&enEassuming adequate and timely DEA quotas, tbenebe no assurances that
approved manufacturers of raw materials for oudpod candidates will supply us with our requirensefatr the active or inactive ingredie
required for the development and manufacture ofppoduct candidates.

Subsidiaries

Our Culver, Indiana research, development, and faaturing operations are conducted by Acura Phagutézal Technologies, In
an Indiana corporation and our wholly-owned sulasidi
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our future operating results may vary substantifithyn anticipated results due to a number of fagtarany of which are beyond «
control. The following discussion highlights sonfeleese factors and the possible impact of thestfa on future results of operations. If
of the following factors actually occur, our busisefinancial condition or results of operationsilddbe materially harmed. In that case,
value of our common stock could decline substdgtial

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

We have a history of operating losses and may radtiave profitability sufficient to generate a poisi return on shareholders’
investment.

We had net revenues of $44.4 million and net incom®14.5 million for the year ended December 310 We had a net loss of $
million for the year ended December 31, 2007 ant logses of $6.0 million and $12.1 million for tlyears ended 2006 and 2C
respectively. Our consolidated financial stateradnt the years ended 2006 and 2005 were prepares going concern basis. Our ful
profitability will depend on several factors, inding:

« our receipt of milestone payments and royaltieatirg to products developed and commercialized unde license agreeme
with King (as more fully described under the cap*ltem 1. Busines— King Agreemer”); and

* the successful commercialization by King and othetare licensees (if any) of products utilizing odwversion ® Technolog'
without infringing the patents and other intelledtproperty rights of third partie

We cannot assure you that we will ever have a godpproved for commercialization by the FDA ortthee or our licensees will bril
any product to market.

We recognized net revenues of $44.4 million in year ended December 31, 2008 and $6.4 million éngharter ended December
2007 from payments received under the King AgregmElowever, we have not yet generated any revefroas Aversion® Technolog
product sales. Even if we succeed in commercigizine or more of our Aversion®echnology product candidates, we expect to coe
using cash reserves for the foreseeable future.e@penses may increase in the foreseeable futuie rasult of continued research
development of additional product candidates, na#iiig and expanding the scope of our intellegowaperty, and hiring of additional resee
and development staff.

We will need to generate royalty revenues from pobdsales to achieve and maintain profitabilitywié cannot successfully devel
obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize moduct candidates licensed to King under thegkigreement or other product candid
under similar license agreements anticipated todgmtiated and executed with other pharmaceutaalpanies, of which no assurance ca
given, we will not be able to generate such royetenues or achieve future profitability. Our diaé to achieve or maintain profitability wo
have a material adverse impact on the market pficeir common stock.

We must rely on current cash reserves, technoldggnsing fees and third party financing to fund opions.

Pending the receipt of milestone payments and tiegalif any, under the King Agreement or underikimicense agreements anticipe
to be negotiated and executed with other pharmmed¢wtompanies, of which no assurance can be gmenmust rely on our current c:
reserves and thirgarty financing to fund operations and product dtgwment activities. No assurance can be givendbaent cash resen
will be sufficient to fund the continued operaticarsd development of our product candidates unthdime as we generate additional reve
from the King Agreement or similar license agreetseanticipated to be negotiated and executed wlid other pharmaceutit
companies. Moreover, no assurance can be giveémwthavill be successful in raising additional fimamg or, if funding is obtained, that st

funding will be sufficient to fund operations unpiltoduct candidates utilizing our Aversi%ﬁ'echnology may be commercialized.

Our product candidates are unproven and may notadpproved by the FDA.

We are committing a majority of our resources ® dievelopment of AcuroX Tablets and other product candidates utilizing Awersior
® Technology. In December 2008 we submitted a 5@8YbNDA for Acurox ® Tablets to the FDA including a request for pric
review. There can be no assurance that the FDAutimately approve AcuroX Tablets or any other product candidate utilizingefsior

Technology for commercial distribution. Furthdrete can be no assurance that other product cdesdidieveloped using Aversioh
Technology will achieve the targeted end pointthmrequired clinical studies or perform as intehiteother preclinical and clinical studies

lead to a NDA submission. Our failure to succesgfdevelop and achieve final FDA approval of a pradcandidate utilizing Aversiofi

Technology, in particular with respect to our lgadduct candidate, AcuroX Tablets will have a material adverse effect on fimancia
condition.
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Even if the FDA Approves AcuroX Tablets for commercial distribution, if Acurof Tablets are not approved with labeling describing
its abuse deterrent features, we will be unabladter to the abuse deterrent characteristics ofulax ®to promote the product.

Our strategy for Acuro® Tablets depends upon our ability to distinguish iau® from other immediate release oxycodone
containing products based primarily on abuse deé¢rfieatures. As with all of our product candidatélizing Aversion® Technology, even
Acurox ® Tablets are approved by the FDA, our failure toiead approval of product labeling that sufficiendijfferentiates Acuro® Tablet:
from other immediate release oxycodone HCI comairtablets may adversely affect our business asdlteeof operations. The FDA t
publicly stated that explicit claims of abuse degace will not be permitted unless such claimssagported by double blind controlled clini
studies demonstrating an actual reduction in prbdbase by patients or drug abusers. Because #igtitne and practicality of designing ¢
implementing clinical studies adequate to suppaglieit claims of abuse deterrence are prohibitives are not pursuing and have
conducted the clinical trials necessary to incladeexplicit product label claim of abuse deterreniestead, we intend to rely on certain clin
and laboratory studies to support the inclusiomfifrmation about the abuse deterrent charactesisti Acurox® Tablets to support promoti
by our licensee(s) of the product. We intend wude in the product labels of our product candiddioth a physical description of the al
deterrent characteristics and information from mutiple laboratory and clinical studies designedimulate the relative difficulty of abusi
our product candidates. However, the extent to lwbkiech information will be included in the FDA apped product label will be the subjec
our discussions with, and agreement by, the FDpaasof the NDA review process for each of our prdcandidates. The outcome of tt
discussions with the FDA will determine whether widl be able to market our product candidates Wételing that sufficiently differentiat
them from other products that have comparable geeréc profiles. If the FDA does not approve theufox ® Tablet labeling with suc
information, we will not be able to promote AcurdXablets based on its abuse deterrent features agchat be able to differentiate Acur®x
from other oxycodone HCI containing immediate rearoducts or be able to charge a premium abavpribe of such other products wt
could adversely affect our business and resultpefations.

Because FDA closely regulates promotional matedats other promotional activities, even if FDA ialty approves product labeli
that includes a description of the abuse deteneatacteristics of the product, FDA may object tio imarketing claims and product advertic
campaigns.

Relying on third party contract research organizatis ("CROs") may result in delays in our prehinical, clinical or laboratory testinc
If pre-clinical, clinical or laboratory testing for our poduct candidates are unsuccessful or delayed, wk & unable to meet ol
anticipated development and commercialization tiinek.

To obtain FDA approval to commercially sell andtdisite in the U.S. any of our product candidates,or our licensees must sub
to the FDA an NDA demonstrating, among other thjrigat the product candidate is safe and effedtivéts intended use. This demonstra
requires significant testing. As we do not posskesesources or employ all the personnel necessargnduct such testing, we rely on CI
for the majority of this testing with our produ@raidates. As a result, we have less control ouedevelopment program than if we perfort
the testing entirely on our own. Third parties mmt perform their responsibilities on our anticgrhtschedule. Delays in our developn
programs could significantly increase our prodwstaelopment costs and delay product commercializatio

The commencement of clinical trials with our prodoandidates may be delayed for several reasotisding but not limited to dela
in demonstrating sufficient preinical safety required to obtain regulatory apmioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreetsieor
acceptable terms with prospective licensees, matwfag and quality assurance release of a suffigepply of a product candidate for us
our clinical trials and/or obtaining institutionaview board approval to conduct a clinical trinhgrospective clinical site. Once a clinicall
has begun, it may be delayed, suspended or temitmt us or regulatory authorities due to sevexetiors, including ongoing discussions \
regulatory authorities regarding the scope or desifj our clinical trials, failure to conduct clik trials in accordance with regulat
requirements, lower than anticipated recruitmentedention rate of patients in clinical trials, piestion of the clinical trial operations or t
sites by regulatory authorities, the impositioraotlinical hold by FDA, lack of adequate fundingcntinue clinical trials, and/or negative
unanticipated results of clinical trials.
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Clinical trials required by the FDA for commercegproval may not demonstrate safety or efficacgwfproduct candidates. Succ
in pre<linical testing and early clinical trials does rastsure that later clinical trials will be successResults of later clinical trials may 1
replicate the results of prior clinical trials apce<linical testing. Even if the results of our piviopdase 11l clinical trials are positive, we ¢
our licensees may have to commit substantial timeadditional resources to conduct further gieical and clinical studies before we or
licensees can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory apairfor our product candidates.

Clinical trials are expensive and at times diffictd design and implement, in part because theysabgect to rigorous regulatc
requirements. Further, if participating subjectpatients in clinical studies suffer druglated adverse reactions during the course of sialh
or if we, our licensees or the FDA believes thatipigating patients are being exposed to unactdptaealth risks, we or our licensees |
suspend the clinical trials. Failure can occur ay atage of the trials, and we or our licenseesldc@ncounter problems causing
abandonment of clinical trials or the need to candalditional clinical studies, relating to a protloandidate.

Even if our clinical trials and laboratory testiage completed as planned, their results may ngiatigommercially viable prodi
label claims. The clinical trial process may faildemonstrate that our product candidates areassafeeffective for their intended use. S
failure may cause us or our licensees to abangwoduct candidate and may delay the developmeothefr product candidates.

We or our licensees may not obtain required FDA apyal; the FDA approval process is time-consumingdexpensive.

The development, testing, manufacturing, markegind sale of pharmaceutical products are subjesttensive federal, state and Ic
regulation in the United States and other count@adisfaction of all regulatory requirements tyllig takes years, is dependent upon the
complexity and novelty of the product candidate] amquires the expenditure of substantial resouimesesearch, development and tes
Substantially all of our operations are subjeatdampliance with FDA regulations. Failure to adh&repplicable FDA regulations by us or
licensees would have a material adverse effect umoperations and financial condition. In addition,the event we are successfu
developing product candidates for distribution aatk in other countries, we would become subjegalation in such countries. Such fore
regulations and product approval requirements gpeaed to be time consuming and expensive.

We or our licensees may encounter delays or rejestiluring any stage of the regulatory review gmut@val process based upon
failure of clinical or laboratory data to demonstra&ompliance with, or upon the failure of the prodcandidates to meet, the FRA’
requirements for safety, efficacy and quality; éimase requirements may become more stringent dakaoges in regulatory agency polic
the adoption of new regulations. After submissibarmNDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA, the FDA may refusefite the application, deny approval
the application, require additional testing or datal/or require postiarketing testing and surveillance to monitor théety or efficacy of
product. The FDA commonly takes more than a yeayramt final approval for an NDA, or 505(b)(2) NDRurther, the terms of approval
any NDA, including the product labeling, may be moestrictive than we or our licensees desire anddcaffect the marketability of produ

utilizing our Aversion® Technology.

Even if we comply with all the FDA regulatory recginents, we or our licensees may never obtain aggyl approval for any of o
product candidates. If we or our licensees failotatain regulatory approval for any of our produendidates, we will have few
commercialized products and correspondingly lowerenues. Even if regulatory approval of our proslustreceived, such approval n
involve limitations on the indicated uses or proimadl claims we or our licensees may make for aodpcts, or otherwise not permit label
that sufficiently differentiates our product caratiels from competitive products with comparableapeutic profiles but without abuse deter
features. Such events would have a material ae\affsct on our operations and financial condition.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or suspemglovals of previously approved products for eaus debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the drugpproval process, to request recalls of allegediative products, to seize allegedly violai
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufantuplants allegedly not operating in conformitythvcurrent Good Manufacturing Practi
(“cGMP”) and to stop shipments of allegedly violative pradudn the event the FDA takes any such actioatired to our products (if any ¢
approved by FDA), such actions would have a mdtadeaerse effect on our operations and financiabdton.

22




We must maintain FDA approval to manufacture clirat supplies of our product candidates at our fatyli failure to maintair
compliance with FDA requirements may prevent or dglthe manufacture of our product candidates andst® of manufacture may t
higher than expected.

We have installed the equipment necessary to matuéclinical trial supplies of our Aversié?'lTechnology product candidates
tablet formulations at our Culver, Indiana facilifyo be used in clinical trials, all of our prodweindidates must be manufactured in confor
with cGMP regulations. All such product candidateast be manufactured, packaged, and labeled amedsio accordance with cGMI
Modifications, enhancements or changes in manufacfisites of marketed products are, in many cirstamces, subject to FDA appro'
which may be subject to a lengthy application psscar which we may be unable to obtain. Our Cull&tiana facility, and those of any third-
party manufacturers that we or our licensees may are periodically subject to inspection by theAF&hd other governmental agencies,
operations at these facilities could be interruptetialted if the FDA deems such inspections asatisfactory. Failure to comply with FDA
other governmental regulations can result in finesanticipated compliance expenditures, recall gizwse of products, total or par
suspension of production or distribution, suspemsibFDA review of our product candidates, termimatof ongoing research, disqualificat
of data for submission to regulatory authoritiesfoecement actions, injunctions and criminal pregien. We do not have the faciliti
equipment or personnel to manufacture commerciahtiies of our product candidates and thereforestnely on our licensees or ot
qualified third party companies with appropriateiliies and equipment to contract manufacture camuial quantities of products utilizing ¢

Aversion® Technology. These licensees are also subject MRce2gulations.

We develop our products, and manufacture clinicalpplies, at a single location. Any disruption &ti$ facility could adversely affe
our business and results of operations.

We rely on our Culver, Indiana facility for develog our product candidates and the manufacturdimital supplies of our produ
candidates. If the Culver, Indiana facility wer@mhged or destroyed, or otherwise subject to dismypit would require substantial ledithe
to repair or replace. If our Culver facility wea#fected by a disaster, we would be forced to egitirely on CROs while repairs were be
made. Although we believe we possess adequateaimse for damage to our property and for the gigsa of our business from casualt
such insurance may not be sufficient to cover aibur potential losses and may not continue to \malable to us on acceptable terms, ¢
all. Moreover, any disruptions or delays at outv€y Indiana facility could impair our ability tdevelop our product candidates utilizing

Aversion® Technology, which could adversely affect our businand results of operations.

Our operations are subject to environmental, healihd safety, and other laws and regulations, withiash compliance is costly and
which exposes us to penalties for non-compliance.

Our business, properties and product candidatesudnject to federal, state and local laws and egguis relating to the protection
the environment, natural resources and worker iheeidtl safety and the use, management, storageigpabdl of hazardous substances, v
and other regulated materials. Because we owropedate real property, various environmental lalge enay impose liability on us for t
costs of cleaning up and responding to hazardobstauces that may have been released on our propeetuding releases unknown
us. These environmental laws and regulations edadd require us to pay for environmental remediathind response costs at thixaity
locations where we dispose of or recycle hazardobstances. The costs of complying with theseouarenvironmental requirements, as
now exist or may be altered in the future, couldeaigely affect our financial condition and reswat®perations.

If our licensees do not satisfy their obligationsie will be unable to develop our licensed produahdidates.

On October 30, 2007, we entered into an Agreemétht ing (as more fully described under the captititem 1. Business King
Agreement”). At December 31, 2008, we had rece@ggregate payments of $51.fnillion from King, consisting of a $30.0 million ne
refundable upfront cash paymer10.9 million in reimbursed research and development expensmeeto our licensed product candide
$6.0 million in option exercise fees relating tonkis exercise of its option to license an undisclogpibid analgesic tablet product ¢
Vycavert™ Tablets, and a $5.0 million milestone fekating to our successful achievement of the arinend points for our pivotal Phase

clinical study for Acurox® Tablets. Our future revenue, if any, will be dedvfrom milestone payments and royalties under King
Agreement and under similar license agreementsipated to be potentially negotiated and executitd @her pharmaceutical companies.
assurance can be given that we will receive theestohe and royalty payments provided for in thegkikgreement, or that we will
successful in entering into similar agreements vather pharmaceutical companies to develop and awialize products utilizing o

Aversion® Technology.
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As part of such license agreements, we will notehday-today control over the activities of our licenseethwespect to any prodt
candidate. If a licensee fails to fulfill its ogditions under an agreement with us, we may be artaldssume the development of the prc
candidate covered by that agreement or to enteraltérnative arrangements with another thuedity. In addition, we may encounter delay
the commercialization of the product candidate thdhe subject of a license agreement. Accordingly ability to receive any revenue fr
the product candidates covered by such agreemetitsendependent on the efforts of our licensee. &¥eld be involved in disputes witt
licensee, which could lead to delays in or termarabf, our development and commercialization paogs and result in time consuming
expensive litigation or arbitration. In additiomyasuch dispute could diminish our licenseebmmitment to us and reduce the resources
devote to developing and commercializing our prasiué any licensee terminates or breaches itsesmeat, or otherwise fails to complete
obligations in a timely manner, our chances of sasfully developing or commercializing our prodcahdidates would be materially adver:
effected. Additionally, due to the nature of therkes for our product candidates, it may be necgsfarus to license all or a significant port
of our product candidates to a single company themiminating our opportunity to commercialize ethproduct candidates with otl
licensees.

If we fail to maintain our license agreement withikg, we may have to reduce or delay our product datate development.

Our plan for developing, manufacturing and comnagizing Acurox® Tablets and other opioid analgesic product candgatilizing
our Aversion® Technology currently requires us to successfullyntaén our license agreement with King to advangeprograms and provi
funding to support our expenditures on AcufdTablets and other opioid analgesic product candgldf we are not able to maintain

existing relationship with King, we may have to ifithe size or scope of, or delay or abandon thesidgment of, AcuroX Tablets and oth
opioid analgesic product candidates or undertakefand development of these product candidatesetues. If we were required to fu

development and commercialization efforts with exgtfo Acurox® Tablets and other opioid analgesic product candglah our own, we m
need to obtain additional financing, which may betavailable on acceptable terms, or at all.

If King is not successful in commercializing Acurof Tablets and other licensed product candidates irmponating the Aversion®
Technology our revenues and our business will suffe

Our ability to commercialize AcuroX Tablets and other product candidates licensed uheeKing Agreement and generate roya
from sales of such products will depend on K#gibilities in assisting us in developing such poidcandidates and in obtaining .
maintaining regulatory approval and achieving marmkeceptance of such products once commercialikény may not proceed with t

commercialization of AcuroX Tablets and other product candidates licensed uheéeKing Agreement with the same sense of urgescy

would. If King is not successful in commercialigim\curox® Tablets for a variety of reasons, including but lmwited to, competition frot
other pharmaceutical companies, or if King failsntanufacture sufficient quantities of our produetsotherwise perform as we expect,
potential for future royalty revenue from produdes/eloped under the King Agreement, if any, coldddbamatically reduced and our busit
and our financial condition would suffer.

The market may not be receptive to products incagimg our Aversion® Technology.

The commercial success of products utilizing ouersion® Technology approved for marketing by the FDA anleotregulator
authorities will depend on acceptance by healtk paoviders and others that such products arecaligiuseful, coseffective and safe. The

can be no assurance given, even if we or our leefnisucceed in the development of products utijioir Aversion® Technology and recei
FDA approval for such products, that products zitilj the Aversion® Technology would be accepted by health care prosidaed other
Factors that may materially affect market accemaqroducts utilizing our Aversioq?\Technology include but are not limited to:
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* the relative advantages and disadvantages of ptedtitzing Aversion® Technology compared to competitive products;
* the relative timing to commercial launch of produaetilizing Aversion® Technology compared to competitive products;
* the relative safety and efficacy of products u"n'ingversion® Technology compared to competitive products;

* the product labeling approved by the FDA for pradudilizing Aversion® Technology; and

* the willingness of third party payors to reimbufseor otherwise pay for products utilizing AverBi%Technology.

Our product candidates, if successfully developsti@mmercially launched, will compete with bothremtly marketed and new
products launched in the future by other compamieslth care providers may not accept or utilizg @nour products. Physicians and other

prescribers may not be inclined to prescribe prtslutlizing our Aversiorf Technology unless our products demonstrate comaibreiable
advantages over other products currently marketethé same indications. If our products do noi@shmarket acceptance, we may not be
able to generate significant revenues or becomiitgdote.

If we, our licensees or others identify serious adse events or deaths relating to any of our prottuonce on the market, we may be
required to withdraw our products from the markethich would hinder or preclude our ability to genate revenues.

We or our licensees are required to report to eglevegulatory authorities all serious adverse &ven deaths involving our prodi
candidate or approved products. If we, our licesser others identify such events, regulatory aiities may withdraw their approvals of si
products; we or our licensees may be requiredftomailate our products; we or our licensees mayetawecall the affected products from
market and may not be able to reintroduce them thretonarket; our reputation in the marketplace suffer; and we may become the targe
lawsuits, including class actions suits. Any afdl events could harm or prevent sales of thetaffquroducts and could materially adver
affect our business and financial condition.

In the event that we or our licensees are succebsflbringing any products to market, our revenuesay be adversely affected if we fail
obtain insurance coverage or adequate reimbursemfntour products from third-party payors.

The ability of our licensees to successfully coneiedize our products may depend in part on thelabiity of reimbursement for o
products from government health administration aties, private health insurers, and other thgedty payors and administrators, incluc

Medicaid and Medicare. We cannot predict the abdity of reimbursement for newly-approved produetsizing our Aversion® Technology
Third-party payors and administrators, including stateligksid programs and Medicare, are challenging titep charged for pharmaceut
products. Government and other third-party paywcsgasingly are limiting both coverage and thellefeeimbursement for new drugs. Third-
party insurance coverage may not be available temta for any of our products candidates. The inaimg efforts of government and third-
party payors to contain or reduce the costs oftheare may limit our commercial opportunity. Ifvgonment and other thirgarty payors d

not provide adequate coverage and reimbursememinfoproduct utilizing our Aversiofi Technology, health care providers may not pres
them or patients may ask their health care prosiderprescribe competing products with more favierabimbursement. In some fore
markets, pricing and profitability of pharmaceutipaoducts are subject to government control. k& thited States, we expect there ma
federal and state proposals for similar contratsadldition, we expect that increasing emphasis anaged care in the United States
continue to put pressure on the pricing of pharm@ical products. Cost control initiatives could oease the price that we or our licen:
charge for any of our products in the future. Ferthcost control initiatives could impair our atyilior the ability of our licensees
commercialize our products and our ability to eavenues from commercialization.
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Consolidation in the healthcare industry could lead demands for price concessions or to the exausof some suppliers from certain
our markets, which could have an adverse effectaur business, financial condition or results of ogions.

Because healthcare costs have risen significantly the past decade, numerous initiatives and mefdyy legislatures, regulators i
third-party payors to curb these costs have resultedriena in the healthcare industry to consolidatedpct suppliers and purchasers. As
healthcare industry consolidates, competition amsungpliers to provide products to purchasers hasrbe more intense. This in turn
resulted and will likely continue to result in gteapricing pressures and the exclusion of cesajppliers from important market segment
group purchasing organizations, and large singwuts continue to use their market power to infaee product pricing and purchas
decisions. We expect that market demand, goverhmeguilation, thirdparty reimbursement policies and societal presswikscontinue tc
influence the worldwide healthcare industry, raagltin further business consolidations, which magre further downward pressure on
prices of our anticipated products. This downwaritipg pressure may adversely impact our businéeancial condition or results
operations.

Our success depends on our ability to protect aueilectual property.

Our success depends on our ability to obtain anéhtaia patent protection for products developedizitig our Aversion®
Technology, in the United States and in other coesmitand to enforce these patents. The patenigrusiof pharmaceutical firms, including
are generally uncertain and involve complex legal &actual questions. Notwithstanding our receiptUds. Patent No. 7,201,920 and

Patent No. 7,476,402 from the United States PatedfTrademark Office ("USPTO”) for our opioid pradwandidates utilizing our Aversidh
Technology, there is no assurance that any of ateanp claims in our other pending nprevisional and provisional patent applicationstiek

to our Aversion® Technology will issue or if issued, that any suelept claims will be valid and enforceable agaihst-party infringement ¢
that our products will not infringe any third-parpatent or intellectual property. Moreover, anyepatclaims relating to our Aversion

Technology may not be sufficiently broad to protdw products utilizing Aversiofi Technology. In addition, issued patent claims me
challenged, potentially invalidated or potentiaiycumvented. Our patent claims may not afford iqetion against competitors with sim
technology or permit the commercialization of omwqucts without infringing third-party patents dgher intellectual property rights.

Our success also depends on our not infringingnaissued to others. We may become aware of jgdbehdnging to competitors ¢
others that could require us to obtain licensesutth patents or alter our technologies. Obtainirgl dicenses or altering our technology ct
be time consuming and costly. We may not be ablebtain a license to any technology owned by aniged to a third party that we or

licensees require to manufacture or market one anerproducts utilizing our Aversiofi Technology. Even if we can obtain a license,
financial and other terms may be disadvantageous.

Our success also depends on maintaining the caoniddity of our trade secrets and kndww. We seek to protect such informatior
entering into confidentiality agreements with enygles, potential licensees, raw material suppligogential investors, consultants and o
parties. These agreements may be breached by augdspWe may not be able to obtain an adequaterhaps, any remedy to such a bre
In addition, our trade secrets may otherwise becknmvn or be independently developed by our corgrsti Our inability to protect o
intellectual property or to commercialize our protfuwithout infringing thirdearty patents or other intellectual property righisuld have
material adverse affect on our operations and &izdwcondition.

We may become involved in patent litigation or othietellectual property proceedings relating to odwersion® Technology or product
candidates which could result in liability for dangges or delay or stop our development and commeizadion efforts.

The pharmaceutical industry has been charactebyeignificant litigation and other proceedingsasting patents, patent applicati
and other intellectual property rights. The sitoiasi in which we may become parties to such litayatr proceedings may include:

« litigation or other proceedings we may initiate iagathird parties to enforce our patent rightethrer intellectual property right

« litigation or other proceedings we may initiate iagathird parties seeking to invalidate the paemtld by such third parties or
obtain a judgment that our products do not infrisgeh third parti€’ patents

« litigation or other proceedings third parties maitiate against us to seek to invalidate our patentto obtain a judgment that tr
party products do not infringe our pater

- if our competitors file patent applications thaaiol technology also claimed by us, we may be fotoegarticipate in interference
opposition proceedings to determine the priorityneention and whether we are entitled to pategtits on such invention; at

« if third parties initiate litigation claiming thaiur products infringe their patent or other inteflel property rights, we will need
defend against such proceedin
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The costs of resolving any patent litigation orestintellectual property proceeding, even if reedhn our favor, could be substan
Many of our potential competitors will be able tastin the cost of such litigation and proceedimgse effectively than we can becaus
their substantially greater resources. Uncertansulting from the initiation and continuationpzftent litigation or other intellectual prope
proceedings could have a material adverse effecunrability to compete in the marketplace. Patiigiation and other intellectual prope
proceedings may also consume significant managetimest

Our Aversion® Technology may be found to infringe claims of p#&teowned by others. If we determine or if we arenfd to b
infringing a patent held by another party, we or licensees might have to seek a license to mades, and sell the patented technologie
that case, we or our licensees might not be ablgbtain such license on acceptable terms, or afTak failure to obtain a license to
technology that may be required would materiallynha@ur business, financial condition and result®pérations. If a legal action is brou
against us, we could incur substantial defensescast any such action might not be resolved infaxor. If such a dispute is resolved age

us, we may have to pay the other party large sdfmsooey and use of our Aversi@nTechnoIogy and the testing, manufacturing, marigedi

sale of one or more of our products could be restli or prohibited. Even prior to resolution of lsue dispute, use of our Aversidh
Technology and the testing, manufacturing, marketinsale of one or more of our products couldestricted or prohibited.

We are aware of a competitor who has suggesteddoUSPTO that the USPTO should declare an interferbetween th
competitors pending patent application and one of our penditfg. patent applications. While we believe thwré is no valid basis 1
declaring such an interference and that even i sucinterference were declared that we would pret@ere can be no assurance that suc
interference will not be declared and ultimatelgeeed such that this competitor would obtain patéains which could encompass our |
product candidate and other product candidatesveldpment.

We are aware of certain United States and inteynakipending patent applications owned by thirdigarwith claims potential
encompassing our product candidates. While we dexmmect the claims contained in such pending pateplications will issue in their pres
form, there can be no assurance that such patgtitajons will not issue as patents with claims@npassing one or more of our proc
candidates. If such patent applications resulvatid and enforceable issued patents, containiagnd in their current form or otherw
encompassing our products we or our licensees magduired to obtain a license to such patentsjldlane be available, or alternatively, &
our products so as to avoid infringing such ttpatty patents. If we or our licensees are unablabtain a license on commercially reason

terms, if at all, we or our licensees could berfetstd or prevented from commercializing productsizing the Aversion® Technology

Additionally, any alterations to our products orr oAwersion ® Technology could be time consuming and costly aray mot result i
technologies or products that are non-infringing@mmercially viable.

We cannot assure you that our products and/orretio developing products utilizing Aversig)nTechnology will not infringe third-
party patents. Our failure to avoid infringingrthparty patents and intellectual property rightstie tlevelopment and commercializatiol

products utilizing the AversioﬁTechnoIogy would have a material adverse affeawroperations and financial condition.
We may be exposed to product liability claims andymmot be able to obtain adequate product liabilitgurance.

Our business exposes us to potential product iigbiksks, which are inherent in the testing, mamtdiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimigimi be made by patients, or health care providergthers that sell or consume our prodi
These claims may be made even with respect to fhaskicts that possess regulatory approval for ceroia sale. We are currently cove
by clinical trial product liability insurance on@aimsimade basis. This coverage may not be adequatevey emy product liability claim
Product liability coverage is expensive. In theufet we may not be able to maintain or obtain qurcduct liability insurance at a reason:
cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us agalasses due to product liability claims. Any claithet are not covered by product liabi
insurance could have a material adverse effectuofuasiness, financial condition and results ofrapens.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significéinaincial resources will be bet

able to bring and defend any such litigation. Nsuagnce can be given that we would not become wedoin such litigation. Such litigatir
may have material adverse consequences to ourcfalamndition and results of operations.
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We face significant competition which may result others developing or commercializing products bef@r more successfully than \
do.

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedais affected by new technologies, governmentglulegions, health ca
legislation, availability of financing, litigatiomnd other factors. If our product candidates recdiDA approval, they will compete witt
number of existing and future drug products andapies developed, manufactured and marketed bysotBisting or future competi
products may provide greater therapeutic conveeientinical or other benefits for a specific indica than our products, or may ol
comparable performance at lower costs. If our pctglare unable to capture and maintain market sharer our licensees may not achi
significant product revenues and our financial ¢oon and results of operations will be materiaiyversely affected.

We or our licensees will compete for market shagairest fully integrated pharmaceutical companiesotirer companies tt
collaborate with larger pharmaceutical companiesadamic institutions, government agencies and othdrlic and private reseal
organizations. Many of these competitors have prtsdalready approved, marketed or in developmaeraddition, many of these competits
either alone or together with their collaboratiatpers, operate larger research and developmegtgms, have substantially greater finar
resources, experience in developing products, wibiFDA and other regulatory approvals, formulgtiand manufacturing drugs, ¢
commercializing products than we do.

We are concentrating substantially all of our dffoon developing product candidates utilizing ouresion® Technology. Th
commercial success of products using Aver$idiechnology will depend, in large part, on the isignof competition, FDA approved prod
labeling for our products compared to competitivedpicts, and the relative timing and sequence donroercial launch of new products
other companies developing, marketing, selling adidtributing products that compete with the produattilizing Aversion ©
Technology. Alternative technologies and rapieid products are being developed to improveeplace the use of opioid analgesics. Ir
event that such alternatives to opioid analgesiesndadely adopted, then the market for productizirig our Aversion® Technology may
substantially decreased thus reducing our abiityenerate future profits.

Key personnel are critical to our business and auccess depends on our ability to retain them.

We are dependent on our management and sciemtifin,tincluding Andrew D. Reddick, our President @tief Executive Office
Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., our Senior Scientific Advismd Robert Jones, our Senior Vice President arief Ciperating Officer. Commencin
January 1, 2009, Dr. Spivey, formerly our Seniocé/President and Chief Scientific Officer, redubélemployment to a patitme basis (1
weeks per year) through 2010. On Februafy 2009, we named Albert Brzeczko, Ph.D. as ourtinle Vice President of Technical Affairs
assume a substantial portion of Dr. Spivey's pitdlirtime responsibilities. We may not be able to attend retain personnel on accept
terms given the intense competition for such persbamong biotechnology, pharmaceutical and healéhcompanies, universities and non-
profit research institutions. While we have empleyagreements with certain employees, all of oupleyees are atll employees who me
terminate their employment at any time. We do rastehkey personnel insurance on any of our offioesmployees. The loss of any of our
personnel, or the inability to attract and retaintspersonnel, may significantly delay or prevéiet achievement of our product and techna
development and business objectives and could iallyeadversely affect our business, financial dtind and results of operations.

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”)imits the availability of the active ingredientssed in our product candidates and, a
result, our quota may not be sufficient to completinical trials or may result in development delsly

The DEA regulates certain finished drug productsl active pharmaceutical ingredients. Certain opia@dive pharmaceutic
ingredients in our current product candidates &ssdied by the DEA as Schedule Il substances utideControlled Substances Act of 1¢
Consequently, their manufacture, research, shipnstarage, sale and use are subject to a high @efregulation. Furthermore, the amour
Schedule Il substances we can obtain for our @lrtitals is limited by the DEA and our quota mayt be sufficient to complete clinical trie
There is a risk that DEA regulations may interferth the supply of the products used in our clihicials.
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Prior ownership changes limit our ability to useuotax net operating loss carryforwards.

Significant equity restructuring often results in Baternal Revenue Section 382 ownership changelithds the future use of N
Operating Loss (“NOL"xarryforwards and other tax attributes. We haverdaned that an ownership change (as defined Ioyid®e382 o
the Internal Revenue Code) did occur as a resuksifucturing that occurred in 2004. Neither @ineount of our NOL carryforwards nor
amount of limitation of such carryforwards claim@dus have been audited or otherwise validatedhbéyriternal Revenue Service, which cc
challenge the amount we have calculated. The rétog and measurement of our tax benefit includsmates and judgment by
management, which includes subjectivity. Changesstimates may create volatility in our tax ratdiiture periods based on new informa
about particular tax positions that may cause mamagt to change its estimates. If we establisbnéirggent tax liability reserve, interest i
penalties related to uncertain tax positions wdndctlassified as general and administrative exgense

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
Our quarterly results of operations will fluctuategnd these fluctuations could cause our stock pricedecline.

Our quarterly operating results are likely to fluete in the future. These fluctuations could causestock price to decline. The nat
of our business involves variable factors, sucthagiming of the research, development and regnjagubmissions of our product candid
that could cause our operating results to fluctudtee forecasting of the timing of sales of ouodurct candidates is difficult due to
uncertainty inherent in seeking FDA and other neagsapprovals for our product candidates. Assaltein some future quarters our clini
financial or operating results may not meet theeesgitions of securities analysts and investors liwbauld result in a decline in the price of
stock.

Volatility in stock prices of other companies magrdribute to volatility in our stock price.

The market price of our common stock, like the reargrice for securities of pharmaceutical and lbtelogy companies, h
historically been highly volatile. The stock maredm time to time experiences significant pricedamlume fluctuations unrelated to
operating performance of particular companies. dfactsuch as fluctuations in our operating resdlifyre sales of our common stc
announcements of technological innovations or neerapeutic products by us or our competitors, ancements regarding collaboralt
agreements, laboratory or clinical trial resulisygrnment regulation, developments in patent oergphoprietary rights, public concern as to
safety of drugs developed by us or others, chamgegimbursement policies, comments made by séesirdnalysts and general ma
conditions may have a substantial effect on thekatgsrice of our common stock. In the past, follogvperiods of volatility in the market pr
of a companys securities, securities class action litigatios béen been instituted. A securities class acfioit against us could result
substantial costs, potential liabilities and theedsion of managemestattention and resources and result in a matadia¢rse affect on o
financial condition and results of operations.

Our stock price has been volatile and there may betan active, liquid trading market for our commatock.

Our stock price has experienced significant pricel aolume fluctuations and may continue to expegervolatility in the
future. Factors that have a material impact onptfiee of our common stock, in addition to the etissues described herein, include resul
or delays in our prelinical and clinical studies, the success of aerise agreement with King, announcements of tdogieal innovations ¢
new commercial products by us or others, developsnarpatents and other proprietary rights by ustbers, future sales of our common s
by existing stockholders, regulatory developmemtsh@nges in regulatory guidance, the departurguoffficers, directors or key employe
and period-tgperiod fluctuations in our financial results. Als@u may not be able to sell your shares at tis¢ fmarket price if trading in o
stock in not active or if the volume is low. Théseno assurance that an active trading markedvdiorcommon stock will be maintained on
NASDAQ Capital Market

The National Association of Securities Dealers,,loc NASD, and the Securities and Exchange Conmamis®r SEC, have adopi
certain new rules. If we were unable to continuedmply with the new rules, we could be delistemhfrtrading on the NASDAQ Capi
Market and thereafter trading in our common stdfcény, would be conducted through the Over-@minter Bulletin Board of the NASD. A
consequence of such delisting, an investor wollylifind it more difficult to dispose of, or to t&#n quotations as to the price of, our com
stock. Delisting of our common stock from the NASQAapital Market could also result in lower priges share of our common stock t
would otherwise prevail.
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We do not have a history of paying dividends on @@mmon stock.

Historically we have not declared and paid any ahgldends on our common stock. We intend toineddl of our earnings for the
foreseeable future to finance the operation anduesipn of our business. As a result, you may ogdgive a return on your investment in our
common stock if the market price of our common ksiocreases.

GCE Holdings LLC can control all matters requiringpproval by shareholders.

GCE Holdings LLC beneficially owns approximately. 7% of our outstanding common stock as of DecerBthe2008 (calculated
accordance with Rule 138lpromulgated under the Securities Exchange A@B8#, as amended). As a result, GCE Holdings Lih@jew of
its ownership percentage of our common stock, lvéliable to control all matters requiring approwablor shareholders, including the apprt
or rejection of mergers, sales or licenses of @ubstantially all of our assets, or other busrasmbination transactions. The interests of
Holdings LLC may not always coincide with the irgsts of our other shareholders and as such we akayaction in advance of its interest
the detriment of our other shareholders. Accorgingou may not be able to influence any actiontale or consider taking, even if it requ
a shareholder vote.

We are currently a “Controlled Companyivithin the meaning of the NASDAQ Capital Market lting Requirements and, as a resl
are exempt from certain corporate governance reguirents.

Because GCE Holdings LLC controls more than 50%hefvoting power of our common stock, we are culyetonsidered to be
“controlled company’for purposes of a NASDAQ Capital Market listing uggments. As such, we are permitted, and haweesgleto opt ot
of the NASDAQ Capital Market listing requirementsat would otherwise require our board of directiardhave a majority of independ
directors, our board nominations to be selectedecommended for the boasdselection either by a nominating committee cosgatientirel
of independent directors or by a majority of indegent directors, and our compensation committeleet@omprised entirely of independ
directors. Accordingly, you may not have the sgraections afforded to stockholders of companiieg are subject to all of the NASD/
Capital Market corporate governance requirements.

Any future sale of a substantial number of sharesciuded in our current registration statement couldepress the trading price of o
stock, lower our value and make it more difficulbif us to raise capital.

In accordance with the terms of the Securities Pase Agreement dated August 20, 2007 between utharidvestors named there
we filed a registration statement with the SECeister the shares included in our Units issuedyanmnt to the Securities Purchase Agreer
including shares underlying warrants included ia tnits. In addition, pursuant to the exercisgm@viously granted piggyback registral
rights, each of GCE Holdings, LLC, Galen PartnérsLLP., Galen Partners International Ill, L.P.alén Employee Fund Ill, L.P., Care Caf
Investments I, LP, Care Capital Offshore Investtadh LP and Essex Woodlands Health Ventures \P. lhave exercised their piggyb.
registration rights to include an aggregate of 26,616 shares in such registration statement. Assalt, 34,243,273 shares (represel
approximately 66% of our shares outstanding orllg-8liluted basis -including all derivative securities, whether or satrently exercisable
a prereverse stock basis) were included in the registragtatement for resale by selling stockholdé&ach registration statement was decl
effective by the SEC on November 20, 2007. If samall of such shares included in such registrasitatement are sold by our affiliates
others it may have the effect of depressing theirngaprice of our common stock. In addition, ssetes could lower our value and mal
more difficult for us to raise capital if needectlre future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease from an unaffiliated Lessor, approximafef00 square feet of administrative office spac@l® N. North Court, Suite 12
Palatine, lllinois 60067. The lease agreement hésrra expiring March 31, 2010. The lease agreempentides for rent, property tax
common area maintenance and janitorial servicesnoannualized basis of approximately $29,200 par.y&e utilize this lease space for
administrative, marketing and business developriusrdtions.

We conduct research, development, laboratory, dpewetnt scale and NDA submission batch scale manufiag and other activitie
relating to developing product candidates using réios ® Technology at our facility located at 16235 Stata® 17, Culver, Indiana (t

“Culver Facility”). At this location, our whollyewned subsidiary Acura Pharmaceutical Technolodies, owns a ~28,000 square foot fac
with approximately 7,000 square feet of warehod€eQ00 square feet of manufacturing space, 6,008redfeet of research and developr
labs and 5,000 square feet of administrative amge space. The facility is located on approximge88 acres of land.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our sectndtglers during the fourth quarter of 2008.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market and Market Prices of Common Stot

During 2007 and through February 1, 2008, our comnsbock was traded on the Over-the-Counter (“OT@ulletin
Board. Commencing February 4, 2008, our commonksteas admitted for trading on the NASDAQ Capitahriket under the symk
“ACUR”. On December 5, 2007, we effected a 1 for 10 revaitof our common stock. The share price infaiorain the tables below giv
effect to the reverse stock split.

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tlghland low bid prices for our common stock fodiray in our common stock on 1
OTC Bulletin Board as reported by the OTC BulldBioard. Such over-the-counter market quotation®cefinterdealer prices, without ret
mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not negéggepresent actual transactions.

PERIOD Bid Prices
2007 Fiscal Yeat High $ Low $
First Quartel 9.50 6.90
Second Quarte 11.50 7.60
Third Quartel 28.40 9.30
Fourth Quarte 22.40 6.00
2008 Fiscal Yeal
First Quarter (through February 1, 20t 8.60 5.90

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tighland low sales prices for trading in our comrstotk on the NASDAQ Capital Market as
reported by the NASDAQ Capital Market.

PERIOD Sale Prices

2008 Fiscal Yeal High $ Low $
Fiscal Quarter (commencing February 4, 2C 10.50 6.75
Second Quarte 10.00 7.49
Third Quartel 8.97 5.79
Fourth Quarte 7.89 3.43

2009 Fiscal Yeat
First Quarter (through February 24, 20 7.75 4.07
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Holders

There were approximately 565 holders of recordufammmon stock on February 22008. This number, however, does not ref
the ultimate number of beneficial holders of oumoaon stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends is subject to thereimn of our Board of Directors and is dependgidn many factors, including ¢
earnings, our capital needs and our general fiahooindition. Historically we have not paid arash dividends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Reference is made to “Iltem 11 - Executive CompémsatRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitiesh&uized for Issuant
Under Equity Compensation Plans”.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presebéolw for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2R0@6, 2005 and 2004
derived from our audited Consolidated Financiate&3tents. The Consolidated Financial Statement$ Be@ember 31, 2008 and 2007 anc
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2008, and the seffeateon, are included elsewhere in this Repbw. Selecte
financial information as of and for the years enBetember 31, 2005 and 2004 are derived from oditetl Consolidated Financial Statem:
not presented in this Report.

The information set forth below is qualified byeednce to, and should be read in conjunction whit Consolidated Financial
Statements and related notes thereto included bésevin this Report and "ltem 7. Management's Risicun and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations". All shareadgives effect to the 1 for 10 reverse stock gplflemented December 5, 2007.

OPERATING DATA (in thousandsexcept per share
data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Net revenue $ 44437 $ 6,40 — — % 83¢
Operating costs

Cost of manufacturin — — — — 1,43¢

Research and developmt 14,32: 7,16¢ 517z 6,26¢ 4,13(

Selling, marketing, general and administrative

expense: 9,13: 4,141 5,654 5,29¢ 5,23¢

Interest expens 2 (1,207 (1,140 (63€) (2,962)
Interest incom 78C 26¢€ 18 36 59
Write-off of debt discount & deferred private debt

offering costs — — — — (41,807
Amortization of debt discount & deferred privatebtie

offering costs — (2,700 (183) — (30,684 @

Gain on debt restructurir — — — — 12,40:
(Loss) gain on fair value change of conversionufiesd — (3,487 4,23¢ — —
(Loss) gain on fair value change of common si

warrants — (1,905 2,16¢ — —
(Loss) gain on asset dispos D 22 (22 81 2,35¢
Other (expense) incon — 3 (213) 5 603
Income (loss) before income t 21,75¢ (13,919 (5,967%) (12,079 (69,99¢)
Income tax benefit (expens (7,285 9,60( — — —
Net income (loss $ 14,47 $ (4,319 $ (5,967) $ (12,079 $ (69,996
Net income (loss) per share: Ba $ 03z $ (0.1 $ (0.7 $ (1.81) $ (32.00)
Net income (loss) per share: Dilut $ 0.2¢ $ (0.1) $ (0.7 $ (1.81) $ (32.00
Weighted average shares used in computing net ia

(loss) per share: Basic 45,67¢ 39,157 34,49¢ 6,68( 2,18¢
Weighted average shares used in computing net iacc

(loss) per share: Diluted 49,41¢ 39,15} 34,49¢ 6,68( 2,18¢
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BALANCE SHEET DATA ©

(in thousands 200¢ 2007 200¢ 200% 2004
Working capital (deficiency $ 35,99, $ 22,30t $ (28,64) $ (2,47¢) $ 2,42
Total asset 42,96 45,62¢ 1,61¢ 1,792 4,967
Total debt, net? — — 28,78 7,61¢ 5,09¢
Total liabilities 5,897 26,90¢ 39,89¢ 7,954 6,052
Accumulated defici (307,38() (321,86() (317,54 (291,61 (279,54)
Stockholders' equity (defici $ 37,06: $ 18,72( $ (38,280 $ (6,162) $ (1,08%)

(1) Reflects the impact of significant corporate dinancing restructuring in 200
(2) Includes estimated fair value of conversiortidess of convertible debt outstanding as of Decer8tbe2006
(3) Reflects impact of $30 million received fromnigiin December, 200

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucatipn with our financial statements and accompanpotes included elsewhere
this Report. Operating results are not necessardicative of results that may occur in the futperiods. Certain statements in this Re
under this Item 7, Item 1, "Business”, Item 1A, sRiFactors” and elsewhere in this Report constititevarddooking statements" within tl
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation RefoAnt of 1995. Such forwartboking statements involve known and unknown r
uncertainties and other factors which may causeactural results, performance or achievements arsing results, to be materially differ:
from any future results, performance, or achievamenpressed or implied by such forwdodking statements. See page 3 of this Report
description of the most significant of such factors

Company Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagessearch, development and manufacture of prathradidates providing abt

deterrent features and benefits utilizing our pietpry Aversion® Technology. Our portfolio of product candidateslimes opioid analgesi
intended to effectively relieve pain while simukssly discouraging common methods of pharmacéuytroduct misuse and abuse including:

« intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cégs!

« nasal snorting of crushed tablets or capsules; and

« intentional swallowing of excess quantities of &blor capsule:
Company’s Present Financial Condition

At December 31, 2008, we had cash, cash equivaemdsshorterm investments of approximately $35.4 million qared ti

approximately $31.4 million at December 31, 2002 Mad working capital of $36.0 million at DecemBé&r 2008 compared to working cap
of $22.3 million at December 31, 2007. We had ecumulated deficit of approximately $307.4 milliand $321.9 million at December
2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. We heaime from operations of approximately $21.0 milleomd net income of approximat
$14.5 million for the year ended December 21, 2668pared to a loss from operations of approximaly million and a net loss

approximately $4.3 million for the year ended Deben31, 2007.

As of February 27, 2009 we had cash, cash equitggland short-term investments of approximately.&3fillion.
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During the year ended December 31, 2008, we rezednievenues of $44.4 million derived from $21.9iam which is the amortize
portion of the $30.0 million upfront cash paymesteaived from King in December 2007, $6.0 millioroistion exercise fees paid to us by k

for licenses to the third and fourth opioid analggsoduct candidates, $5.0 million in an Acurdsablet development milestone payrr

received from King, and $11.5 million paid to us King for reimbursement of research and developnexpenses for AcuroX Tablet:
licensed to King under the King Agreement. We hae¢ to generate any royalty revenues from produades. To fund our continu
operations, we expect to rely on our current caslources and additional payments that may be mader uhe King Agreement and un
future license agreements with other pharmaceuwmalpany partners, of which there can be no asserahobtaining. Our cash requirem
for operating activities may increase in the futasewe continue to conduct pekrical studies and clinical trials for our prodwandidate:
maintain, defend, if necessary and expand the sobper intellectual property, hire additional pemgel, or invest in other areas.

We had no revenues in 2006. In 2007, we recognigednue of $6.4 million derived from $3.4 millievhich was the amortiz
portion of the $30.0 million norefundable cash payment received from King in Demem®?007 and $3.0 million received from King

reimbursement of our Acurox Tablet development expenses incurred under the Kogrgement. Our losses have resulted principabyn
costs incurred in connection with research and Ildpweent activities, salaries and other persomekited costs and general corpc
expenses. Research and development activitiesdaedaosts of pretinical studies and clinical trials as well amatal supplies associated w
our product candidates. Salaries and other peedaatated costs include non-cash, stbelsed compensation associated with stock optiod
restricted stock units granted to employees andamoployee directors.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decen®®r2008 and 200

December 31 Change
($ in thousands): 200¢ 2007 Dollars %
Revenue
Program fee revent $ 27,94, $ 3427 $ 24,51« 715%
Milestone revenu 5,00 - 5,00(C *
Collaboration fee revent 11,49¢ 2,97 8,51¢ 28€%
Revenut 44,43 6,404 38,03 594%
Operating Expenses
Research and development expel 14,32: 7,16¢ 7,15 10C%
Marketing, general and administrative expel 9,13: 4,141 4,992 121%
Total operating expens 23,45¢ 11,31( 12,14¢ 107%
Operating income (loss) 20,98: (4,906 25,88¢ 528%
Other Income (Expense’
Interest income (expense), | 78C (939 1,71¢ 182%
Amortization of debt discoul - (2,700 2,70C 10(%
Loss (gain) on fair value change of conversigatires - (3,487) 3,48: 10C%
Loss (gain) on fair value change of common steakrants - (1,905 1,90¢ 10(%
Gain (loss) on asset dispos 2 22 (29 (209%
Other expens (1) (3) 2 67%
Total other income (expense) 777 (9,009) 9,78t 10%
Income (loss) before income tax expe 21,75¢ (13,919 35,67 25€%
Income tax expense (bene 7,28¢ (9,600 (16,885 (176€)%
Net income (loss $ 14,47: $ (4,319 $ 18,78t¢ 43€%
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Revenue

In December 2007, King paid us a $30.0 million opfrfee in connection with the closing of the KiAgreement. Program f
revenue recognized during 2008 from amortizing tipfront fee was $21.9 million compared to $3.4lionl in 2007. We have assigned
equal portion of the program fee revenue to eacthrefe product candidates identified under the Khggeement and expect to recognize
remainder of the program fee revenue ratably owerestimate of the development activity period floese three product candidates.
completed our development activities on 2 of thpr@uct candidates and have fully amortized theigorof the upfront fee for those t
product candidates in 2008. We currently estinthéedevelopment period for the third product caatido end in November, 2009. Al
included in program fee revenue are two $3.0 nmilliption exercise fees paid by King to us in Mag &@cember 2008, respectively, upon
exercise of its option to license a third and fowpioid analgesic product candidate under the Kiggeement.

In June 2008, King paid us a $5.0 million milest@agment for successfully achieving the primary pouhts in our pivotal Phase
study, AP-ADF-105 for Acurox® Tablets. The Compdrad no milestone revenue in 2007.

Collaboration revenue recognized in 2008 was $frillion for reimbursement, pursuant to the King Agment, of our Acurox®
Tablets development and regulatory expenses intalueng 2008. We invoice King in arrears on a odber quarter basis for our reimbursable
development and regulatory expenses under the Kgmgement. We expect the amount and timing ofabaltation revenue to fluctuate in
relation to the amount and timing of the underlyiagearch and development expenses. The Compargohaloration revenue of $3.0 milli
for 2007 representing such reimbursable expenses September 19, 2007, the commencement dateifiobuesement purposes set forth in
the King Agreement, to December 31, 2007.

Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2008 @vv2ére primarily for product candidates utiliziogr Aversion®Technology
including costs of preclinical, clinical trials,imical supplies and related formulation and desigsts, salaries and other personnel re
expenses, and facility costs. Included in the 2808 2007 results are non-cash stbeked compensation charges of $0.6 million and
million, respectively. Excluding the stodlased compensation expense, there is a $7.0 milicnease in development expenses prim
attributable to increasing clinical study costgliiling our pivotal Phase Ill clinical trial for Acox®.

Marketing expenses during 2008 and 2007 considtédsersion® Technology customized market data research stuGiessgener:
and administrative expenses primarily consistetegél, audit and other professional fees, corparaterance, and payroll costs. Include
the 2008 and 2007 results are non-cash dhasled compensation charges of $3.3 million and 80l%n, respectively, associated with
grant of stock options and restricted stock urfitscluding the stockased compensation expense, there is an increa$2.dfmillion ir
marketing, general and administrative expensesdiaty $0.8 million of payroll costs, $0.3 milliorf éegal services, $0.5 million of st
franchise taxes, $0.2 million of tax reserves add $nillion of audit and tax services.

Other Income (Expense)

During 2008, we had no debt and cash proceedsvestpursuant to the King Agreement were primarilyeisted in bank commerc
paper with maturity dates less than 12 months, momerket funds, U.S. Treasury Bills and in overniglveep investments, resulting in inte
income of $0.8 million.

During 2007 we incurred interest on our $5.0 milli®ecured Term Note at the variable rate of pritos g.5% through August 1
2007 and thereafter at the fixed rate of 10% peuen Upon the closing of the King Agreement on &eber 7, 2007, we repaid this Seci
Term Note in full. We also incurred interest o $t0.544 million Senior Secured Convertible Brid¢mtes (collectively, the “Bridge Loans”
at the fixed rate of 10%. On August 20, 2007, ¢émdire $10.544 million principal amount of the By& Loans was converted into Ul
consisting of our common stock and warrants in edanoce with our Unit Offering.

Other expense for 2007 includes a) debt discourgrégaation expense of $2.7 million arising from we$ assigned to convers
features on issuances of bridge loans, b) $3.8amilbss on fair value changes to amended convefsiatures on bridge loans being accou
for as mark-to-market liabilities and ¢) $1.9 naifliloss on fair value changes to common stock wgstiaeing accounted for as markr@rke
liabilities.

Income Tax Expense (Benefi

Deferred income taxes have been recognized in pears for temporary differences between finargtialement and income tax be
of assets and liabilities and loss cafoywards for which income tax benefits are expedtetle realized in future years. At the same timwe
recorded a valuation allowance to reduce net dafldnmcome tax assets to the amount that is moedyltkan not to be realized. Net income
2008 includes a provision for income tax expens8b million which has been offset by $1.2 milliohincome tax benefits recorded from
anticipated utilization of some of our deferred éesets arising from net operating loss carryfotaar

In 2007, based upon the receipt of the $30 millimder the King Agreement we determined that we béllable to realize defen
income tax assets in the future and therefore westatl the valuation allowance by $9.6 million whis reflected as a tax benefit in the 2
statement of operations.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decem®®r2007 and 200




December 31 Change

($ in thousands) 2007 200¢ Dollars %
Revenue
Program fee revent $ 3427 % - $ 3,427 *%
Collaboration fee revenue 2,971 - 2,971 *%
Revenue 6,40¢ - 6,40¢ *%
Operating Expenses
Research and development exper 7,16¢ 5,172 1,997 38%
Marketing, general and administrative expenses 4,141 5,654 (1,519 (26)%
Total operating expenses 11,31( 10,82¢ 484 5%
Operating income (los! (4,906 (10,82¢) 5,92( 55%
Other Income (Expense’
Interest income (expense), 1 (939 (1,122 18¢ 16%
Amortization of debt discout (2,700 (183) (2,517% (1,375%
(Loss) gain on fair value change of conversionufiesd (3,487 4,23¢ (7,719 (182)%
(Loss) gain on fair value change of common stockravds (1,90%) 2,16¢ (4,069 (188)%
Gain (loss) on asset dispos 22 (22 44 200%
Other expense (3) (213) 21C 99%%
Total other income (expens (9,009) 4,85¢ (13,86) (28E)%
Loss before income tax exper (13,919 (5,967 (7,947 (139)%
Income tax benefit (9,600 - 9,60( *%
Net loss $ (4319 $ (5,967 $ 1,65 28%
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Revenue

In December 2007 King paid us a $30.0 million upfréee in connection with the closing of our Agresmhwith King. Revent
recognized in 2007 from amortizing this upfront feas $3.4 million. We have assigned an equal poniothe license fee revenue to eac
the three product candidates included under thed&gent and expect to recognize the remainder girttgram fee ratably over our estimat
the development period for each of the producteutite Agreement with King.

Collaboration revenue recognized in 2007 was $3litom This revenue related to reimbursement of Aaurox® Tablet developme
expenses incurred pursuant to the King Agreememnt fBeptember 19 to December 31, 2007. We invoiog G arrears on a calendar que
basis for our development expenses under the Kiggedment. We expect the amount and timing of boHation revenue to fluctuate
relation to the amount and timing of the underlyiagearch and development expenses.

Operating Expenses

Research and development expense in the years &wtmanber 31, 2007 and 2006 consisted primarilgesfelopment of produ
candidates utilizing our Aversion®echnology, including costs of preclinical, clinli¢aals, clinical supplies and related formulatiand desig
costs, salaries and other personnel related expeasel facility costs. Included in the 2007 and&0esults are non-cash stdohse:
compensation charges of $0.4 million and $2.1 anllirespectively. Excluding the stobksed compensation expense, there is a $3.7 r
increase in overall expenses primarily attributatdlea) increasing clinical study costs of $1.8 imill and b) $1.1 million of staff bon
payments. No bonuses were paid in the prior f@ary and the 2007 bonus amount rewarded Resealchemelopment personnel for tr
successful efforts resulting in the King Agreemenhe decrease in stodompensation expense of $1.7 million (related t fdir value c
stock options and restricted stock units, net gfeexed forfeitures, granted prior to 2006 whichtoare to vest and expense over the re
employees requisite service periods), is due tovéisting method used for amortization. The faiueadf the awards are being amortized us
graded vesting method which treats the award theifjrant was a series of awards rather than ¢esavgard and attributes a higher percer
of the reported fair value to the earlier quartbien to the later quarters of the service peribdere were no stock options or restricted <
units granted in 2007.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, marketikpgnses consisted primarily of payroll costs. @emeral and administrati
expenses primarily consisted of legal, audit arretioprofessional fees, corporate insurance, antbpaysts. Included in the 2007 and 2
results are non-cash stock-based compensationeshafdb0.5 million and $3.5 million, respectiveBxcluding the stoclbased compensati
expense, expenses increased $1.5 million attrikritabstaff bonus payments. No bonuses were paiderprior four years and the 2007 bc
amount rewarded non-Research and Development patstor their successful efforts resulting in thim¢gK Agreement. The decrease in stock-
compensation expense of $3.0 million (related ®ftir value of stock options and restricted staoks, net of expected forfeitures, grar
prior to 2006 which continue to vest and expenser the related employeegquisite service periods) is due to the vestinghoek used fc
amortization as discussed in the prior paragraph.

Other Income (Expense)

In 2007, we incurred interest on our $5.0 millicec8red Term Note at the variable rate of prime gl686 up to August 19, 2007 ¢
thereafter at the fixed rate of 10% per annum. rUghe closing of the King Agreement on Decembe20Q7, we repaid in full this Note. \
also incurred interest on our $10.544 million Ser8ecured Convertible Bridge Notes (collectivelye t'Bridge Loans”)at the fixed rate «
10%. On August 20, 2007, the entire $10.544 nmiliwincipal amount of the Bridge Loans was conwkitéo Units consisting of our comm
stock and warrants in accordance with our Unit fifp In 2007 the Company’Bridge Loans increased by $2.7 million since Deoer 31
2006, however the decrease in interest expensectefboth the reduction in the $5.0 million Secufedm Notes interest rate and t
conversion of all Bridge Loans into Units as disadabove.

The November and December 2006 Bridge Loans fagagmegate face value of $1.1 million included areaded conversion featt
which we valued at an aggregate of $1.0 millionisMalue was recorded as a liability with an offiset $1.0 million debt discount (which w
amortized over the term of the Bridge Loans). Hesveas the debt was issued to controlling shadshs| this loss was recorded as wast
deemed dividend rather than affecting the net ladslitional issuances of $0.9 million of Bridge lrsain January and February 2007 simil
had an aggregate conversion feature value of $@ll®omrecorded as a nocash deemed dividend rather than effecting thelasst Thi
November 2006 amendment of the conversion feamralloof the then outstanding Bridge Loans, couplétth the requirement under curr
accounting guidance to separate the value of theersion feature from the debt, required us to net¢be value of the amended conver
feature on that outstanding debt as a liability arldss on the modification of debt. We assigne@lae of $19.9 million to these convers
features at the date of modification and reflet¢ted loss as non-cash deemed dividend in the faurénter 2006.
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Upon revaluing the aggregate conversion featuresllooutstanding Bridge Loans as of March 30, 2(0@ date immediately befc
further amendment to the Bridge Loans), we recottiedresulting increase in value as a $3.5 millass. The increase in our common s
trading price from December 31, 2006 to March 3W)72resulted in the increase in the value of thevewsion liability. The Bridge Loz
amendment on March 30, 2007 limited the converpidce of the pos©ctober 2006 loans to not less than $0.21 per shafith this limit ir
place, the outstanding conversion feature no lohgdrto be reflected as a liability. As such, eeorded a $21.1 million reclassification of -
liability to additional paid-in capital.

As a result of the November 2006 amendment to thégB Loans, our outstanding common stock purcheaseants were thereaf
accounted for as mark-toarket liabilities with a recorded value of $10.8lion at December 31, 2006. Upon revaluing the namats just befol
they were exercised or as of March 30, 2007 (thie samediately before further amendment to the @ritloans), we recorded the resul
increase in value as a $1.7 million loss. The iaseein the our common stock trading price from Drdwer 31, 2006 to March 30, 2007 resu
in the increase in the value of the warrant li&pilThe Bridge Loan amendment on March 30, 2007tdichthe conversion price of the post-
October 2006 loans to no lower than $0.21 per shéfih this limit in place, the outstanding warsmo longer had to be reflected ¢
liability. As such, we recorded a $12.3 million lessification of that liability to additional paid- capital; in addition to a $0.1 millic
reclassification relating to warrants exercisedrmythe first quarter of 2007.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Deferred income taxes have been recognized in peiars for temporary differences between finargtialement and income tax be
of assets and liabilities and loss cafoywards for which income tax benefits are expedtetle realized in future years. At the same time
recorded a valuation allowance to reduce net dedeircome tax assets to the amount that is moedyltkan not to be realized. In 2007, be
upon the receipt of the $30 million under the Kihgreement we determined that we will be able tdizealeferred income tax assets in
future and therefore we adjusted the valuationaadltce by $9.6 million which is reflected as a taxéfit in the 2007 statement of operations.

In addition to the items discussed above, othensteontributing to our reported net loss for 200@ 2006 were i) $2.7 million
amortization expense related to debt discountsrdecbupon issuance of certain debt agreementg4én2l206 and throughout 2007, (the
ended December 31, 2006 had no such debt amastizeipense), ii) antilution clauses contained in certain warrants weggered resultin
in a loss of $1.9 million with an equal amount nefem against equity, and iii) $0.1 million of shdr@sed compensation expense relating
dilution adjustment on a previously issued warr@na former employee pursuant to dilution protewi@ontained in such warrant recor
during 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2008, we had unrestricted cash) egsivalents and sharm investments of $35.4 million compared to $
million in aggregate cash and cash equivalentseaeber 31, 2007. We had working capital of $36ildon at December 31, 2008 compa
to $22.3 million at December 31, 2007. The increiaseur cash position of $4.0 million is primarijue to our receipt from King of $¢
million in option exercise fees and a $5.0 millimilestone payment net of neaimbursed operating expenses. The increase iningodapita
of $13.7 million is primarily due to the recognitiof a portion of the deferred program fee reveoiffiget by the utilization of our deferred
assets against our recorded income tax provisidroan receipt of the option exercise fees and rutes payment described above. Cash f
generated from operating activities were $4.2 onillfor the year ended December 31, 2008, primagiyesenting net income for the pe
recognizing certain non cash items such as defgregram fee revenue, net deferred tax assetscladjes for stock compensation. C
flows generatedfrom operating activities were $18illion for the year ended December 31, 2007 pripaepresenting deferred program
revenue, plus nonash charges related to amortization of debt disigdair value changes of conversion features amdneon stock warran
stock compensation and common stock issued foreisttdess our operating loss, deferred tax assetscallaboration revenue receival
Capital expenditures of $0.1 million and our pusshaf shorterm investments of $26.0 million were our invegtactivities for 2008. Capit
expenditures for 2007 were substantially offsetpbgceeds from asset disposal. Our financing digitviof $16.8 million for 2007 relat
primarily to additional bridge loan borrowings am@ceeds under our Unit Offering less the repayméntur $5.0 million Secured Term Note.
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At February 27, 2009, we had cash, cash equivalantsshorterm investments of approximately $37.6 million. \d&imate that su

cash reserves will be sufficient to fund the depelent of Aversior’®” Technology product candidates and related operatipgnses at lei
through the next 12 months.

Pending our receipt of milestone payments and tiegairom King related to product candidates depetbunder the King Agreeme
and other milestone and royalty payments undenaiicense agreements anticipated to be negoteedexecuted with other pharmaceu
company partners, of which no assurance can b&give must rely on our current cash reserves, dietuinterest income from the investm
of our cash reserves, to fund the development ofAmersion® Technology and related ongoing administrative aperating expenses. C
future sources of revenue, if any, will be derifemm milestone payments and royalties under thegkiigreement and under similar lice
agreements with other pharmaceutical company partnéwhich there can be no assurance.

The amount and timing of our future cash requireevill depend on regulatory and market acceptarficir product candidates ¢
the resources we devote to the development and eocatization of our product candidates.

The following table presents our expected cash eaysnon contractual obligations outstanding asexfdbnber 31, 2008:

Payments due by perioc

Less than 1 More than 5

(in thousands) Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years
Operating lease 9 8 1 — —
Clinical studies 1,00¢ 1,00: — — —
Employment agreements 1,10(C 98C 12C — —
Total $ 211 $ 1991 $ 121 — —

@ Approximately $802 expected to be reimbursed tbyuKing under the provisions of the King Agreement.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not engage in transactions or arrangemetitsunconsolidated or other special purpose entities
Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statementsdnordance with United States generally acceptedusting principles requires us
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegbamounts of assets, liabilities, revenues aqereses in our financial statements
accompanying notes. We evaluate our estimates oonngoing basis, including those estimates relateaddntract agreements, rese:
collaborations and investments. We base our estBrat historical experience and various other agans that we believe to be reason
under the circumstances, the results of which fdrenbasis for making judgments about the carryialges of assets and liabilities that are
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resuigy differ from these estimates under differersuagptions or conditions. The followi
items in our financial statements require signiftcastimates and judgments:

Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee Revamli€allaboration Revenue

We recognize revenue in accordance with Securiied Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletio. N.O4, ‘Revenu
Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB 104").eWiave also adopted the provisions of Emergingeksstask Force, Issue No. QQ:
“Revenue Arrangements with Multiple DeliverablesEITF 00-21"). Revenue is recognized when there is persuasiveersgd that ¢
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, theepsifixed and determinable, and collection is oeably assured.
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In connection with our License, Development and @mrcialization Agreement dated October 30, 200& {King Agreement”)with
King Pharmaceuticals Research and Development, (fiKing”), we recognize program fee revenue, collaboratioremae and milestol
revenue.

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized ugppfayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront paryinfrom King received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the $Bidnnoption exercise fee paid by King to us inckeof May and December 2008 upon
exercise of its option to license a third and fouspioid analgesic product candidate under the Kiggeement. We have assigned an €
portion of the King upfront payment to each of thproduct candidates identified in the King Agreatrand recognize the upfront paymer
program fee revenue ratably over our estimate efldvelopment period for each identified productdidate. We recognized $27.9 millior
program fee revenue in 2008.

Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursemehtdevelopment expenses, which are invoiced qugrie arrears, and a
recognized when costs are incurred pursuant tiKihg Agreement. The ongoing research and developrservices being provided to Ki
under the collaboration are priced at fair valusdaupon the reimbursement of expenses incurresliant to the collaboration with King. \
recognized $11.5 million of collaboration revenoe€008 of which $3.5 million was a current receieadit December 31, 2008.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievéraggertain pre-defined events in the developntdnAcurox® Tablets and oth
product candidates licensed to King under the Kiggeement. Milestone payments from King are recogghias revenue upon achievemel
the “at risk” milestone events, which represent the culminatibthe earnings process related to that milestondeskbne payments ¢
triggered either by the results of our research dexklopment efforts or by events external to ushsas regulatory approval to mark
product. As such, the milestones are substantalisisk at the inception of the King Agreement, dhd amounts of the payments assig
thereto are commensurate with the milestone actlidneaddition, upon the achievement of a milestement, we have no future performa
obligations related to that milestone payment. Eadlestone payment is non-refundable and omditable when made. In June 2008, |
paid us a $5.0 million milestone payment for susfidly achieving the primary endpoints in our paoPhase Il study, AP-ADEO5 fol
Acurox® Tablets.

Research and Development

Research and Development (“R&D&kpenses include internal R&D activities, exter@&O activities, and other activities. Intel
R&D activity expenses include facility overheadugunent and facility maintenance and repairs, dgptien, laboratory supplies, painical
laboratory experiments, depreciation, salaries,efitsn and incentive compensation expenses. CR®@itgcexpenses include preclinic
laboratory experiments and clinical trial studi®her activity expenses include clinical trial sesdand regulatory consulting, and regula
counsel. Internal R&D activities and other activitypenses are charged to operations as incurrednake payments to the CRO's base
agreed upon terms and may include payments in advainthe study starting date. We review and ac@R®© expenses and clinical trial st
expenses based on work performed and rely upomasts of those costs applicable to the stage opladion of a study as provided by
CRO. Accrued CRO costs are subject to revisiorsuah trials progress to completion. Revisionscaigrged to expense in the period in w
the facts that give rise to the revision becomewknoAdvance payments are amortized to expense asebrk performed. We have ente
into several CRO clinical trial agreements pursuanthich $0 and $0.4 million was prepaid at Decentil, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
unfunded CRO commitments were $1.0 million and $dillion at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respedtjvahd are expected to be incui
as subjects are enrolled into the clinical studies.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moetin accordance with Statement of Financial Aatiolg Standards No. 109 ("SF.
No. 109"), "Accounting for Income Taxes." Understimethod, deferred income tax assets and liakildi®e determined based on differel
between financial reporting and income tax basiassits and liabilities and are measured usingrheted income tax rates and laws thai
be in effect when the differences are expectecvtense. Additionally, net operating loss and taedircarryforwards are reported as defe
income tax assets. The realization of deferredrre tax assets is dependent upon future earnifgsS 309 requires a valuation allowa
against deferred income tax assets if, based oweight of available evidence, it is more likelathnot that some or all of the deferred inc
tax assets may not be realized. We determinedstmore likely than not that it would be able talime some of its deferred income tax as
in the near future, and recorded adjustments & §illion and $9.6 million to the deferred incona tasset valuation allowance during 2
and 2007, respectively. These adjustments recograzbenefit from income taxes in our income forhsperiods and provided a curr
deferred income tax asset. At both December 318 20 2007, 100% of the remaining net deferrednmedax assets were offset b
valuation allowance due to uncertainties with respe future utilization of net operating loss gdorwards. If in the future it is determined t
additional amounts of our deferred income tax asaetuld likely be realized, the valuation allowamesuld be reduced in the period in wk
such determination is made and an additional befiefn income taxes in such period would be recoegghi
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Stock Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted Financial Accoun8tandards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 123 (reli2@04), “SharéBase!
Payment”, (“FASB 123R")This change in accounting replaces existing requérgs under Statement of Financial Accounting SteadslNa
123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFE3”) and eliminates the ability to account fhaiebased compensation transac
using Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 2Bctounting for Stock Issued to Employees," andtegldnterpretations ("APB No. 25
The compensation cost related to shassed payment transactions is now measured basé&roralue of the equity or liability instrume
issued. For purposes of estimating the fair valueazh stock option unit on the date of grant, wizad the Black-Scholes optiopricing
model. The Blackscholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optionsjch have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. addition, option valuation models require the inpéithighly subjective assumptions including
expected volatility factor of the market price afracommon stock (as determined by reviewing itd¢ohnisal public market closing price
Because our employee stock options have charaatersgnificantly different from those of tradetimms and because changes in the subje
input assumptions can materially affect the failugaestimate, in managementpinion, the existing models do not necessarnityide ¢
reliable measure of the fair value of its emplogexk options.

We had previously accounted for stdmésed compensation using the intrinsic value methaatcordance with APB No. 25 and
adopted the disclosure provisions of Statementioéri€ial Accounting Standards No. 148, "Accountfiog Stock-Based Compensation -
Transition and Disclosure, ("SFAS No. 148"), an adraent of SFAS 123. Under APB No. 25, when the @gerprice of our employee stc
options equaled the market price of the underlgioagimon stock on the date of grant, no compensatipense was recognized. Accordin
no compensation expense had been recognized icotisolidated financial statements in connectior whiese types of grants for 2005
earlier. When the exercise price of our employteeksoptions was less than the market price ofuth@erlying common stock on the datt
grant, compensation expense was recognized. Eiggityiments issued to nonemployees in exchanggdods, fees and services are accol
for under the fair value-based method of SFAS N3(R).

Our accounting for stock-based compensation fdrictsd stock units (“RSUs”) has been based orfdirevalue method. The fair val
of the RSUs is the market price of our common sttkhe date of grant, less its exercise cost.

Debt Discount

For years 2007 and prior, debt discount resultiogfthe issuance of common stock warrants in cdiorewvith subordinated debt a
other notes payable as well as from beneficial eosion features contained in convertible debt vea®nmded as a reduction of the rel:
obligations and was amortized over the remainifegdf the related obligations. Debt discount redatethe common stock warrants issued
determined by a calculation based on the relatievialues ascribed to such warrants determinethbgagement's use of the Blaskhole
valuation model. Inherent in the Bla8choles valuation model are assumptions made byageament regarding the estimated life of
warrant, the estimated volatility of our commoncktdas determined by reviewing its historical pabtiarket closing prices) and the expe
dividend yield.

Conversion Features and Common Stock Warrants

For years 2006 and 2007 certain provisions of theraled conversion features contained in our Bridggn Agreements required us
separate the value of the conversion feature ftoendebt and record such value as a separate tijabitich was marked-toaarket at eac
balance sheet date. We used the Black-Scholesnepticing model to compute the estimated fair vatfi¢he conversion features. Marked-to-
market adjustments resulted in the recording dh&mrgains and losses.

As a result of the amendment to the Bridge Loare&grents, all outstanding common stock purchaseanarivere fair valued using

Black - Scholes option-pricing model and recordedaaliability with a corresponding reduction in #abhal paidin capital. This warra
liability was marked-to-market each balance shag @hich resulted in the recording of further gaamd losses.
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Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures during 2008, 2007 and 2086 $143,000, $31,000 and $85,000 respectivelpit@l expenditures in ez
such year were attributable to the purchase ohsfitzequipment and improvements to the Culvediama facility.

Impact of Inflation
We believe that inflation did not have a matenmapact on our operations for the periods reported.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Some of the securities that we invest in may bgestibo market risk. Our primary objective in aash management activities i
preserve principal while at the same time maxingzincome we receive from our investments. A changde prevailing interest rates n
cause the principal amount of our investments uotflate. We have no holdings of derivative finaheind commodity instruments. As
December 31, 2008, our investments consisted pifinadrinvestments in U.S. Treasury Bills or in megnmarket accountsand checking func

with variable, market rates of interest.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
This item is submitted as a separate section sfRleport commencing on page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Proceduréd&e have conducted an evaluation, under the supanvisad with the participatic
of our management, including our Chief Executivdicef and Chief Financial Officer of the effectivess of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 1344. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Execufiiécer and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosuretoois and procedures are effective in timely ahgrtihem to material information relating
the Company (including our subsidiary) requirecb®included in our periodic Securities and Excha@genmission filings. No significa
changes were made in our internal controls or heofactors that could significantly affect thesntrols subsequent to the date of t
evaluation.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting. Our management is responsible for establishimgraaintainin
adequate internal control over financial reportimgternal control over financial reporting is defd in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15b(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act as a procesgndésd by, or under the supervision of, our ppatiexecutive and principal financ
officers and effected by our board of directorsnagement and other personnel, to provide reasoragigrance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordante generally accepted accounting princi
and includes those policies and procedures that:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that in retdle detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and disposition
our assets

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaeoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples; and that our receipts and expenditures amegbmade only i
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshtiéectors; ant

» Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of ot
assets that could have a material effect on tlantial statement
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtsver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢teisstatements. Therefore, e
those systems determined to be effective can peowdly reasonable assurance with respect to finhratatement preparation ¢
presentation. Also, projections of any evaluatiéreffectiveness to future periods are subjechtrisk that controls may become inadeqg
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures mieteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of teanah control over financial reporting as of Det®mm31, 2008. In making tt
assessment, management used the criteria settiprthe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Theadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control -Integrated Framework. Based on our assessmengigearent believes that, as of December 31, 2008intemnal contrc
over financial reporting is effective based on thosteria.

The attestation report concerning the effectiversdssur internal control over financial reporting af December 31, 2008 issuec
BDO Seidman, LLP, an independent registered paagounting firm, appears at the end of this Item 9A

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogin There was no change in our internal control dirancial reporting thi

occurred during the period covered by this Repuat has materially affected, or is reasonably Jikel materially affect, our internal cont
over-financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We have audited Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s emdubsidiarys internal control over financial reporting asDdcember 31, 2008, basec
criteria established irnternal Control—Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadws
Commission (the COSO criteria). Acura Pharmacelstickic.’s and its subsidiary’management is responsible for maintaining effe
internal control over financial reporting and fég assessment of the effectiveness of internalraloatver financial reporting, included in 1
accompanying Item 9A, ManagemenReport on Internal Control Over Financial RepgtiOur responsibility is to express an opiniontloe
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiogsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadslof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8a&@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal contka@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, and testing aatl&ing the design and operating effectivenedsatefnal control based on the assessed
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestatée believe that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @gpess designed to provide reasonable assurancaeliregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsdor external purposes in accordance with gelyeescepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdéhose policies and procedures that (1) pertathe¢anaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseo€dimpany; (2) provide reasonable assut
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@gamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef company are being made only in accordance withogéizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanasisurance regarding prevention or timely deteatiounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @tteisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andsisidiary maintained, in all material respecféeative internal control over financ
reporting as of December 31, 2008 based on the COEDia.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), the consolida
balance sheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. abdi@ary as of December 31, 2008 and DecembeP@17, and the related consolide
statements of operations, stockholdeuity and cash flows for each of the three yeathé period ended December 31, 2008, and ourt
dated February 27, 2009 expressed an unqualifisdoopthereon.

Chicago, lllinois /s/ BDO Seidman, LLI
February 27, 200
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Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.
PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE
Directors and Executive Officers

Our directors and executive officers are as foltows

NAME AGE POSITION

Andrew D. Reddicl 56 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Robert B. Jone 50 Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Offi
Peter A. Clemen 56 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer &8etretary
James F. Emig 53 Vice President of Marketing and Administrati
Robert A. Seise 45 Vice President, Treasurer and Corporate Contr
Albert W. Brzeczkc 52 Vice President, Technical Affai

Bruce F. Wesso 66 Director

William A. Sumnet 71 Director

Richard J. Markhar 58 Director

William G. Skelly 58 Director

Immanuel Thangar: 38 Director

George K. Ros 67 Director

Andrew D. Reddick has been President and Chief Ekex Officer since August, 2003 and a member of Board of Directors since Augu
2004. From April, 2000 to September, 2002 Mr. Rekidvas Chief Operating Officer and Sr. Vice Prestdeommercial Operations for Ado
Corporation and from June, 1999 to March, 2000drgesl as President of Faulding Laboratories, Inc. Réddick holds a Bachelor of A
degree in Biology from the University of Califorréad a Masters of Business Administration degrem fbuke University.

Robert B. Jones has been our Senior Vice Presa@htChief Operating Officer since April 7, 20080k May, 2003 to March, 2008, N
Jones served first as the Vice President, Finandetlzen as Vice President, Strategy and Businesdysis of Adolor Corporation. Frc
November 2000 to May, 2003 he served as Vice Reasidrinance and then as Chief Operating OfficeDpi-E-Script, Inc., a privately he
personalized medicine company where Mr. Jones waponsible for all commercialization activitiesiioP to that, Mr. Jones was Vi
President, Sales and Marketing for Purepac PhantiaaeCompany. Mr. Jones received his M.B.A. friva University of North Carolina a
a B.S. from Cornell University.

Peter A. Clemens has been Senior Vice Presidemgf Emancial Officer and Secretary since April 200r. Clemens was our Vice Presid
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary from Februa®®8 to March 2004 and a member of our Board oé®@drs from June, 1998 to Augt
2004. Mr. Clemens is a Certified Public Accountant earned a Bachelor of Business Administratiagrese from the University of Not
Dame and a Masters of Business Administration fhadiana University.

James F. Emigh has been Vice President of Marketitdy Administration since April 2004. Prior to sutime, Mr. Emigh was our Vi
President of Sales and Marketing. Mr. Emigh joinedn May, 1998, serving first as Executive DireabCustomer Relations and then as
President of Operations until November, 2002. Mmidgh holds a Bachelor of Pharmacy degree from Wathh State University anc
Masters of Business Administration from George MeSaiversity.
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Robert A. Seiser has been a Vice President, Treasund Corporate Controller since April 2004. Meisgr joined us in March 1998 as
Treasurer and Corporate Controller. Mr. Seiser @estified Public Accountant and earned a Bachefddusiness Administration degree fr
Loyola University of Chicago.

Albert W. Brzeczko, Ph.D., has been Vice Presid€athnical Affairs since February 2009. From 189%®ugh 2009, Dr. Brzeczko was V
President, Global Pharma New Product DevelopmedtRitarma Technologies for International SpecialydBcts, Inc., a contract servi
group specializing in the development of technadedor the bioenhancement of poorly soluble druggor to 1999, Dr. Brzeczko held varic
positions of increasing responsibility in pharmaasal product development with UPM Pharmaceutic&snner Pharmacaps, My
Laboratories, and DuPont Merck. Dr. Brzeczko reegia Bachelor of Science degree in biochemistd/af®h.D. in pharmaceutical scier
from the University of Maryland.

Bruce F. Wesson has been a member of our Boardre€trs since March, 1998. Mr. Wesson has beeartn& of Galen Associates, a he
care venture firm, and a General Partner of GadnErs lll, L.P. since January 1991. Prior to 2apul1991, he was Senior Vice President
Managing Director of Smith Barney, Harris Upham &.CGnc., an investment banking firm. He currergbrves on the Boards of Det
Sciences, Inc., Chemtura Corporation, and as Vicair@an of the Board of MedAssets, Inc., each digyktraded company. Mr. Wess
earned a Bachelor of Arts degree from Colgate Usityeand a Masters of Business Administration fréoiumbia University.

William A. Sumner has been a member of our BoarBioéctors since August, 1997. From 1974 untildeSrement in 1995, Mr. Sumner h
various positions within Hoech&eussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including Vice Fessi and General Manager, Dermatology Division
1991 through 1995, Vice President, Strategic Bissineevelopment, from 1989 to 1991 and Vice Presjddarketing from 1985 to 19¢
Since his retirement from Hoech’tussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in 1995, Mr. Sumasrderved as a consultant in the pharmaceuticasiry
He currently serves on the Board of Ingredient lrations International, a privately held company.. umner earned a Bachelor of /
degree from Montclair State University and a Masfehrts degree from the University of Virginia.

Richard J. Markham has been a member of our Boafdirectors since May, 2006. Since November, 2004 Markham has served a
partner at Care Capital, LLC, a venture capitahfthat primarily invests in life sciences companig®m May 2002 until August 2004, )
Markham was the Vice Chairman of the Management@aad Chief Operating Officer of Aventis SA. Fr@ecember, 1999 until May, 20
he was the Chief Executive Officer of Aventis Phar&G. Previously he was the Chief Executive OffioéHHoechst Marion Roussel, 1
President and Chief Operating Officer of Marion kérDow, Inc. and a member of its board of direstd~rom 1973 to 1993 Mr. Markh:
was associated with Merck & Co. Inc., culminatimghis position as President and Chief Operatingc®ff Mr. Markham received a B.S.
Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences from Purdivendity.

William G. Skelly has been a member of our Boar®wéctors since May, 1996 and served as our Clairfrom October, 1996 through Ju
2000. Since 1990, Mr. Skelly has served as Chairfesident and Chief Executive Officer of CenBalmedia, Inc. and its subsidiary SEF
Inc. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Skelly served as Peasicbf Martec Pharmaceutical, Inc. Mr. Skelly earrse Bachelor of Arts degree fr
Michigan State University and a Masters of Busin&gministration from the University of Missouri-Kaas City.

Immanuel Thangaraj has been a member of our Bddbitectors since December, 2002. Mr. Thangarajiieen a Managing Director of Es
Woodlands Health Ventures, a venture capital fipacgalizing in the healthcare industry, since 198Tior to joining Essex Woodlands He:i
Ventures, he helped establish a telecommunicaBovices company, for which he served as its CEQ.TWangaraj holds a Bachelor of £
and a Masters in Business Administration from tméversity of Chicago.
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George K. Ross has been a member of our Boardret@is since January, 2008. Since April 2002, Rtyss has been a consultant to ¢
stage businesses and a financial investor. Sulge2005 he has served as Executive Director, Fatimis and Partnerships for World Vis
U.S. in New York City. His business career haduded senior financial officer and board membesifpans with both public and prive
companies in diverse industries. Mr. Ross was &k Vice President and Chief Financial Officedamboard member of Tier Technolog
Inc. from February 1997 to January 2000, which brexa public company during this period. Mr. Rass iCertified Public Accountant &
earned a Bachelor of Arts degree from Ohio Wesldyaiversity and a Masters of Business Administrafimm Ohio State University.

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., serves on a part-time (@aeutive officer) basis as our Senior Scientifdvor since January 1, 2009. From A
2004 through December 31, 2008 Dr. Spivey was emids Vice President and Chief Scientific OfficErom June, 2003 to March, 2004
Spivey was President of Gibraltar Associates, eapei consulting services company for the pharmézaunhdustry. From March, 1998 to Mi
2002 he served as Vice President, Scientific Affér Alpharma/Purepac Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Sphays a Bachelor of Arts degree fr
Indiana University and a Ph.D. degree in pharmacefriom the University of lowa.

As of the date of this Report, the Company had dlbtime employees, nine of whom are engaged in theareh, development a

manufacture of product candidates utilizing the @isien ® Technology. The remaining employees are engageddministrative, lege
accounting, finance, market research, businesdaj@vent and business development activities. Abaf senior management and most of
other employees have had prior experience in phaguigcal or biotechnology companies. None of oupleyees is covered by collect
bargaining agreements. We believe that our relatwith our employees are good.

Corporate Governance
Audit Committee

From January 1, 2008 until January 23, 2008, thmipees of Audit Committee of the Board of Directarsre William A. Sumne
Chairman, Immanuel Thangaraj and Bruce F. WessanJaduary 24, 2008, the Audit Committee was redomstl and effective at such d:
the members are George K. Ross, Chairman, WilliarSumner and William G. Skelly. The Audit Committiseresponsible for selecting -
Companys registered independent public accounting firnpraging the audit fee payable to the auditors, warkvith independent auditc
and other corporate officials, reviewing the scapd results of the audit by, and the recommendatidnour independent auditors, appro
the services provided by the auditors, reviewing fmmancial statements and reporting on the rexflthe audits to the Board, reviewing
insurance coverage, financial controls and filimgth the SEC, including, meeting quarterly priortte filing of our quarterly and anni
reports containing financial statements filed wihile SEC, and submitting to the Board its recommgniaia relating to our financial reportit
accounting practices and policies and financiaipaating and operational controls.

In assessing the independence of the Audit Comenittembers during 2008, our Board reviewed and aedlyhe standards -
independence provided in NASDAQ Marketplace Rul®04a)(15) and applicable SEC regulations. Basethisnanalysis, with respect to
Audit Committee composition from January 1, 2008&auary 23, 2008 our Board determined that Mr. i®&rmwas an independent membe
the Audit Committee, and that Messrs. Wesson arah@éraj did not satisfy such standards for indepeoel as a result of their position:
entities having a controlling interest in GCE Halg, LLC, our 78% shareholder. GCE Holdings, LLCswlae assignee of all our prefer
shares previously held by each of Care Capitaldtments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures.¥, and Galen Partners Ill, L.P.
view of the controlling interests in GCE Holding4,C held by each of Galen Partners lll, L.P., ofiethMr. Wesson is a general partner,
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., of which Mhangaraj is a general partner, each of Me¥gesson and Thangaraj failed to sal
the standards for independence set forth in thiedistandards of the NASDAQ Capital Market andlapble SEC regulations. Neverthel
our Board valued the experience of Messrs. WessadnThangaraj and believes that each was able tcisgeindependent judgment in
performance of his duties on the Audit Committe®tigh January 23, 2008.

In assessing the independence of the Audit Comenégecomprised as of January 24, 2008, and asndyremmprised, our Boa
reviewed and analyzed the standards for indepeedgrovided in NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15)daapplicable SE
regulations. Based on this analysis, our Board determined that each of Messrs. Ross, Sumner &ally Satisfies such standards
independence. Our Board also determined that MssRs a “financial expertis provided in NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4350(d)(29)éhc
SEC regulations.
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The Charter of our Audit Committee is availablecam website, www.acurapharm.com, under the linkhf&/Audit Charter.”
Compensation Committee

From January 1, 2008 until January 23, 2008, thembegs of Compensation Committee of the Board oéfors were Andrew |
Reddick, Richard J. Markham and William G. Skelyn January 24, 2008, the Compensation Committeeraeonstituted and effective
such date, the members are Richard J. Markham,@haj Bruce F. Wesson and Immanuel Thangaraj. @dismittee is responsible
consulting with and making recommendations to tlarB of Directors about executive compensation @ndpensation of employees.
“Item 11. Executive Compensation —Board Procdéss’a summary of the procedures for approving campton for our senior managemn
and employees. The Compensation Committee doesaveta formal written charter. See “ltem 11. dtiwve CompensatiorRCompensatic
Discussion and Analysis " below.

Although the listing standards of the NASDAQ Capitéarket specify that the compensation of our exieeuofficers must
determined, or recommended to the Board, eithea lgajority of independent directors or a compensatiommittee comprised solely
independent directors, we are relying on the “aadlgtd company’exemption provided in the listing standards of NMESDAQ Capital Marke
in having each of Messrs. Markham, Wesson and Tdrangs members of the Compensation Committee.

Nominating Committee

Currently our entire Board of Directors functiorssaur nominating committee. As needed, the Boalidpeiform the functions typic
of a nominating committee, including the identifica, recruitment and selection of nominees foctb®m to our Board. Three of our se'
members of the Board (Messrs. Sumner, Skelly argsRare "independent” as that term is defined utiderules of the NASDAQ Capi
Market and SEC regulations and participate with ¢h&re Board in the consideration of director noegis. We believe that a nomina
committee separate from the Board is not necesstthis time, given our relative size and the feour Board and that an additio
committee of the Board would not add to the effemiess of the evaluation and nomination process.Bdard's process for recruiting
selecting nominees for Board members, if requiredyld be to identify individuals who are thoughtave the business background
experience, industry specific knowledge and geneepltation and expertise allowing them to contebas effective directors to ¢
governance, and who would be willing to serve asatiors of a public company. To date, we have mgaged any third party to assis
identifying or evaluating potential nominees. Ip@ssible candidate is identified, the individuall wieet with each member of the Board an
sounded out concerning his/her possible interest willingness to serve, and Board members woulctudis amongst themselves
individual's potential to be an effective Board niem If the discussions and evaluation are positive individual would be invited to serve
the Board. To date, no shareholder has presentedaendidate for Board membership for consideratiog we do not have a specific policy
shareholderecommended director candidates. The Board beli¢vggocess for evaluation of nominees proposedhayeholders would be
different than the process of evaluating any otlaexdidate.

Shareholder Communications to the Board

Shareholders who wish to send communications toBaard of Directors may do so by sending them ire ad our Secretary at t
address on the cover page of this Report. The epgatontaining such communication must contairearahotation indicating that the enclo
letter is a "Shareholder-Board Communication” ohdf&holdeirector Communication” or similar statement thitacly and unmistakahb
indicates the communication is intended for the rBo&ll such communications must clearly indicalte tauthor as a shareholder and
whether the intended recipients are all membeth@Board or just certain specified directors. Gacretary will have the discretion to sct
and not forward to Directors communications whible Secretary determines in his or her discreti@ncammunications unrelated to
business or our governance, commercial solicitation communications that are offensive, obscenetterwise inappropriate. The Secre
will, however, compile all shareholder communicatiavhich are not forwarded and such communicatidh®e available to any Director.
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Code of Ethics

Our Code of Ethics applicable to our principal exae officer, principal financial officer, princgy accounting officer and all of ¢
other employees is available on our website, wwuwraggharm.com, under the link “Ethics/Audit Charter”

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f4133 amended, requires our Directors and execatfieers, and persons who o
beneficially more than ten percent (10%) of our Guon Stock, to file reports of ownership and changfeswnership with the SEC. Copies
all filed reports are required to be furnished ® pursuant to Section 16(a). Based solely on tiperte received by us and on writ
representations from reporting persons, we belieaeour Directors, executive officers and greéiten ten percent (10%) beneficial owner
our Common Stock complied with all Section 16(&h§ji requirements during the year ended Decembg2@Qd8.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Unless otherwise noted all share and share pridermation with respect to our common stock giveatffo a 1 for 10 reverse stc
split implemented December 5, 2007.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Our executive compensation program consists @ripnnual salary and bonus compensation and (iijyemcentives represented
the issuance of stock options and restricted stotts (“RSUSs”). The salary, bonuses, and equity incentives senlakoexecutive pay 1
corporate performance.

Policies for Allocating Between Various Forms ofngeensatior

For a number of years prior to 2007, because wertsdficient cash reserves, our ability to paylchenuses and increase salaries
limited. As a result, we did not grant cash bonuseincrease salaries to our principal executiveshie three years ended Decembel
2006. Instead we sought to incentivize our semianagement with equity compensation in the forrstok options and RSUs.

In 2004 and 2005 we issued stock options to ourd@yeps with an exercise price at a discount taltee current trading price for ¢
common stock. Because our stock price is basedlatively low trading volume and a small publiodt, it can fluctuate widely at times. A
result, we determined that the issuance of RSUsepted a number of advantages. First, it allowt® usduce the dilutive effect of this equity-
based compensation, as there are fewer shareslyingea restricted stock award than an equivalémtlsoption award. Second, the ves
schedule of the RSUs was structured to minimizeptitential excise tax under Section 280G of therhdl Revenue Code upon a chang
control. Third, stock options issued at a discduate unfavorable tax and accounting consequertemsith, it is difficult to set an exerc
price for options due to the low trading volume anahll public float for our common stock.

As a result, in 2005 we established a restrictedkstinit plan (the “2005 RSU Planédnd issued RSUs aggregating 2,750,000 sha
employees. Of such RSU awards, 30%, 24%, 16%, f@lo 5% were issued to Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, Qlsm&eiser and Emic
respectively. It is likely we will maintain similabut not necessarily identical ratios of distribat of equity awards in the future to th
persons and/or persons in similar positions. Iditaxh, RSUs with respect to 100,000 shares wesaeid to each of our two indepenc
directors in 2006. In April 2008, we issued RSdgragating 50,000 shares to Robert B. Jones, aupiS¥ice President and Chief Operat
Officer upon his commencement of employment. dohecase, the number of RSUs we issued was infukebyg the closing price of the st
underlying the RSUs on the date of grant. As altexf an amendment to our RSU Plan approved byBmard in March 2008, which w
ratified by our shareholders in April 2008, we ieased the number of RSUs available for issuanceruhd 2005 RSU Plan from 3 million
3.5 million. As a result, 500,000 RSUs are ava@dbr issuance under the 2005 RSU Plan.
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Following the completion of our Unit Offering in Aust 2007 and the consummation of the King Agreé¢rimeBecember 2007, o
cash position improved and we were able to increat®ies and grant bonuses to our employees assdsd below under the captiosdlary
and Bonus'. In addition to periodic awards of equity-bassmmpensation (see “Stock Optionsdlow), our objective is to award merit ba
cash bonuses and salary increases on an annusldmisg forward. The amounts and timing of any sawfards will be subject to availa
cash reserves and the satisfaction of employeeneahce objectives established by our Chief Exeeu®@fficer and the Compensat
Committee. Our equitirased compensation going forward is targeted twadlenior management as a group to own betweennsPd@% o
our outstanding common stock, so as to align th&drests with shareholders’ interests.

In 2007, no stock options or RSU awards were madsehior management. In view of our improved casterves following tf
closing of the King Agreement, and recognizing thatsalary increases or bonuses had been awardesitr management over the prior -
years, the Compensation Committee and the Boardrrdated that salary increases and bonuses for sankted execute officer w
appropriate. As part of its analysis the Compeasa@ommittee and the Board considered the stotbmmpnd RSU awards previously mad
the named executive officers in 2004 and 2005 a@terchined that additional equity incentive compénsavas not warranted in 2007.

As discussed below under the caption “Stock Optioims2008, we awarded stock options to employees sutth options having
exercise price equal to the fair market value af@ommon Stock on the date of grant. These stptikms were awarded in recognition tha
equity-based compensation awards had been grantsd 205 and in an effort to retain valued empésye

Salary and Bonus

Each of Andrew Reddick, Robert Jones and Peter €lsnare parties to employment agreements, desctibddr the captic
“Employment Agreementsbelow, which provide the minimum annual base satarppe payable to such officers, subject to inaeaisth:
discretion of the Board. Giving effect to an ammedt to our Employment Agreement with Ron Spivdfeative January 1, 2009, Dr. Spi\
is employed on a part-time (noexecutive officer) basis pursuant to which he witirk 10 weeks per year through December 31, 201du
Senior Scientific Advisor at an annual salary 02&000. For 2008, the annual salaries of MessesldiRk, Jones, Spivey and Clemens \
$365,000, $290,000, $315,000 and $205,000, respéctiln addition, the Reddick, Jones and Clememployment agreements provide
and the Spivey employment agreement provided fampal bonus payments, in the discretion of the Gamsgtion Committee or the Boe
subject to the satisfaction of such targets, caombt or parameters as may be agreed upon from timéne by the employee and
Compensation Committee. In December 2007, Med$Resldick, Spivey and Clemens were awarded bonusek8®®,000, $650,000 a
$180,000, respectively. These amounts were based gercentage of such executs/&ase salary, ranging from 25% to 70%, for each
during the four year period ended December 31, Z80responding to the period over which no bonusese paid to senior managen
because of our limited cash reserve§)he 2007 salary and bonus performance targets &sskd. Reddick, Spivey and Clemens consistt
among other things, the completion of a privateifig of our securities resulting in net proceeflatdeast $10.0 million to fund operation
the conversion of our outstanding, shiemm bridge loans into equity or long term debtrinstions, the repayment of our $5.0 million sed

promissory note and the license of product candglaittilizing our Aversion® Technology to a pharmaceutical company partnech
performance targets were both organization andvididél goals. The salary increases and bonus @fard?007 for Messrs. Reddick, Spi'
and Clemens reflect the achievement of such pedoom targets.

The salary and bonus performance targets for MeBeddick, Spivey, Jones and Clemens for 2008 stetsbf advancing our Acur
© (oxycodone HCI and niacin) Tablets and other prtglusing our Aversioft Technology through proof of concept and clinicatelepment
implementing the King Agreement, licensing of agtgtill products to King through the exercise of Kmgptions under the King Agreem
and licensing products utilizing our AversiS)nTechnology outside of North AmericaSuch performance targets are both organizatiol
individual goals. In 2008 we advanced several products using our Avergd'rechnology, licensed two additional products to dianc

advanced our AcuroX (oxycodone HCI and niacin) Tablets by submittingd&(®)(2) NDA to the FDA. Considering these achreeats, w
awarded bonuses of $328,500, $315,000, $130,5006408,500 to Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, Jones andhé@ls. In addition, in order
induce Dr. Spivey to remain as a full time employemugh December 31, 2008, we paid him an additi@315,000 retention bonus
December 31, 2008. Although salaries were incab&®e2009 for norexecutive officer employees, no salary increases @mnted to Mess
Reddick, Jones or Clemens for 2009. Dr. Spivesabe a part-time employee in 2009, at an annuatsaf $120,000 per year.
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The material salary and bonus performance targat2®09 consist of the approval by the FDA of theurox ® Tablet NDA

advancement of additional product candidates (bpibid and non-opioid) utilizing Aversiof Technology, and expansion of our intellec
property portfolio relative to abuse deterrent teathgies. Such performance targets are both argtion and individual goals

No compensation will be earned with respect to fopmance measure unless a performance "floortHfat measure is exceeded,;
incentive opportunity with respect to a measure gl earned if the target is achieved; achieverhetween the floor and the target results
lower amount of award with respect to that perfaroeameasure. An amount larger than the incentpgoxiunity for each performan
measure can be earned, up to and possibly exceadipgcified limit, for exceeding the target foattmeasure. In setting compensation le
the Compensation Committee compares our Compangotopanies of comparable business focus, marketadiaption, technologic
capabilities and market in which we compete forcexiges. As part of this process, the Compensdliommittee and the Board does not
the compensation levels of comparable companieBeashmarks, rather as a factor in evaluating thepemsation levels of the nam
executive officer. To date, compensation constdtdrave not been retained by the Compensation Ctteamor the Board as part of 1
process.

In ascertaining the achieved level of performaagainst the targets, the effects of certain extliaary events, as determined by
Compensation Committee, such as (i) major acqaisstiand divestitures, (ii) significant otime charges, and (iii) changes in accour
principles required by the Financial Accountingri8tards Board, are "compensation neutral” for theer y@ which they occurred; that is, tt
are not taken into account in determining the de¢wewnhich the targets are met in that year.

The Compensation Committee may, after a reviewnoéxecutive’'s performance, recommentth the Board that a bonus awarc
made to such executives based upon other emoimmerated performance targets (whether or not they parties to employme
agreements). This could result in the award adrgahcreases or bonuses above a targeted rangsmamo

For our other executive officers not subject toeamployment contract (Messrs. Emigh and Seiser)Citrapensation Committee v
set the annual salary for such executive officetsvben December and March and establish potdidials compensation that such execu
may earn based upon quantitative and, if applicaipelitative performance goals established byGoepensation Committee. For 2C
Messrs. Emigh’s and Seissrsalaries were $160,000 and $160,000 respectivelyDecember 2007, Messrs Emigh and Seiser wetk
awarded bonuses of $140,000. This amount was lmasadercentage of such executivbase salary, ranging from 26% to 32%, for eaeh
in the four year period ended December 31, 200it€sponding to the period over which no bonusesweid to senior management bec.
of our limited cash reserves). The salary and bonus performance targets in 200'Mfssrs. Emigh and Seiser were the same as
described above for Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, amin€hs, and were both organization and individualggorhe salary increases and b
awards for Messrs. Emigh and Seiser in 2007 reftectichievement of such performance targets.

The salary and bonus performance targets for bathské. Emigh and Seiser for 2008 consisted of aivguour Acurox® Tablets an

other products utilizing our AversioR Technology through proof of concept and clinical&lepment, implementing the King Agreem:
licensing of additional products to King througte tbxercise of King options under the King Agreement, and licensirgglpcts utilizing oL

Aversion® Technology outside of North America. Such perforotargets were both organization and individualgo For the reasons ste
above in the case of Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, JandsClemens, we paid bonuses of $56,000 and $3Q@0/essrs. Seiser and Emi
respectively, for 2008. Although salaries wereréased for 2009 for noexecutive officer employees, no salary increasese weanted t
Messrs. Seiser or Emigh for 2009 in an effort tasgwve cash and minimize fixed expenses. Messeei@iand Emigls performance targe
for 2009 are the same as those for Reddick, Jame€kemens, stated above. These are both indivédhuhorganization goals.
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Stock Options

One longterm component of our executive compensation prageansists of stock option grants. The options galyepermit the
option holder to buy the number of shares of oum@wmn Stock covered by the option (an "option exerdiat a price fixed at the time
grant. While we have historically granted stockiaps having an exercise price equal to the fairketavalue of our Common Stock on the «
of grant and continued this practice in 2008, dy2004 and 2005, we issued stock options to oul@reps at a discount to the trading pric
our common stock. The vesting of these optiongndu2006, 2007 and 2008 is reflected in the “Optidwards” options column of tt
Summary Compensation Table below. It is our exqtemt that discounted stock option grants will agétiat all, only on an isolated basis
the future where circumstances warrant. With resfgestock options grants having an exercise gl to the market price of our Comr
Stock on the date of grant, such options genegalig value only to the extent our stock price ersdbe option exercise price during the lif
the option. Generally, a portion of the optionstv@ger a period of time if the option holder renmsan employee and expire no later tha
years after grant. Executives will generally bbjsat to limitations in selling the option stockrimediately due to securities law considerati
and therefore will have an incentive to increaseresholder value. In 2007 no option grants were entad our executive officers as
Compensation Committee and the Board elected tot gra@ary increases and bonuses instead basedramproved cash position and
absence of the award of such cash incentives dthigrior four years.

On April 7, 2008, the date Mr. Jones joined us asi@ Vice President and Chief Operating Officer,was granted stock optic
exercisable for 30,000 shares. Such options haexarcise price equal to the fair market valuewfCommon Stock on the date of grant
vest in equal installments over twenty monthsMiay 2008, following shareholder approval of our &tock Option Plan, we granted st
options for an aggregate 1,040,000 shares exeleigalfiair market value on the date of grant to employees, including options for 250,C
160,000, 160,000, 100,000, 80,000, and 80,000 shtweMessrs. Reddick, Spivey, Jones, ClemensgeSaisd Emigh, respectively, wh
represented 24%, 15%, 15%, 10%, 8% and 8% of tliergpgranted to all employees, generally. Thesatg were intended to directly al
the interests of all Company employees with thergdts of our shareholders and to help retain dadumeployees. These were the first s
option grants since 2004 (other than those issoiddirt Jones upon his commencement of employmerdeasribed above). These options
in equal installments over 24 months.

Timing Policies with Respect to Options

We have no plan or practice to time option grantsdordination with the release of npoblic information and we do not time
release of nomublic information to affect the value of executis@mpensation. Option grant dates for options dsaenew executive office
will likely be the date of their employment or exéion of their agreements. Any such options maysbeed at a discount to take into acc
the limited public float and the wide ranges in stock price.

Restricted Stock Uni

Another component of our executive compensatiorgiam is the grant of RSUs under our 2005 RSU PRriRSU represents
contingent obligation to deliver a share of our aoon stock to the holder of the RSU on a distributitate. Each RSU award made to
executives in 2005 vested otterd (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tihligrincrements on the first day of each month beiyic
January 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 2007. Wassale the vested shares underlying the RSU awandthe earlier of (i) a Change
Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Plan), ori¢ifour annual installments starting on Januarg@l,1. In the event of a Change of Con
our issuance of the vested shares shall be maddump sum distribution. In the absence of a ChamigControl, the issuance of the ve:
shares shall be made in four (4) equal installmentsach of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, daau2013 and January 1, 2014. Upon
distribution of the vested shares underlying théJRS8vards, the recipients must submit to us thevpdre of $0.01 per share. In 2005,
granted Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, Clemens, SeisgrEamigh RSU awards with respect to 825,000, 66Q,dd0,000, 165,000 and 137,
underlying shares, respectively. In the case ofdvie Reddick, Spivey and Clemens, such awardsrediected in their employme
agreements. The vesting during 2006 and 2007 ®fRBUs granted in 2005 is reflected in the “Stockasds” column of the Summa
Compensation Table, below. In April 2008, upomoeencement of his employment, Mr. Jones was graantddSU award for 50,000 sha
which vests monthly in 2,500 share installments mamcing May 31, 2008 No additional RSUs were t@no our executive officers in 2C
or 2008 as the Compensation Committee and the Baaatied to grant salary increases in 2007, oieards in 2008 and bonuses in 2007
2008.
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Termination/Severance Benefits

The employment agreement of each of Messrs. Reddakes and Clemens provide (and Dr. Spiv@agreement in effect in 201
provided) severance benefits under certain circantg&s. The severance benefits provided to eathesterutive differ, but include payme
of a pro rata bonus or non equity incentive comagas, one to two years of salary and one to twaryef benefits. SeeEmploymen
Agreements” and “Quantifying Termination/ChangeCaintrol Paymentsin this Item 11. We believe severance arrangenfentte highe:
level officers help them to focus on their respeetiob functions even while we are experiencing edmancial difficulties and gives the
comfort that we will not lightly terminate their goyment. We believe these severance benefits mecessary to be able to initially hire
to retain these executives. In turn Messrs. Réddiones and Clemens have agreed after their emploly with us ends under cert
circumstances not to compete or solicit our empayfer hire for a limited period of time. We bekethat such non-compete and remiicit
provisions are important to protect our busineBse severance benefits are standard in employmemifracts and were the results
negotiations between us and our executives.

The other executive officers named in the Summamn@ensation Table have no contractual severanaditeeif terminated by us
other than acceleration of vesting of their RSUs.

Retirement Plan

Beginning in 1998, we have maintained a 401(k) pleat allows us to make both discretionary and mage contributions, but v
have not done so since inception. We have no pemdans or norgualified deferred compensation plans and, aswdtrése columns relatir
to such plans in the Summary Compensation Tablblarg.

Change in Control

Currently unexercisable options vest with respectall underlying shares upon a change of contrsel dafined in employme
agreements, in the case of Messrs. Reddick, Spidayes and Clemens, and in stock option agreemantse case of Messrs. Emigh
Seiser) for all executive officers. In additionsa@unted options that are subject to Section 469#he Internal Revenue Code of 1986
amended (Section 409A), become exercisable upon a changerdfol that qualifies as a change of control urBlection 409A. In additio
RSUs vest with respect to all underlying sharesnupcohange of control and are distributed uponaagé of control (provided the requiremt
of Section 409A are met). In addition, Messrs. tRekl Jones and Clemens receive severance and éoifubey terminate their employm
after a change of control (as defined in their empplent agreements), or we terminate their employraftar a change of control. We feel
change of control provisions incentivize our exa@sg to seek opportunities for us and realize hienfgbm a change of control transaction €
though such change of control may lead to the teation of their positions.

Tax Reimbursements

Because of the scalled "parachute" tax imposed by Internal Revefoele Section 280G, our named executive officers g
subject to such tax upon the exercise of optiomsdistributions under RSUs upon a change of conéé currently have no agreement
reimburse our named executive officers for any dareposed as a result of these additional excisestaWe will pay taxes incurred by |
Reddick on a lump sum distribution of the valudwélve months of benefits, which he may elect &u lof continued benefits, in the event
employment terminates under certain circumstances.

Perquisites and Other Benef
Our named executive officers receive no perquisit¥e have not made either discretionary or matgleontributions to their 401(

plans, although our plan provides that we may do@®uor named executive officers are not providetb allowances and they receive
country club or golf club memberships. We may, beer, consider such perquisites in the future.
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Board Proces:

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directapproves all compensation and awards to our @xecofficers and othi
employees and thereafter submits its recommendgidine full Board for approval. All such decistoare made with the consultation of
Chief Executive Officer, except those relatingtlte tompensation of the Chief Executive Officer.c&pt for salary adjustments and cash b
and equity awards to the Chief Executive Offickese items are generally based upon the recomniemaéitthe Chief Executive Officer. F
example, in 2008, the Chief Executive Officer madeommendations with respect to bonuses and salargases for all other employ:
(other than himself) and the Compensation Commate Board adopted such recommendations. Witteoedp salary adjustments and ¢
bonus and equity items to the Chief Executive @ffithe Compensation Committee establishes suchdaviiar the Chief Executive Offic
subject to review and approval of the Board.

Summary Compensation Table and Discussion of Employent and Incentive Arrangements
The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by us for services rendered inagdhcities to us during each of
three fiscal years ended December 31, 2008, t&bief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officerdwour next three most highly compens:

executive officers (collectively, the "2008 name@eutive officers") whose total annual compensat@r?008 exceeded $100,000:

Summary Compensation Table

Base Stock Option
Name and Principal Salary Bonus Awards ' Awards ? Total
Position Year ($) () (%) (%) (%)
Andrew D. Reddicl 2006 300,00( — 1,375,000 $ 77,00C 1,752,001
President & CEC 2007 300,00( 850,00( 264,00( 0 1,414,00f
2008 365,00( 328,50( — 691,00  1,385,00!
Peter A. Clemen 2006 180,00( — 733,00( 23,00( 936,00(
SVP & CFO 2007 180,00( 180,00( 141,00( 11,00( 512,00(
2008 205,00( 102,50( — 276,00( 583,50(
Ron J. Spive! 2006 260,00( — 1,110,00: 166,00 1,536,001
SVP and Chief Scientifi 2007 260,00( 650,00( 211,00( 0 1,121,00f
Officer 2008 315,00( 630,00( — 442,000  1,387,00!
Robert B. Jones
SVP & COO (commence 2008 211,92 130,50( 173,00( 544,000  1,059,42.
employment April 7, 200€
Robert A. Seise 2006 133,00( — 275,00( 16,00( 424,00(
VP, Treasurer & Corpora 2007 133,00( 140,00( 53,00( 7,00( 333,00(
Controller 2008 160,00( 56,00( — 221,00( 437,00(

1 The 2006, 2007 and 2008 entries reflect the vestirepch of such years of outstanding RSUs witpeetsto 275,000, 146,600, 220,000
55,000 underlying shares for Messrs. Reddick, Clam8pivey and Seiser, respectively, and in additioe 2008 entries reflect the vestin
outstanding RSUs with respect to 50,000 underlgimgres for Mr. Jones. The dollar amount providethé compensation cost for such aw
recognized in 2006, 2007 and 2008 in accordance XS 123R, as reflected in our financial statemeahisregarding the risk of forfeitt
relating to service — based vesting conditions.

% The 2006 entries reflect the vesting in 2006 ofktartding options with respect to 150,000, 9,373,3& and 6,225 underlying shares
Messrs. Reddick, Clemens, Spivey and Seiser, ragplc The 2007 entries reflect the vesting in 2@d outstanding options with respec
9,375 and 6,225 underlying shares for Messrs Clspand Seiser, respectively. The 2008 entriegcethe vesting in 2008 of outstanc
options with respect to 83,333, 38,542, 46,66768B, and 29,558 underlying shares for Messrs. R&ddllemens, Spivey, Jones and Se
respectively. The dollar amount reported is thepensation cost for such awards recognized in 28067 and 2008 in accordance with F
123R, as reflected in our financial statements.
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Other Compensatory Arrangements
The named executive officers participate in medidahtal, life and disability insurance plans pd®d to all of our employees.
Employment Agreements

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Emmlest Agreement effective as of August 26, 200%rasnded, which provid
that Mr. Reddick will serve as our Chief Execut®#icer and President for a term expiring Decentkier2009. The term of the Employm
Agreement provides for automatic one (1) year reigun the absence of written notice to the cogtfeom us or Mr. Reddick at least nin
(90) days prior to the expiration of the initiatrteor any subsequent renewal period. Pursuant som@endment to the Employment Agreer
executed on July 9, 2008, our nemewal of the Employment Agreement is considerégtraination without Cause for all purposes untie
Employment Agreement. Mr. Reddiskbase salary under the Employment Agreement i§,886 (increased by the Board from $300
effective January 1, 2008). Pursuant to the Empkmt Agreement, Mr. Reddick is entitled to an amhfngmus based on the achievemer
such targets, conditions, or parameters as magtbeosn time to time by the Board of Directors be tCompensation Committee of the B¢
of Directors. For our 2008 fiscal year, Mr. Reddieas awarded a bonus of $328,500 due to, amoray othsons, the achievement of the it
discussed above under the caption “Salary and Bordse Employment Agreement also provides for our giraugust, 2004 to Mr. Reddi
of stock options exercisable for up to 875,000 ekaf Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.3Gpare. Such stock options provide
vesting of 300,000 shares on the date of grartebption, with the balance vesting in monthly @rments of 25,000 shares at the expiratic
each monthly period thereafter commencing withrtteath ending August 31, 2004. The exercise pricElB0 per share represents a disc
to the fair market value of our common stock ondhte of grant. On August 12, 2004, the date ahgof the stock options, the average o
closing bid and asked prices for our Common Stoak $4.35. Because 450,000 of the discounted apicnsubject to Section 409A, in 2(
we established an exercise schedule to comply Setttion 409A for such 450,000 options so that {htéons are exercisable (subject to ea
exercisability as set forth in the table below tadi “Events Affecting Option Vesting and Exerciy@f four equal installments on January .
each of 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014, provided thah @aptions may be exercised only in the calendar ye which they first becon
exercisable, and in no event later than August2014. The Employment Agreement also acknowledgesgymant in December, 2005 to |
Reddick of a Restricted Stock Unit Award providiiog our issuance of up to 825,000 shares of our @omStock. The Restricted Stock L
vested onehird (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal thlgrincrements on the first day of each month begig January 1, 2006 &
ending December 1, 2007. The vested shares uitgtlye Restricted Stock Unit Award will be issugdus on the earlier of (i) a Chang:
Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Plan), or {@nuary 1, 2011. In the event of a Change in @bntre will issue the vested shares
lump sum distribution. In the absence of a Chasfg€ontrol, the issuance of the vested shares beathade in four (4) equal installments
each of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Janya&@1B and January 1, 2014. Upon issuance ofithees underlying the Restricted St
Unit Award, Mr. Reddick must remit to us the patueaof $0.01 per share. On December 22, 2005, dte=af grant of the Restricted Stock |
Award, the average of the closing bid and askeckprof our common stock was $3.33, as reportethédyDTCBB. Mr. Reddick has no rig
as a stockholder, including no dividend or votiights, with respect to the shares underlying thstfided Stock Unit Award until we issue
underlying shares. The Employment Agreement coatsiandard termination provisions, including upeath, disability, for Cause, for Gc¢
Reason and without Cause. In the event the Emmaymgreement is terminated due to death or ditgbive are required to pay N
Reddick, or his designee, a pro rata portion ofaheual bonus that would have been payable to MddRRk during such year assuming
achievement of the bonus criteria establisheddoh onus.
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In the event that the Employment Agreement is teatgid by us without Cause, or by Mr. Reddick foo@®&eason, we are requi
to pay Mr. Reddick an amount equal to the bonusdieh year, calculated on a pro rata basis assuiulirachievement of the bonus criteria
such year (to the extent it has not already beat),p@s well as Mr. Reddick's base salary for oeary{such salary amount being the "Sevet
Pay"). In case of termination without Cause, sseberance is payable in equal monthly installmenés a period of twelve (12) months,
in the case of termination by Mr. Reddick for GoBdason, on&alf of such severance is payable six months a&enination, and tt
remaining half of such severance is payable thexemf six monthly installments. In addition, MReddick is at his option entitled to contin
coverage under our then existing benefit plandutting medical and life insurance, for twelve (f2pnths from the date of termination or
value of such benefits payable in a lump sum thdetys of termination together with amount needeglapincome tax on such lump sum.
Employment Agreement permits Mr. Reddick to terrtenhe Employment Agreement in the event of a ChangControl (as defined in t
Employment Agreement), in which case such termimais considered to be made without Cause, emithtr. Reddick to the benef
described above, except that (i) the SeverancdsRagyable in a lump sum within six months after thate of termination, and (ii) with optic
being treated as set forth in the table below lentit'Events Affecting Option Vesting and Exercis&.he Employment Agreement restricts
Reddick from disclosing, disseminating or using i personal benefit or for the benefit of otheamfidential or proprietary information |
defined in the Employment Agreement) and, providedhave not breached the terms of the Employmentéxgent, from competing with
at any time prior to one year after the terminatidrihis employment with us. In addition he haseaglrnot to (and not to cause or direct
person to) hire or solicit for employment any ofr @mployees or those of our subsidiaries or aféla(i) for six (6) months following tl
termination of his employment by us without Causép him for Good Reason, prior to a Change of @uin(ii) for twelve (12) montt
following the termination of his employment for Gay prior to a Change of Control, or (iii) twerfour (24) months following a Change
Control. On May 23, 2008, we granted Mr. Reddighians to purchase 250,000 shares of our commaik €irercisable at the fair mar
value of our Common Stock at the date of grant\agling in equal installments over 24 months. e entitled Events Affecting Optio
Vesting and Exercise,” below summarizes the vesding) exercisability of Mr. Reddick’options following a number of termination sceos
or a Change of Control.

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., was employed pursuant torapl&ment Agreement effective as of April 5, 20@4,amended, which provic
that Dr. Spivey would serve as our Senior Vice g and Chief Scientific Officer for a term expg December 31, 2008. The term of
Employment Agreement provided for automatic oney@gr renewals in the absence of written noticéaéocontrary from us or Dr. Spivey
least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration o€ tinitial term or any subsequent renewal periodJuly 2008, Dr. Spivey Employmer
Agreement was amended (the “Spivey 2008 Amendmémiijovide that it would terminate on DecemberZ&108, without renewal and wot
be replaced by an amended agreement effective dabhp2009 (the “Amended Spivey AgreementThe Amended Spivey Agreement h:
two year term and provides that Dr. Spivey willgeas a part time employee (10 weeks per yeaguaSenior Scientific Advisor at an ann
salary of $120,000. In addition, the Spivey 2008ehdment provided that Dr. Spivey would be entitiech $315,000 retention bonus if
remained employed through December 31, 2008 (tleeiiRion Bonus”). Dr. Spiveg’base salary under the Employment Agreement ét!
through December 31, 2008 was $315,000 (increagpettiéb Board from $260,000 effective January 1, 20@8irsuant to the Employm:
Agreement, as amended, in addition to his Reterionus, Dr. Spivey was eligible for annual bonubased on the achievement of s
targets, conditions, or parameters as may be set fime to time by the Board of Directors or then@@nsation Committee of the Boarc
Directors. In 2008, Dr. Spivey was awarded a boofi$315,000, in addition to the Retention Bonuse do, among other reasons,
achievement of the items discussed above undecapgon “Salary and Bonus'The Employment Agreement also provided for our gia
April, 2005 to Dr. Spivey of stock options exerdikafor up to 700,000 shares of Common Stock adxamcise price of $1.30 per share.
stock option provides for vesting of 100,000 shamectober 1, 2004, 33,333 shares on each Jaau@g05, April 1, 2005, July 1, 2005 ¢
October 1, 2005, 388,867 shares on January 1, 2006 7,800 on April 1, 2006. The exercise pric8hB0 per share represents a discot
the fair market value of our common stock on thie a@d grant. Because 600,000 of the discounteiptire subject to Section 409A, in 2(
we established an exercise schedule to comply Sétttion 409A for such 600,000 options so that {htéons are exercisable (subject to ea
exercisability as set forth in the table below #edi “Events Affecting Option Vesting and Exercisél four equal installments on January
each of 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014, provided thah @aptions may be exercised only in the calendar ye which they first becon
exercisable, and in no event later than their etjoin dates. The Employment Agreement also ackrdiyelé our grant in December, 200!
Dr. Spivey of a Restricted Stock Unit Award prowigifor our issuance of up to 660,000 shares ofGammon Stock. The Restricted St
Unit vested onehird (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equaltimigrincrements on the first day of each month begig January 1, 2006 &
ending December 1, 2007. The vested shares uimptlye Restricted Stock Unit Award will be issugdus on the earlier of (i) a Changt
Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Plan), or J@huary 1, 2011. In the event of a Change in @gntre will issue the vested shares
lump sum distribution. In the absence of a Chamg€antrol, the issuance of the vested shares bhathade in four (4) equal installments
each of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Jany@@1B and January 1, 2014. Upon issuance of thieestunderlying the Restricted Stock |
Award, Dr. Spivey must remit to us the par value$6fOl per share. On December 22, 2005, the dajeaat of the Restricted Stock U
Award, the average of the closing bid and askeckprof our common stock was $3.33, as reportetido®TCBB. Dr. Spivey has no rights ¢
stockholder, including no dividend or voting rightgith respect to the shares underlying the ResttiStock Unit Award until we issue
shares. The Employment Agreement contained stdrtdamination provisions, including upon death adity, for Cause, for Good Reas
and without Cause. The Amended Spivey Agreemestitices Dr. Spivey from disclosing, disseminatirrguging for his personal benefit or
the benefit of others, confidential or proprietarformation and from competing with us at any tiprer to one year after the termination of
employment with us. In addition, under the Amen&gpivey Agreement, Dr. Spivey has agreed not torarido cause or direct any perso
hire or solicit for employment any of our employdlesse of our subsidiaries or affiliates for twetrenths after termination of his employn
with us.
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On May 23, 2008, we granted Dr. Spivey optionsurchase 160,000 shares of our common stock exbteiaatheir fair market vall
at the date of grant vesting in equal installmesr 24 months. The table entitled “Events AffiegtiOption Vesting and Exerciseyelow
summarizes the vesting and exercisability of Div&ys options following a number of terminatiores@arios or a Change of Control.

Robert B. Jones commenced employment with us onl ApR2008 pursuant to an Employment Agreement didtarch 18, 200:
which provides that Mr. Jones will serve as ouri@eXice President and Chief Operating Officer éoterm expiring December 31, 2009.
term of the Employment Agreement provides for awtienone (1) year renewals in the absence of writiatice to the contrary from us (wh
would give Mr. Jones the right to terminate his &yment for Good Reason) or Mr. Jones at leasttnif®0) days prior to the expiration of
initial term or any subsequent renewal period.. Nones’'base salary under the Employment Agreement is $290,Pursuant to t
Employment Agreement Mr. Jones is eligible for arntonuses of up to thirty percent (30%) of hisebaalary on the achievement of s
targets, conditions, or parameters as may be set fime to time by the Board of Directors or then@@nsation Committee of the Boarc
Directors. In 2008, Mr. Jones was awarded a barfiu#l30,500 due to, among other reasons, the ammment of the items discussed ak
under the caption “Salary and Bonu§’he Employment Agreement provides for our grantAjril 2008 to Mr. Jones of stock optic
exercisable for up to 30,000 shares of Common Stbek exercise price equal to the last sale pficair common stock on the last trading
prior to his April 7, 2008 commencement date. $toek option provides for vesting of 1,500 shaneshe last day of each month commen
May 31, 2008. In addition, on May 23, 2008, wengeal Mr. Jones stock options to purchase 160,08feshof our common stock exercisi
at the fair market value of our Common Stock at da¢e of grant and vesting in equal installmentera4 months (subject to ear
exercisability as set forth in the table below #edi “Events Affecting Option Vesting and ExerciseThe Employment Agreement a
provides for our grant in April 2008 to Mr. JonefsaoRestricted Stock Unit Award providing for owsuance of up to 50,000 shares of
Common Stock. The Restricted Stock Unit vests 2 &ifiires on the last day of each month commencing 34a 2008. The vested she
underlying the Restricted Stock Unit Award will lIssued by us on the earlier of (i) a Change in @brjas defined in our 2005 RSU Plan)
(i) January 1, 2011. In the event of a Chang€amtrol, we will issue the vested shares in a lwum distribution. In the absence of a Chz
in Control, the issuance of the vested shares beathade in four (4) equal installments on eachaoiuary 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Janus
2013 and January 1, 2014. Upon issuance of theshederlying the Restricted Stock Unit Award, BMynes must remit to us the par valu
$0.01 per share. Mr. Jones has no rights as &tsifter, including no dividend or voting rights, thvirespect to the shares underlying
Restricted Stock Unit Award until we issue the ssarThe Employment Agreement contains standandirtation provisions, including up
death, disability, for Cause, for Good Reason aitdout Cause. In the event that we terminate thplByment Agreement without Cause
Mr. Jones terminates the Employment Agreement foodsReason, we are required to pay Mr. Jones ammtmegual to the bonus for st
year, calculated on a pro rata basis assumingélilevement of the bonus criteria for such yeath{#oextent it has not already been paid
well as Mr. Jones' base salary for one year (saldrysamount being the "Severance Pay"). In csermination without Cause and for G¢
Reason, such Severance Pay is payable in equahipamstallments over a period of twelve (12) manthvith a six month payment delay
the that portion of the Severance Pay that woultseahe payments to fall outside an exception ¢odéferred compensation rules requi
certain severance payments to certain officers piillic company to be made commencing six montter &rmination However, if su
termination without Cause or for Good Reason foflawmithin two years of a qualifying Change of Cohtten the Severance Pay is payab
a lump sum 31 days after termination, otherwisith termination follows a Change of Control by entiran two years then the Severance
is payable six months and one day following terrtioma In addition, upon a termination without Causr for Good Reason any shi
remaining unvested under stock options and restristock units granted to Mr. Jones will vest ili &nd Mr. Jones will be entitled
continued coverage under our then existing bemgéits, including medical and life insurance, forelwe (12) months from the date
termination. The Employment Agreement restricts Jmes from disclosing, disseminating or usinghfisrpersonal benefit or for the ben
of others, confidential or proprietary informati¢as defined in the Employment Agreement) and, plediwe have not breached the terrr
the Employment Agreement, from competing with uarat time prior to one year after the terminatiémis employment with us. In additic
Mr. Jones has agreed not to (and not to causerectdiny person to) hire or solicit for employmenty of our employees or those of
subsidiaries or affiliates (i) for six (6) monthdléwing the termination of his employment by ustheut Cause or by him for Good Reas
prior to a Change of Control, (ii) for twelve (12jnths following the termination of his employmémt Cause, prior to a Change of Contro
(iii) twenty-four (24) months following a Change @fontrol. The table entitled “Events Affecting @pt Vesting and Exercise below
summarizes the vesting and exercisability of Mne¥ options following a number of termination sgeos or a Change of Control.
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Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an EmpdoyrAgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, asrated, which provides tt
Mr. Clemens will serve as our Senior Vice Presidemi Chief Financial Officer for a term expiring &enber 31, 2009. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney€8r renewals in the absence of written noticaéocontrary from the Company or |
Clemens at least ninety (90) days prior to the ratipin of any renewal period. Pursuant to a 2008redment to the Employment Agreem
our nonfenewal of the Employment Agreement is considersdaatermination without Cause for all purposes uritte Employmer
Agreement. Mr. Clemens current base salary untierEimployment Agreement is $205,000 (increased f8a®80,000 effective January
2008). Under the Employment Agreement, he may eseive an annual bonus to be determined basdtieosatisfaction of such targe
conditions or parameters as may be determined fiora to time by the Compensation Committee of tlwmf@ of Directors. In 2008, M
Clemens was awarded a bonus of $102,500 due tm@other reasons, the achievement of the itemsisistl above under the capti@atan
and Bonus."The Employment Agreement also provides for the godrstock options on March 10, 1998 to purchas@®@@D shares of o
common stock at an exercise price of $23.75 peeskaich options vest in equal increments of 2,60flon shares at the end of each quatr
period during the term of the Employment Agreen(@stsuch vesting schedule may be amended by magoe¢ment of Mr. Clemens and
Board of Directors) In addition, in August 200hetCompany granted stock options to Mr. Clemengutchase 37,500 shares of Comi
Stock at an exercise price of $1.30 per share,lwdercise price represents a discount to thenfaiket value of our common stock on the
of grant. Such stock options vest in four equatipos at the end of each annual period commenklagch 9, 2005. Such stock options
exercisable (subject to earlier exercisability eisfsrth in the table below entitled “Events Affiact Option Vesting and Exerciseit) four eque
installments on January 1 of each of 2011, 201232hd 2014, provided that such options may becesest only in the calendar year in wk
they first become exercisable, and in any eventater than their respective expiration dates.addition, on May 23, 2008, we granted
Clemens options to purchase 100,000 shares ofasnmon stock at an exercise price equal to thenfaiket value of our Common Stock at
date of grant and vesting in equal installments @emonths (subject to earlier exercisability asfsrth in the table below entitledEvent:
Affecting Option Vesting and Exercise”.he Employment Agreement also acknowledges thet goaklr. Clemens of a Restricted Stock |
Award providing for our issuance of up to 440,08ares of our Common Stock. The Restricted Stodk Wists onethird (1/3) upon grant al
the balance in equal monthly increments on thé diay of each month beginning January 1, 2006 awlihg December 1, 2007. We will is:
the vested shares underlying the Restricted StatgkAward on the earlier of (i) a Change in Conffa$ defined in our 2005 RSU Plan), or
January 1, 2011. In the event of a Change in ©ontre will issue the vested shares in a lump sistridution. In the absence of a Chang
Control, our issuance of the vested shares shathdde in four (4) equal installments on each ofidan1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Janua
2013 and January 1, 2014. Upon issuance of theshiaderlying the Restricted Stock Unit Award, lemens must remit to us the par vi
of $0.01 per share. On December 22, 2005, theafajeant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award, themage of the closing bid and asked pi
of our common stock was $3.33, as reported by theéBB. Mr. Clemens has no rights as a stockhoidefyuding no dividend or voting righ
with respect to the shares underlying the Restti®®ck Unit Award until we issue the shares. Engployment Agreement contains stanc
termination provisions, including upon death, dibgbh for Cause, for Good Reason and without Causethe event the Employme
Agreement is terminated by us without Cause or sy ®demens for Good Reason, we are required topayClemens an amount equa
$410,000 or twice his then base salary, whichevaréater, payable in the case of termination witf@ause in a lump sum within 30 d
following termination and in the case of terminatifimor Good Reason, six months after terminatiod ncontinue to provide Mr. Cleme
coverage under our then existing benefit plandu@iing medical and life insurance, for a term of riB@énths. The Employment Agreem
permits Mr. Clemens to terminate the Employmente&gnent in the event of a Change in Control (amddfin the Employment Agreeme
in which case he would receive the same paymengnaa termination for Good Reason. The Employnfgmteement also restricts N
Clemens from disclosing, disseminating or usinghfisrpersonal benefit or for the benefit of othersfidential or proprietary information |
defined in the Employment Agreement) and, providedhave not breached the terms of the Employmen¢exgent, from competing with
at any time prior to two years after the earlieotzur of the expiration of the term and the tewmtion of his employment. In addition, fo
period of two (2) years from and after the effeetdlate of the termination of his employment with(fes any reason whatsoever), (i) induc
attempt to influence any employee of the Corporatioany of its subsidiaries or affiliates to leatgeemploy, or (i) aid any person, busin
or firm, including a supplier, a competitor, licemor customer of or our manufacturer for the Coagion, in any attempt to hire any per
who shall have been employed by us or any of obsidiaries or affiliates within the period of ornb fear of the date of any such reque
aid. The table entitled “Events Affecting Optioreating and Exercise,” below, summarizes the vestimgy exercisability of Mr. Clemens’
options following a number of termination scenawos Change of Control.

57




EVENTS AFFECTING STOCK OPTION VESTING AND EXERCISE

(FOR MESSRS. REDDICK, JONES AND CLEMENS)

Vesting of All

Options (Options
not Subject to
Section 409A are
exercisable upon
vesting)

Exercisability of Options
not subject to Section
409A (including options
granted on May 23,
2008)

Exercisability of Options Subject
to Section 409A

Termination due to Death

Termination by Company Witho!
Cause or by Employee for Good
Reason or following Change of
Control (not qualifying under
Section 409A)

Termination due to Disability

Termination by the Company for
Cause or by executive other than for
Good Reason

Change of Control

No additional vestini

All options fully vest for
Messrs. Reddick and Jonesexercisable for one year following
Mr. Clemens’s options vesttermination

upon termination after

Change of Control.

No additional vestiny

No additional vestiny

Options fully vest

Vested options immediately
exercisable for one year following
termination

Vested options immediate

Vested options immediately
exercisable for one year following
termination

Vested options immediately
exercisable for 40 days following
termination

Vested options immediately
exercisable
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Vested options immediately
exercisable for the lesser of (a) one
year following termination or (b) tt
last day of the year in which they
become exercisab

Vested options exercisak
commencing six months after
termination for the lesser of (a) one
year following termination or (b) tt
last day of the year in which they
become exercisab

Vested options exercisable
commencing six months after
termination for the lesser of (a) one
year following termination or (b) tF
last day of the year in which they
become exercisab

Vested options exercisable
commencing six months after
termination for the lesser of (a) 40
days thereafter or (b) the last day of
the calendar year in which they first
become exercisab

Vested options exercisable upon
Change of Control qualifying under
Section 409A during the year in
which the Change of Control occt




Dr. Spivey’s options that are subject to Section 409A aretddeas above. Options granted to him in May 200§ feest after .
Change of Control. To the extent they are notecksin the termination of his employment they argefted. Options granted to him in M
2008 that are vested on the termination of his egment are exercisable for one year after we teataihis employment and for 40 days ¢
he terminates his employment.

Mr. Seiser is not party to an employment agreement.
Stock Option Plans

We maintain three stock option plans adopted in519998 and 2008, respectively. In the past wal,ugad may continue to u
stock options to attract and retain key employadbé belief that employee stock ownership andkstetated compensation devices encou

a community of interest between employees and Bblters.

The 1995 Stock Option Plan

The 1995 Stock Option Plan was approved by ourestwdders in September, 1995. As of December 308 2@centive stock optio
(“ISO’s”) to purchase 19,000 shares and momdified options to purchase 6,500 shares werstanding under the 1995 Stock Option Pla
May, 2005 the 1995 Stock Option Plan expired amdrémaining unissued shares allocated to the Péaia terminated. The average per s
exercise price for all outstanding options under1B95 Stock Option Plan is approximately $12.27.

The 1998 Stock Option Plan

The 1998 Stock Option Plan was adopted by the Boér®irectors in April, 1998 and approved by ouras#holders in Jun
1998. The 1998 Stock Option Plan permits the godnS0O’s and norgualified stock options to purchase shares of cam@on Stock. Tt
1998 Stock Option Plan was amended by the BoaRirettors in April, 1999 to increase the numbesiofres available for the grant of opti
under the Plan from 260,000 to 360,000 shares. s@aeholders ratified the Plan amendment on Aub®st999. The 1998 Stock Option F
was further amended by Board of Directors in A®RD01 to increase the number of shares availablgrimt of options under the Plan fr
360,000 to 810,000 shares. Our shareholdersedtifie Plan amendment on June 14, 2001. The 1®@R Sption Plan was further amen
by the Board of Directors on May 5, 2004 to inceedise number of shares available for grant of ogtionder the Plan from 810,00C
2,000,000 shares. Our shareholders ratified the Bmendment on August 12, 2004. The 1998 Stodlo®@pPlan was further amended
February 8, 2006 to make such plan compliant wilstiBn 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, as anen@ar shareholders ratified
amendment on December 14, 2006. As of Decembe2(®B, stock options to purchase 1,903,364 shdr€emmon Stock had been grar
under the 1998 Stock Option Plan. Of such opticantg, 68,100 are ISOs and 1,835,264 are qualified options. The average per sl
exercise price for all outstanding options under 1898 Stock Option Plan is approximately $2.14. eMercise price of an ISO was set at
than 100% of the fair market value of the undedyfbommon Stock. The exercise price of mplified options exercisable for 1,699,
shares of common stock has been set at less tkafiaithmarket value on the date of grant of theaulyihg Common Stock. Subject to
terms of the 1998 Stock Option Plan, the Board isé€ors, or a Committee appointed by the Boarémieines the persons to whom grants
made and the vesting, timing, amounts and othergef such grant. An employee may not receive $S&Xercisable in any one calendar’
for shares with a fair market value on the datgraft in excess of $100,000. No quantity limitai@pply to the grant of naqualified stoc
options.

Options issued to date at a discount under the 8388k Option Plan, which had not vested as of Ddxer 31, 2004, are exercise
(subject to earlier exercise as described belovigun equal installments on January 1 of each df12@012, 2013 and 2014. These option
exercisable earlier than stated above upon a giraifchange of control and upon termination of ewgpient (generally for a period of
days), subject in the case of termination, to a dhttm waiting period prior to exercise for MessredRick, Clemens, Spivey, Jones
Seiser. In no event are these options exercisaltgde the calendar year in which they first bee@xercisable. Se&Vents Affecting Optio
Vesting and Exercise” above for the vesting and@se of options granted to Messrs. Reddick, Spivepes and Clemens.
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In April, 2008 the 1998 Stock Option Plan expiredl ahe remaining unissued shares allocated toltrevirere terminated.

The 2008 Stock Option Plan

The 2008 Stock Option Plan was adopted by the Bo&Rirectors on March 14, 2008 and approved byshareholders on April 2
2008. The 2008 Stock Option Plan permits the geddSO’s and norgualified stock options to purchase in the aggreggt to 6,000,0(
shares of our Common Stock. As of December 318 28@ck options to purchase 1,040,000 shares ofnin Stock had been granted ui
the 2008 Stock Option Plan. Of such option gradé§,543 are ISOs and 674,457 are gaalified options. The average per share exe
price for all outstanding options under the 2008c8tOption Plan is approximately $9.87. No exergisice of an ISO was set at less -
100% of the fair market value of the underlying Goom Stock. Subject to the terms of the 2008 S@pton Plan, the Board of Directors,
a Committee appointed by the Board determines é¢ingops to whom grants are made and the vestinmgiramounts and other terms of s
grant. An employee may not receive IS@Xxercisable in any one calendar year for shaitbsawfair market value on the date of grant inest
of $100,000. No quantity limitations apply to tant of non-qualified stock options.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan

On December 22, 2005, the Board of Directors apgafoaur 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (tB805 RSU Plan”for oul
employees and noemployee directors. The RSU Plan was amendedéBtlard of Directors on October 26, 2006 to alloansfer of RSL
under limited circumstances. We believe that th@52RSU Plan did not require shareholder approdalvertheless, on December 14, 2
our shareholders ratified the 2005 RSU Plan, asnde® at our 2006 Annual Shareholdekéeting. A RSU represents the conting
obligation of the Company to deliver a share of cammon stock to the holder of the RSU on a distidm date. On March 14, 2008 the Bc
of Directors adopted and on April 30, 2008 our shatders ratified an amendment to the 2005 RSU Rlareasing the number of she
available under the RSU Plan from 3 million to SBlion.

The purpose of the 2005 RSU Plan is to attractjvatg and retain experienced and knowledgeable @rapk by offering additior
stockbased compensation and incentives to defer anaietg enhance their compensation and to encousémek ownership in the Compe
and to attract and retain qualified nemployee directors. The 2005 RSU Plan is interidexdmply with Section 409A of the Internal Reve
Code of 1986, as amended and is designed to cottimmcompensation deferred under the Plan whiculigect to Code Section 409A is
included in the gross income of 2005 RSU Plan giadnts until such time as the shares of commorkstoderlying RSUs are distributec
set forth in the Plan and Code Section 409A.

The RSU Plan is administered by our Board of Doecbr a Committee appointed by the Board of DaectHowever, with respect
non-employee directors, the Board administers tlam,Pand the Committee has no discretion with relspe any grants to noemploye:
directors. RSUs granted under the RSU plan vesh ashedule determined by the Board of Directorsumh Committee as set forth i
restricted stock unit award agreement. Unless wfiserset forth in such award agreement, the RSUg Wast upon a change in control
defined in the 2005 RSU Plan) of the Company omuigsmination of an employeeemployment without cause or due to death or disa
and in the case of a non-employee director, suckop& death or disability or if such person is not meimated as a director (other than
“cause” or refusal to stand for edection) or is not elected by our stockholdersidminated. Vesting of an RSU entitles the hottiereof t
receive a share of common stock of the Companydistabution date (after payment of the $0.01 yeue per share).

Absent a change of control, ofmirth of vested shares of common stock underlgndRSU award will be distributed (after payn
of $0.01 par value per share) on January 1 of e&@011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. If a change in cowitours (whether prior to or after 201
the vested shares underlying the RSU award willisibuted at or about the time of the changeantiml. No dividends accrue on the sh.
underlying the RSUs prior to issuance. The reaigief RSU awards need not be employees or diecfathe Company on a distribution date.
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RSUs may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypotcaansferred, or disposed of in any manner byréipients other tharby will
or by the laws of descent or distribution and jdHe spouse, children or grandchildren of the a@earthe “Immediate Family Members”)) @
trust or trusts for the exclusive benefit of susimediate Family Members, or (iii) a partnershipvnich such Immediate Family Members
the only partners, provided that (x) there may beconsideration for any such transfer, (y) subsegtransfers of transferred RSUs shal
prohibited except those made by will or by the lafiglescent or distribution, and (z) such transgfepproved in advance by the Committet
Board in absence of a Committee). A married recipimay generally designate only a spouse as ditiang unless spousal consen
obtained.

Recipients of RSUs generally will not recognizeome when they are awarded RSUs (unless they aercbgnize income |
making a Section 83(b) election). RSU recipient iecognize ordinary income in an amount equahtmfair market value of the shares of
common stock issued pursuant to a distribution utfteRSU. We will generally be entitled to a taeddction in the same amount.

As of December 31, 2008 we had granted RSUs pmuyithr our issuance of up to an aggregate of 3q@@shares of our comm
stock. 2,750,000 of such RSU Awards vest tmed (1/3) on grant and the balance vest in equahthly increments on the first day of e
month beginning January 1, 2006 and ending Decerhb2007. 200,000 of such RSU Awards vested 77sh&8es on grant and the bale
vested in equal monthly increments on the first daarch 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 2007. r€heining 50,000 RSU awards ves
a rate of 2,500 on the last day of each month cameing May 31, 2008, and as of December 31, 2008020of such RSUs had vested.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2008 Year End and Optbn Exercises in 2008
The following table presents information regardimgtstanding stock awards at December 31, 2008 dch ef the 2008 nam
executive officers: All RSU awards granted to 20@81ed executive officers had vested at Decemhe2®18, except for RSUs granted to

Jones .

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2008 YEAR-END

Stock Option Awards Restricted Stock Unit Awards
Market
Number of Value of
Number of Securities Shares or
Securities Underlying Units of
Underlying Unexercised Option Number of Share:  Stock That
Unexercised Options Exercise Option or Units of Stock Have Not
Options (#) #) Price Expiration That Have Not Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable (%) Date Vested ($)(1)
Andrew D. 875,00( —  $ 1.3C 08/12/2014
Reddick 72,91¢ 177,08: $ 9.87 05/23/201¢
Peter A. 10,00( —  $ 11.2¢  03/08/200¢
Clemens 12,50( — % 18.7¢  02/17/201C
10,00( — % 11.12¢  06/29/201C
37,50( —  $ 1.3C 03/09/2014
29,16¢ 70,83¢ $ 9.87 05/23/201¢
Ron J. 300,00( —  $ 1.3C 04/15/2014
Spivey 400,00( — % 1.3C 12/09/201¢
46.66¢ 113,33 $ 9.87 05/23/201¢
Robert B. 12,00( 18,000 $ 8.64 04/06/201¢ 30,00 $ 220,20(
Jones 46,66¢ 113,33 $ 9.87 05/23/201¢
Robert A. 1,60( — % 11.2¢  03/08/200¢
Seisel 3,00(¢ —  $ 18.7¢  02/17/201C
4,000 — % 11.12¢  06/29/201C
2,50( — % 24.6C 11/15/2011
24,90( —  $ 1.3C 03/09/2014
23,33¢ 56,66¢ $ 9.87 05/23/201¢

(1) Based on the closing price of $7.34 reportedhe Nasdaqg Capital Market on December 31, 2@&es not take into account the $.01 par
value per share that must be paid on the distobudf shares underlying the RSUs.
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The following table presents information regardihg value realized on the vesting during 2008 of/RS®/ards to the named
executive officers. No stock options were exertigg the named executive officers during 2008.

OPTION EXERCISE AND STOCK VESTED IN FISCAL YEAR 280

Stock Awards
Name Number of Shares Vested (% Value Realized on Vesting (@
Andrew D. Reddicl 0 —
Peter A. Clemen 0 —
Ron J. Spive! 0 —
Robert B. Jone 20,00C $ 127,85(
Robert A. Seise 0 —

(1) The vested shares underlying the RSUs willdseiéd by us on the earlier of (i) a Change of @brias defined in our 20t
Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan), or (ii) in foannual installments starting on January 1, 20hlthé event of a Change of Control,
issuance of the vested shares shall be made m@$um distribution. In the absence of a Changéartftrol, the issuance of the vested st
shall be issued in four (4) equal installments anheof January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, JanuaPpl3 and January 1, 2014. Upon
distribution of the vested shares underlying th&JRShe recipients must submit to us the par valu®0.01 per share. The recipients of
RSUs have no rights as a stockholder, includinglimmend or voting rights, with respect to the ssaunderlying such awards until the sh
are issued by us.

(2) Value is determined by subtracting the $.01vyzdume required to be paid on exchange of eactesbaiRSUs from the closing pri

of our Common Stock on the Nasdaqg Capital Marketach vesting date and multiplying the result by number of shares underlying
RSUs that vested on such date and then aggredhtiag results.
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Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table includes information as of Dedeer 31, 2008 relating to our 1995, 1998 and 20@8kSOption Plans and ¢
2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, which corsprall of our equity compensation plans. The tabdeides the number of securities tc
issued upon the exercise of outstanding options distlibutions under outstanding Restricted Stoakit Awards under such plans,
weightedaverage exercise price of outstanding options hachtimber of securities remaining available fourfetissuance under such eq
compensation plans:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Securities

Number Of Securitie Remaining Available for
to Be Issued Upon Weighte-Average Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plai

Outstanding Options Outstanding Option: (Excluding Securities
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column a

Plan Categor (Column a) (Column b) (Column c)

Stock Option Equity Compensation Plans Approve&bgurity

Holders 2,968,86: $ 4.9: 4,960,001
Stock Option Equity Compensation Plans Not Approbgdecurit

Holders 0 0 0
Restricted Stock Unit Equity Compensation Plansraped by

Security Holder: 3,000,001 $ 0.01 500,00(
Restricted Stock Unit Equity Compensation Plans Algiroved by

Security Holders 0 0 0
TOTAL 5,968,86: $ 2.4¢€ 5,460,00!

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Cotrol
Mr. Seiser

Options. If a change of control occurs (which ¢itutes a change of control under the stock optigreements) previously unves
options vest and become exercisable with respedlltonderlying shares (relating to 56,666 shamasMr. Seiser, as of December
2008). Mr. Seiser would realize a benefit of $88D, from such option vesting if such change of manhad occurred on December
2008. Upon the occurrence of a change of contrat tneets the requirements of Section 409A of titerhal Revenue Code or uj
termination of employment, stock options granteiito Seiser to purchase 24,900 shares of commak stecome exercisable in full.

RSUs. As of December 31, 2008, all RSUs grantédrtdSeiser had vested. Upon the occurrence biage of control that meets
requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Rewe@ode, the RSUs are fully distributable for shangsn payment of the $.01 par value
share, instead of under their normal distributicmesiule.

The dollar benefits described above are the congpemscost for such awards that would have beeogréized in 2008 in our financ
statements in accordance with FAS 123R, had sumlexated vesting/distribution occurred.

Messrs. Reddick, Jones and Clemens

Based upon a hypothetical triggering date of De@mii, 2008, the quantifiable benefits for Mesarsdrew Reddick, Robert Jor
and Peter Clemens upon a termination/change ofaomould have been as set forth the table below:
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Medical,

Dental,
Health,
Value of Disability
Value of Options RSUs and Life
Triggering Vesting Vesting Insurance
Event Executive Severance Bonus (4) (5) Benefits Total (7)
Termination by Andrew D. Reddick 365,00((1)(8) —@) 1,678,00! = 26,27(6)  $ 2,068,27!
Company Robert B. Jones 290,00((1)(8) —@®) 1,227,00! 301,00¢ 26,27((6) $ 1,844,217
without Cause Peter A. Clemens 410,00((2) —@3) 671,00( — 52,54((11) $ 1,133,54i
or by Employee (20) (only payable
for Good upon terminatiol
Reason or after after Change of
a Change of Control)
Control (12)
Termination for Andrew D. Reddicl — —(3) — — — —
Death Robert B. Jone — — — 301,00( 26,27( $ 327,27(
Peter A. Clemen — — — — — —
Termination for Andrew D. Reddict — —@3) — — — —
Disability Robert B. Jone — — — — 26,27( $ 26,27(
Peter A. Clemen — — — — — —
Termination Andrew D. Reddicl — — — — — —
with Cause Robert B. Jone — — — — — —
Peter A. Clemen — — — — — —
Change o Andrew D. Reddict — — 1,678,001 — — $ 1,678,001
Control Robert B. Jone — — 1,227,001 301,00( — $ 1,527,001
Without Peter A. Clemens — — 671,00( — = $ 671,00(
Termination

The terms "Change of Control", "Cause”, and "Goed$dn" have the meanings in the listed executemsloyment agreements.
(2) In the case of termination without Cause, p&yaib 12 monthly installments. In the case of tiexation for Good Reason, one t
of amount is payable six months and one day aftenibation, and remaining amount is payable thézeaf six monthly installments. In t
case of termination after a Change of Control, amh@si payable in a lump sum six months and oneaftgr termination. As of January
2009, Dr. Spivey is no longer entitled to this Héne
(2) In the case of termination without Cause, p#&yai a lump sum within 30 days after terminatidn.the case of termination !

Good Reason and termination after Change of Cqrambunt is payable in a lump sum six months aredday after termination.

(3) Payable in a lump sum within 30 days after teation. Because bonuses were paid prior to Deeei®b, 2008, named executi
would not have been entitled to any additional ls@suwpon termination at December 31, 2008.
(4) The dollar amount reported is the compensatiost for such awards that would have been recodrize2008 in our financi
statements in accordance with FAS 123R had the stesestock options at December 31, 2008 vestedict date. SeeEmploymen

Agreements” for a description of the exercise pisifwllowing termination.
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(5) The dollar amount reported is the compensatimst for such awards that would have been recedniz 2008 in our financi
statements in accordance with FAS 123R, had thesiad RSUs at December 31, 2008 vested at suc{3@O0 RSUs in the case of |
Jones).

(6) Represents the value of medical, dental, disgkind life insurance for the twelve months feliog termination and a tax gross
for such amounts. Payable in lump sum within 3@sdatter termination. Assumes executive has sadelcimp sum payment option, in liet
continued benefits. This amount is estimated edife January 1, 2009, Dr. Spivey is not entitlethis benefit.

(7) Excludes accrued vacation.

(8) Represents one year of salary, at the ratéfénteon December 31, 2008.

(9) Represents one year of salary, at the ratéfésteon December 31, 2008. Effective JanuaryOD® Dr. Spivey became a péirtre
employee and is not contractually entitled to aesance benefit.

(10) Represents two years of base salary, at tharraffect on December 31, 2008.

(11) Represents the estimated value of medicaltatjenisability and life insurance for the twerfour months followin
termination. Payable in lump sum within thirtyydaafter termination.

(12) Dr. Spiveys options vest on a Change of Control. Otherwiséshnot contractually entitled to severance pay @onus upc
termination. The value of such vesting at Decen®1e2008 is $ 1,074,000.

Director Compensation

The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by us to our Directors (other thardrdw Reddick, who:
compensation, is reflected in the Summary Compensatable) for services rendered in all capacitesus during the fiscal year enc
December 31, 2008:

2008 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Fees Earned or Paid ii Stock Awards

Director Cash (%) )@ Option Awards ($) @ Total ($)

William G. Skelly 29,25( — 95,24( 124,49(
William A. Sumnet 28,50( — 95,24( 123,74(
Bruce F. Wesso 27,75( — 95,24( 122,99(
Richard J. Markhar 30,75( — 95,24( 125,99(
Immanuel Thangar: 20,00® — 95,24 115,24
George K. Ros 33,50( — 95,24( 128,74(

(1) Messrs. Skelly and Sumner each held fully viedRSUs with respect to 100,000 underlying sharsspofaDecember 3
2008. Messrs. Wesson, Markham, Thangaraj and fRedsno RSUSs.

(2) Messrs. Skelly, Sumner, Wesson, Markham, Tamjgand Ross, held vested options with respec82¢500, 19,000, 15,0(
15,000, 15,000 and 15,000 underlying shares, r&éspg as of December 31, 2008. The dollar amquovided is the compensation cost
such awards recognized in 2008 as reported ininanéial statements in accordance with FAS 123R.

(3) Committee and board meeting attendance feasda

Under the Director compensation program in effac2007, noremployee Directors received $500 for each meetitgnded ($250 i
the case of telephonic meetings) and eamployee Directors who served on any of the Conesttestablished by the Board of Direc
received $250 for each Committee meeting attenaéeks held on the day of a full Board meeting. Méamployee Directors were eligible
receive, at the discretion of the Board, an anguaht of options to purchase 5,000 shares of oomoon stock. No such option grants v
made to any Director in 2007. We also reimbursé@édiors for travel and lodging expenses, if amguired in connection with attendanc
Board meetings.
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In January 2008, in order to retain and attrachlgigjualified directors, our Board amended the Etive compensation program
provide for a $20,000 annual retainer for each employee Director (and an additional annual retaofe$5,000 for the chairperson of
Audit Committee and $2,500 for each other Commitieairperson), a $1,000 fee for each Board meetitended in person ($500 if atten
telephonically), and a $500 fee for each Commitieeting attended ($250 if attended telephonicallJhe annual retainer fees are payab
four equal installments at the end of each caleqdarter during the yearln addition, nonemployee Directors will receive an annual grai
options to purchase 15,000 shares of our commark.stbhe stock options have a term of 10 yearslanck an exercise price equal to
closing price of our common stock on the first ingdday of the year of grant as reported by the RA® Capital Market, except in the cast
the stock option grants for 2008, in which caseekercise price was equal to the last sale pricedio common stock on January 24, 2008
date of adoption by the Board of the new board amsption program) as reported by the OTC Bulletiarl. The stock options vest in ec
installments at the end of each calendar quartenglthe year of grant. Directors who are also employees receive no additional or spe
remuneration for their services as Directors. V& a&ontinue to reimburse Directors for travel dodging expenses, if any, incurred
connection with attendance at Board meetings.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

From January 1, 2008 until January 23, 2008 our @armeation Committee consisted of Messrs. Markhdall\sand Reddick. Fi
the remainder of 2008, our compensation committeesisted of Messrs. Markham, Wesson and Thangpajept for the period January
2008 through January 23, 2008 during which Mr. Reddur President and Chief Executive Officerveeron our Compensation Commit
there were no Compensation Committee interlockinsider participation in compensation decisionse Employment Agreementddr &
discussion of Mr. Reddick’'s employment agreement.

Compensation Committee Report

The following report of the Compensation Commitie@ot deemed to be “soliciting material” or to‘ieed” with the Commission «
subject to Regulation 14A or 14C [17 CFR 240.14=tdeq. or 240.14c-1 e$eq.], other than as specified, or to the liabilit@EsSection 18 ¢
the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 78r].

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdus®e Compensation Discussion and Analysis in Raport with Compar
management. Based on such review and discussibasCompensation Committee recommended to the Bo&r®irectors that tF
Compensation Discussion and Analysis be includetisiReport.

Richard J. Markham, Bruce Wesson and Immanuel Tdrajg

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regamglithe beneficial ownership of the Common Stockof$ebruary 1, 2009, f
individuals or entities in the following categori€h each of the Company's Directors and nomirfee®irectors; (ii) the Companyg’principa
executive officer, the Compars/principal financial officer and the next thregtnést paid executive officers of the Company whiots annue
compensation for 2008 exceeded $100,000 (the "namedutive officers"); (iii) all Directors and exdive officers as a group; and (iv) e
person known by the Company to be a beneficial ovaienore than 5% of the Common Stock. Unless imidid otherwise, each of -
shareholders has sole voting and investment pouterraspect to the shares beneficially owned.

PERCENT
AMOUNT OF
NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED CLASS @

GCE Holdings LLC,

c/o Galen Partners lll, L.P.

680 Washington Boulevard, Stamford, CT 06! 34,564,95(2) 77.€%
Vivo Ventures Fund VI, L.P.

575 High St, Suite 201

Palo Alto, CA 943013 2,450,000 5.7%
Andrew D. Reddict 979,16 2.2%
Ron J. Spive 766,66 1.8%
Robert B. Jone 83,16:® *
William G. Skelly 37,25(") *
Bruce F. Wesso 32,75((2)(8) *
William A. Sumner 42,75 *
Peter A. Clemen 116,749 *
Richard J. Markhar 18,75((2)(11) *
Immanuel Thangar: 28,75((2)(12) *
Robert A. Seise 69,332(13) *

George K. Ros 18.75("¥ *



All Officers and Directors as a Group (12 persc 2,269,911 5.1%
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* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding slofithe Company's Common Stock.

(1)

2)

3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Shows percentage ownership assuming (i) such partyerts all of its currently convertible secustier securities convertible within
days of February 1, 2009 into the Company's comstook, and (ii) no other Company security holdemwats any of its convertit
securities. No shares held by any Director or rthme=cutive officer has been pledged as collass=alrity.

GCE Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability compy, was the assignee of all of the our prefertedks(prior to its conversion in
common stock) and bridge loans entered into in 20086 and 2007 (prior to their conversion into coom stock and warrants) forme
held by each of Galen Partners Ill, L.P., Galentrigais International Ill, L.P., Galen Employee FUHdL.P. (collectively, “Galen},
Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Gffghinvestments Il, LP (collectively, “Care Capijahnd Essex Woodlands Hez
Ventures Fund V, L.P. (“Essex”zalen, Care Capital and Essex own approximatel$989.30.6% and 29.6%, respectively, of
membership interests in GCE Holdings LLC. The fwilog natural persons exercise voting, investmet @spositive rights over o
securities held of record by GCE Holdings LLC: @alen Partners lll, L.P., Galen Partners Intermatiidll, L.P. and Galen Employ
Fund Ill, L.P.: Bruce F. Wesson, L. John WilkensBrayvid W. Jahns, and Zubeen Shroff; (ii) Care Gapitvestments II, LP and C:
Capital Offshore Investments Il, LP: Jan Leschlichard Markham, Argeris Karabelas and David Ramsayt (iii) Essex Woodlan
Health Ventures Fund V, L.P.: Immanuel Thangaramds L. Currie and Martin P. Sutter. Pursuant Yoting Agreement among
GCE Holdings LLC and certain other shareholdersEG4bldings LLC has the right to designate thredhaf seven members of -
Companys Board of Directors. The Board designees of GQHdidgs LLC are Immanuel Thangaraj, Richard Markhand Bruc
Wesson. Amounts for GCE Holdings, LLC include B,AB1 shares underlying warrants, exercisable at0$per share. Excluc
195,574 shares and warrants to purchase 400,2t8sshald by Galen; 136,178 shares and warrantsrthase 34,500 shares helc
Essex; and 111,689 shares and warrants to pur@ba3@0 shares held by Care Capi

Includes shares held by an affiliated fund. Inelsidvarrants to purchase 450,000 shares exerciablid.40 per share held by V
Ventures Fund VI, L.P. and an affiliated fund (eotively, “Vivo”). Number of shares give effect to the transfer afraras to purcha:
496,364 and 3,636 shares from Vivo Ventures FundLMP. and Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, L.Pespectively, to Warra
Strategies Fund, LLC on November 30, 2007 but #rerwise current as of November 20, 2007. Theriétion with respect to Vivo
based solely on our knowledge of our sale of séeario them and our knowledge of the warrant feanstated above

Includes 979,167 shares subject to stock optioescesable within 60 days of February 1, 2009. Eoeki825,000 restricted stock 1
awards (“RSUs"granted to Mr. Reddick. Mr. Reddick has no righdsa stockholder, including no dividend or votiights, with respe:
to the shares underlying the RSUs until the sharesssued by the Company pursuant to the tern@ofpanys 2005 Restricted Sto
Unit Plan.

Includes 766,667 shares subject to stock optioescesable within 60 days of February 1, 2009. kEaek 660,000 RSUs granted to
Spivey. Dr. Spivey has no rights as a stockholishetuding no dividend or voting rights, with regpéo the shares underlying the R¢
until the shares are issued by the Company purdadhe terms of Compa’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Ple

Includes 83,167 shares subject to stock optionscesable within 60 days of February 1, 2009. Edeki 50,000 RSUs granted to
Jones (25,000 of which will have vested within @/sl of February 1, 2008). Mr. Jones has no rights stockholder, including
dividend or voting rights, with respect to the ggaunderlying the RSUs until the shares are isbydle Company pursuant to the te
of Compan’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Ple
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(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

Includes 36,250 shares subject to stock optionscesable within 60 days of February 1, 2009. Esels 100,000 RSUs granted to
Skelly. Mr. Skelly has no rights as a stockholdiecjuding no dividend or voting rights, with regpeo the shares underlying the R
until the shares are issued by the Company pursadhe terms of the Compe’'s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Ple

Includes 32,750 shares subject to stock optionscesadble within 60 days of February 1, 2009. Mred&br's holdings do not inclut
securities held by GCE or by Gal¢

Includes 22,750 shares subject to stock optionscesable within 60 days of February 1, 2009. Esels 100,000 RSUs granted to
Sumner. Mr. Sumner has no rights as a stockholdelyding no dividend or voting rights, with regpeo the shares underlying
RSUs until the shares are issued by the Comparsupat to the terms of the Comp’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Ple

Includes 111,667 shares subject to stock optiorscesable with 60 days of February 1, 2009. Exetud40,000 RSUs granted to
Clemens. Mr. Clemens has no rights as a stockhoidcluding no dividend or voting rights, withspect to the shares underlying
RSUs until the shares are issued by the Compargupnt to the terms of Comparsy2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan. Includes 4
shares held by minor childre

Includes 18,750 shares subject to stock optionecesable within 60 days of February 1, 2009. Mirkhams holdings do not inclu
amounts held by GCE or Care Capi

Includes 28,750 shares subject to stock optionscesable within 60 days of February 1, 2009. Mnamgarajs holdings do not inclu
securities held by GCE or by Ess

Includes 69,333 shares subject to stock optionscesable within 60 days of February 1, 2009. Esels 165,000 RSUs granted to
Seiser. Mr. Seiser has no rights as a stockhoidelyding no dividend or voting rights, with regpéo the shares underlying the R
until the shares are issued by the Company pursadhe terms of Compa’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Pl

Includes 18,750 shares subject to stock optionscisable within 60 days of February 1, 20
Includes 2,239,333 shares which Directors and akecofficers have the right to acquire within 68yd of February 1, 2009 throt

exercise of outstanding stock options. Includesisgées held by James Emigh, our Vice Presidentrkeiing and Administration,
addition to the officers and directors listed ah¢

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

GCE Holdings LLC, our 77.7%stockholder (“GCE")is the assignee of all of our shares of prefertedks(prior to their conversic

into common stock) formerly held by each of GaletRers Ill, L.P., Galen Partners Internationa) LIP., Galen Employee Fund llII, L
(collectively, “Galen”), Care Capital Investments LP, Care Capital Offshore Investments Il, LP ligctively, “Care Capital”)and Esse
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., (“Essex” ancetbgr with Galen and Care, the “VC Investor&alen, Care and Essex own 39.8%, 3(
and 29.6%, respectively, of the membership intere&CE. Messrs. Wesson, Markham and Thangaraly ad@irector, exercise investm
control over the membership interests in GCE hgidSlalen, Care and Essex, respectively, and corneipgly exercise investment cont
over our common stock held by GCE.
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As a condition to the completion of our 2004 debentoffering, we, the investors in our 2004 debegiand the holders of «
outstanding 5% convertible senior secured debesntdue March 31, 2006 issued by us during the pdripd 1998 through 2003 execute
certain Voting Agreement dated as of February 642@he "Voting Agreement"). The Voting Agreementyided that each of Galen, Care
Essex (collectively, the "Lead 2004 Debenture ItvesS) had the right to designate for nominatioe emember of our Board of Directors, i
that the Lead Debenture 2004 Investors collectivey designate one additional member of the Boeotlectively, the "Designees™).
connection with the conversion of our preferredreBanto common stock completed in November 20®5 Moting Agreement was amende
reflect the conveyance by each of Galen, Care aséxEof their holdings in our preferred sharesofpio their conversion into common sta
to GCE. After giving effect to a further amendméentianuary 2008, the Voting Agreement, as amenplejdes that our Board of Direct
shall be comprised of not more than seven (7) meslieree (3) of whom shall be designees of GCE,arwhom shall be our CEO and tr
of whom shall be independent directors. The desigioé GCE are Messrs. Wesson, Markham and Thangaraj

We were a party to a certain loan agreement witth ed the VC Investors and certain of our othershalders dated February
2004 (the "$5.0 Million Secured Term NoteThe $5.0 Million Secured Term Note was in the ppatamount of $5.0 million and was sect
by a lien on all of our assets and the assets ofulosidiary. On June 28, 2007, the $5.0 Milli@c@®ed Term Note was amended to exten
maturity date from June 30, 2007 to September 807 2and further amended on August 20, 2007 to extiee maturity date from Septem
30, 2007 to December 31, 2008. In addition, thgust 20, 2007 amendment to the $5.0 Million Secdrexdn Note reduced the interest
from a variable rate of prime plus 4.5%, to a fixate of 10.0% per annum and to provide for intepagments in the form of cash instea
our common stock. In September 2007 approxime®8l00 of principal was repaid under the $5.0 MilliSecured Term Note leavin
principal balance of $4,992,000. In accordancé wie terms of the $5.0 million Secured Term NatdDecember 7, 2007, simultaneous
our receipt of the norefundable $30 million upfront cash payment receéifrem King under the King Agreement, we satisfiedull all of our
obligations under the $5.0 Million Secured Term&lot

During the period from June 2005 through July 208¥ borrowed an aggregate of $10.544 million pursuana series of lo¢
agreements between us, the VC Investors and cexttaén shareholders (th&fidge Loans). We used the net proceeds from tidgBr_oans t

develop our Aversiof? Technology and fund related operating expenses.BFltge Loans carried an interest rate of 10%, peyguarterl
which, pursuant a November 2006 amendment, washpgyat the Compang’option, with shares of its Common Stock. The geidloans, ¢
amended in March 2007, had a scheduled maturity afaBeptember 30, 2007. In accordance with tiwersion provisions contained in
Bridge Loans, the outstanding $10.544 million pipat balance under Bridge Loans was converted dniounits upon the closing of our U
Offering described below. As a result, the Bridlgan Agreements and all related security agreensrdgguaranties were terminated.

During 2007, we paid an aggregate of $145,000 &h éaterest under the Bridge Loans (of which $43,6@s paid to each of Gal
Care and Essex) and issued an aggregate of 47had€ssof our common stock in satisfaction of irdepayments under the Bridge Loans
which 15,300 shares were issued to each of Galeme &d Essex)(on a post reverse stock split basis)

On August 20, 2007, we entered into a Securitigslase Agreement with GCE Holdings LLC, our cotitngl shareholder, and t
investors named therein (collectively, the “Univéstors”). Pursuant to the Agreement, the Unit Investors mset in the aggregate (on a |
reverse stock split basis) 2,365,185 of our Urilthits”), at a price of $10.80 per Unit (the “Ur@tffering”). Each Unit consisted of four sha
of common stock and a warrant to purchase one stiam@mmon stock (the “Warrants,388,889 of the Units were issued for cash, wit
balance of 996,296 Units issued to GCE Holdings LB€ assignee of the Bridge Loans from the VC ltorss in consideration of t
conversion of an aggregate of $10.544 million img@pal amount under our outstanding Bridge Loafke net cash proceeds to us
expenses of the Unit Offering were approximatel.8Imillion.

The Warrants issued in the Unit Offering are imragaly exercisable at a price of $3.40 per sharea(post reverse stock split ba

and expire August 20, 2014. The Warrants may leecesed for cash, or on a cashless basis commead8&dglays after the closing if at
time of exercise the shares underlying the Warrargsiot covered by an effective registration statat filed with the SEC.
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At the time of issuance, the common stock and shafeommon stock underlying the Warrants sold yams to the Unit Offerin
were not registered under the Securities Act 0f31%3 amended, and could not be offered or sotlénUnited States in the absence c
effective registration statement or exemption frrggistration requirements. In accordance with riguirements of the Securities Purct
Agreement, we filed a registration statement wlith 8EC for purposes of registering the resale e@fttares of common stock issued as pi
the Units and the shares of common stock issugibe exercise of the Warrants (the “Registratiortedt@nt”). The Registration Statem:
was declared effective by the SEC on November 8072 We must exercise best efforts to keep thasiatgon Statement effective until 1
earlier of (i) the date that all shares of commttls and shares of common stock underlying Warreotered by the Registration Staten
have been sold, or (ii) the fifth anniversary of fRegistration Statement, provided that the pedimihg which the Registration Statement r
be kept effective can be shortened to not less tilvaryears by agreement of holders of registrabtaisties. Shares of common stock elig
for sale under Rule 144(k) of the Securities Act1883, as amended, need not be included in thesRetipn Statement. Under cert
circumstances, if shares are excluded from the dRagjon Statement by the SEC, we may be requicefile one or more additior
Registration Statements for the excluded sharebjeEt to certain exceptions, for each day thatfaileto keep the Registration Staterr
effective, we must pay each Investor 0.05% of theclpase price of securities covered by the RegjstréStatement and held by such 1
Investor at such time, up to a maximum of 9.9%hefamount paid by a Unit Investor for the Units.

The requirement in the Securities Purchase Agreeteefile the Registration Statement triggered giggyback registration rigt
granted to certain holders of shares of our comstook and warrants exercisable for common stockyamt to an Amended and Rest
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Febr@ar2004, as amended. GCE Holdings LLC, Galen Bestll, L.P., Galen Partne
International Ill, L.P., Galen Employee Fund IIl,A., Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Captishore Investments Il, LP and Es
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. exercised thigiggback registration rights under such AgreemeXd.a result, an aggregate of 26,584

shares of common stock and shares underlying wartzgld by such shareholders (after giving effecoar 1 for 10 reverse stock s
effected December 5, 2007) were included in theidtegion Statement.

Our Board has not adopted formalized written peicand procedures for the review or approval cfteel party transactions. A
matter of practice, however, our Board has required all related party transactions, includingthwut limitation, each of the transacti
described above in this Item 13, be subject toesevand approval by a committee of independent tirecestablished by the Board. -
Board's practice is to evaluate whether a related pamgluding a director, officer, employee, GCE Holgkn Galen, Care, Essex or o1
significant shareholder) will have a direct or idit interest in a transaction in which we may Ipady. Where the Board determined that :
proposed transaction involves a related party Bbard formally establishes a committee comprisddlp®f independent directors to revi
and evaluate such proposed transaction (the “Inttepe Committee”).The Independent Committee is authorized to reviewy and al
information it deems necessary and appropriatevéduate the fairness of the transaction to us amdsbareholders (other than the intere
related party to such transaction), including nreetvith management, retaining third party expeirtslgding counsel and financial advisor
determined necessary and appropriate by the IndepénCommittee) and evaluating alternative transast if any. The Independt
Committee is also empowered to negotiate the tesfrsuch proposed related party transaction on @malh. The proposed related p:
transaction may proceed only following the approeald recommendation of the Independent Committedlowing the Independe
Committee$ approval, the related party transaction is salteéinal review and approval of the Board as avlehwith any interested direc
abstaining from such action.

Each of the transactions described above in tleis 113 were subject to the review, evaluation, riajoh and approval of i
Independent Committee of the Board. In each of sasle, the Independent Committee was comprisedeséM. Sumner and Skelly.

Director Independence

In assessing the independence of our Board membardoard has reviewed and analyzed the standardedependence requir
under the NASDAQ Capital Market, including NASDAQakketplace Rule 4200(a)(15), and applicable SEQlatigns. Based on tt
analysis, our Board has determined that each ofsMedVilliam A. Sumner, William Skelly and Georgeod® meet the standards
independence provided in the listing requiremefthi® NASDAQ Capital Market and SEC regulationss @&result, three of our seven Bc
members meet such standards of independence. ugjlththe listing standards of the NASDAQ Capital kéarspecify that a majority of
listed issuer’'s board of directors must be compriséindependent directors, we are relying uporeaemption for “controlled companies”
provided in the listing standards for the NASDAQp@al Market. A “controlled companyi% a company of which more than 50% of the vc
power is held by an individual, a group or anott@mpany. Based on GCE Holdings Lis@wnership of approximately 78% of our comt
stock, we are considered a controlled company utigerules of the NASDAQ Capital Market and areyired upon this exemption in havi
less than a majority of independent directors anBmard.

With respect to our Board committees, our Board determined that the members of our Compensatiomritiee do not meet t
standards for independence described above.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our registered independent public accounting fisTBDO Seidman, LLP. The fees billed by this firm2808 and 2007 were
follows:

2007 2008
Audit Fees $ 85,82 $ 131,76-
Audit-Related Fees - -
Total Audit and Aud-Related Fee 85,82¢ 131,76¢
Tax Fees 30,16¢ 180,67"
All Other Fees - -
Total for BDO Seidman, LLP $ 115,99: $ 312,43:

Audit Fees include professional services rendenecbinnection with the annual audits of our finahstatements and with our 2C
audit of internal control over financial reportirand the review of the financial statements inctudeour Forms 1@ for the related annt
periods. Additionally, Audit Fees include othendees that only an independent registered publkioawting firm carreasonably provide, su
as services associated with our SEC registratiaterstents or other documents filed with the SEC seduin connection with financi
activities. AuditRelated Fees include the audits of employee beplefits and accounting consultations related towttaug, financial reportir
or disclosure matters not classified as "Audit Fees

Tax Fees include tax compliance, tax advice anglanning services. These services related to itgagpation of various state inco
tax returns, and our federal income tax return,r@néews of IRC Section 382.

Audit Committee's Pre-Approval Policies and Procedues

Consistent with policies of the SEC regarding audihdependence and the Audit Committee Charter Atdit Committee has t
responsibility for appointing, setting compensat&rd overseeing the work of the registered indegeinpublic accounting firm (the “Firn”
The Audit Committee's policy is to pre-approveaaltit and permissible non-audit services providgthle Firm. Preapproval is detailed as
the particular service or category of services iargenerally subject to a specific budget. The A@dimmittee may also prapprove particul:
services on a case-loase basis. In assessing requests for servicebeb¥itm, the Audit Committee considers whether ssetvices ai
consistent with the Firms’ independence, whether the Firm is likely to pdevihe most effective and efficient service baspdnuthei
familiarity with the Company, and whether the seevtould enhance the Company's ability to managemtrol risk or improve audit quality.

All of the auditrelated, tax and other services provided by BDQdi@ah in 2008 and 2007 and related fees (as dedciibéhe
captions above) were approved in advance by thét @ammittee.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part af tieport:
1. All Financial Statements: See Index to FinanStatements
2. Financial Statement Schedules: None

3. Exhibits: See Index to Exhibits
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or)18{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the itegig has duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

Date: February 27, 20(

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By :ANDREW D. REDDICK

Andrew D. Reddicl

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the datisated.

Signhature

Title(s)

Date

/s/ Andrew D. Reddic

Andrew D. Reddicl

/s/ Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen

/s! William G. Skelly

William G. Skelly

/s/ Bruce F. Wessc

Bruce F. Wesso

/s/ William A. Sumne

William A. Sumner

/s/ Richard J. Markhai

Richard J. Markhar

/s/ Immanuel Thangar.

Immanuel Thangar:

/sl George K. Ros

George K. Ross

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Siabgids of December 31, 2008
2007 and the related consolidated statements ahtipes, stockholdersquity (deficit), and cash flows for each of theethyears in the peri
ended December 31, 2008. These financial statenagatthe responsibility of the Compamyhanagement. Our responsibility is to expre:
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamloUnited States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to obt@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes consideration ¢érimal control over financial reporting as a bdsisdesigning audit procedures that
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for thgppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiverméghe Companyg' internal control ov
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nalswpinion. An audit also includes examining, oneat basis, evidence supporting
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemeastessing the accounting principles used andfisamt estimates made by managemer
well as evaluating the overall financial statenyamsentation. We believe that our audits provideagonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary at DecembeP@d8 and 2007, and the results of its operatiomsits cash flows for each of the tr
years in the period ended December 31, 2008, ifoocmity with accounting principles generally acaegin the United States of Americ

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight BlodUnited States), Acu
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over ficiah reporting as of December 31, 2008, based aarier established imnternal Control-
Integrated Frameworlissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiminthe Treadway Commission (COSO) and our repatec
February 27, 2009 expressed an unqualified opittiereon.

Chicago, lllinois /s/ BDO Seidman, LLI
February 27, 200




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2008 and 2007
(in thousands except par value and share data)

ASSETS
Current assel

Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Collaboration revenue receivat
Prepaid clinical study cos
Prepaid insuranc
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Deferred income taxe

Total current asse
Property, plant and equipment, |

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Deferred program fee reven- current portior
Accrued expense
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred program fee revenue — non current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Not¢
Stockholder’ equity

Common stock - $1 par value; 650,000,000 shares authorized; 40723and 42,706,466 shares issued

outstanding in 2008 and 2007, respecti
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.

2008 2007
30,39¢ 31,36¢
5,03¢ -
3,52¢ 2,977

- 38¢

28 202

14¢ 47
2,491 9,60(
41,88¢ 4458
1,07¢ 1,04¢
42,96 45 62t
382 -
4,63: 21,94:
88 334
5,897 22,27¢

- 4,63:

5,897 26,90¢
427 427
344,02: 340,15:
(307,381 (321,86()
37,06 18,72
42,96 45 62t




Revenue!
Program fee revent
Collaboration revent
Milestone revenue

Total revent

Operating expenst
Research and development expe

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

(in thousands except per share data)

Marketing, general and administrative expe

Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operatiol

Other income (expens
Interest incom:
Interest expens
Amortization of debt discoul

(Loss) gain on fair value change of conversemtires
(Loss) gain on fair value change of common st@akrants

Gain (loss) on asset dispos
Other expense

Total other income (expen

Income (loss) before income t
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss

Deemed dividend from modification of debt
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockhols

Earnings (loss) per sha
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shar
Basic

Diluted

2008 2007 2006
27,94 $ 3,427 )
11,49¢ 2,971 -
5,00( - -
44,43 6,401 -
14,32: 7,16¢ 5,17:
9,13: 4,141 5,651
23,45t 11,31( 10,82¢
20,98: (4,906) (10,82f)

78C 26¢ 18
- (1,207) (1,140
- (2,700) (189
- (3,489) 4,23¢
- (1,905) 2,16¢
@) 22 22)
@ ©) (219
777 (9,009) 4,85¢
21,75¢ (13,919 (5,967)
7,28¢ (9,600) -
14,47 (4,312 (5,967)
- (3) (19,96()
1447: $ (4,31 (25,92
03: $ (0.11) (0.75)
0.2¢ $ (0.11) (0.75)
45,67 39,15; 34,49¢
49,41¢ 39,15, 34,49¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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Balance at Dec. 31, 200

Net loss for the year ended Dec.
2006

Deemed dividend related to de
modification

Adoption of FAS 123F

Issuance of restricted stock ur
Other stoc-based compensatic
Reclassification of value of commu
stock warrants to liabilitie

Issuance of Common Shares for
exercise of option

Issuance of Common Shares for inte
Issuance of Common Shares for
cashless exercise of warrant
Balance at Dec. 31, 200

Net loss for the year ended Dec.
2007

Deemed dividend related to de
modification

Reclassification of conversion featt
value

Reclassification of common stock
warrant value

Conversion feature value of issued d
Other stoc-based compensatic

Net proceeds from unit offerir
Conversion of bridge loan notes, |
Issuance of Common Shares
exercise of option

Issuance of Common Shares for inte
Issuance of Common Shares
cashless exercise of warra
Reverse stock split

Balance at Dec. 31, 200

Net income for the year ended Dec.
2008

Other stoc-based compensatic
Issuance of Common Shares
exercise of warrant

Balance at Dec. 31, 200

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

(in thousands except par values)

Common Stock Additional Accumu-
$0.01 Par Value Paid-in Comper- lated
Shares $ Amount Capital sation Deficit Total
32,92¢ 32¢ $ 290,84¢ $ (5,729 $ (291,61) $ (6,167)
(5,967 (5,967
(19,960 (19,960
(5,729 5,72¢ -
68C 68(
5,04¢ 5,04¢
(12,949 (12,949
40 1 97 98
12¢ 1 93z 93¢
2 -
33,09¢ 331 $ 278,93 $ - $  (317,54) $ (38,28()
(4,319 (4,319
(©) (©)
21,08¢ 21,08¢
12,45; 12,45
1,78¢ 1,78¢
91t 91t
5,55¢ 56 14,09( 14,14¢
3,90¢ 39 9,961 10,00(
31 - 11€ 11€
84 1 811 812
32 - - -
(2) - - -
42,70¢ 427 $ 340,15. $ - $ (321,860 $ 18,72(
14,47: 14,47
3,85( 3,85(
17 - 2C 2C
42,72 427 $ 344,020 $ - $ (307,38) $ 37,06¢
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006

(in thousands, except supplemental data)

2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income (loss $ 14,47: $ (4319 $ (5,967
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rehcprovided by (used in) operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 145 13C 11¢
Amortization of debt discout - 2,70C 182
Loss (gain) on the fair value change of converésatures - 3,48: (4,23%)
Loss (gain) on the fair value change of commonkstearrants - 1,90¢ (2,169
Non-cash stock compensation expe 3,85( 91t 5,72¢
Loss (gain) on asset dispos 1 (22 22
Common stock issued for intere - 81z 93¢
Deferred income taxe 7,10¢ (9,600 -
Change in fixed asset impairment rese (29) - 71
Changes in assets and liabilit
Collaboration revenue receival (553) (2,977) -
Prepaid expenses and other current a 207 (39¢) (55)
Other assets and depo: - 7 -
Accounts payabl 382 - -
Accrued expenst 54¢ 5 (13
Deferred program fee reven (21,947) 26,57« -
Net cash provided by (used in) operating actis 4,191 19,22( (5,387)
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of sheterm investment (26,039 - -
Maturities of sho-term investment 21,00( - -
Capital expenditure (143 (32) (85)
Proceeds from asset disposals 1 22 70
Net cash used in investing activiti (5,187 (9) (15)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured bridgenetes - 2,69¢ 5,29¢
Repayments on secured term r - (5,000 -
Net proceeds from the unit offeril - 14,14¢ -
Proceeds from exercise of stock optir - 11¢ 98
Proceeds from exercise of warti 20 - -
Payments on capital lease obligations - (32 (31)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 20 11,92¢ 5,36¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (970 31,14( (33
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 31,36¢ 22¢ 26C
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 30,39¢ $ 31,36¢ $ 22¢
Cash paid during the perio
Interest $ 2 $ 39t % 207
Income taxe: $ 82 $ - $ =

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006

Supplemental disclosures of nhoncash investing exah€ing activities presented on a reverse stoliklssis:

Year ended December 31, 2008

1.

2.

3.

Impaired fixed assets with a $52,000 net book vaheee disposed and a $29,000 reduction in the immzait allowance was favoral
recognized

A $1,177,000 valuation allowance against deferredine tax assets was removed which resulted imaal @mount recorded as a ber
against current income tax exper

Deferred income tax assets of $11,912,000 were taseffset an equal amount of current income tgeasble.

Year ended December 31, 2007

1.

2.
3.

9.

10.

The Company issued 47,552 shares of common stolcledraat $460,000 as payment of the accrued inteteston Senior Secur
Convertible Bridge Term Notes Payalk

The Company issued 36,150 shares of common stdekd/at $352,000 as payment of accrued interesbduecured Term Note Paya
Warrants to purchase an aggregate 58,000 shaoesrohon stock were exercised at exercise pricesdeet1.20 and $6.60 per share
series of cashless exercise transactions restttitige issuance of aggregate 31,361 shares of constock.

The issuance of $896,000 Senior Secured Converlidge Term Notes during the period January 1,7280ough March 29, 20
included conversion features measured at $849@bizh resulted in the recording of an equal amamfrdebt discount and convers
feature liabilities

The change in all separated conversion fe's fair value through March 30, 2007 resulted inosslof $3,483,000. Due to a ¢
agreement modification on March 30, 2007, the thiment conversion feature fair value of $21,086,8@s reclassified from liabilities
equity.

The issuance of $1,800,000 of Senior Secured Bridgen Notes included conversion features measuréd,852,000, which resulted i
recording of an equal amount of debt discount atgq

The change in the common stock warr’ fair value through the earlier of their exerciséedar March 30, 2007 resulted in a los:
1,668,000. Due to a debt agreement modificatioMarch 30, 2007, the then current fair value ofla#92,100 outstanding common st
warrants of $12,307,000 was reclassified from lit$ to equity, as was $146,000 of such valuatesl to warrants exercised during
period.

Anti-dilution provisions in certain warrant grants weriggered resulting in a loss of $236,000 with @jua amount recorded agai
equity.

Senior Secured Convertible Bridge Term Notes Payabl$10,544,000, less unamortized debt discour#5d4,000 was converted il
3,905,184 shares of common sta

A $9,600,000 valuation allowance against deferredine tax assets was removed which resulted imaal @mount recorded as a ber
against current income tax exper

Year ended December 31, 2006

1.
2.
3.

4.

The Company issued 85,464 shares of Common Stog&yesent of $624,000 of accrued interest due onr@dcTerm Note Payabl

The Company issued 42,650 shares of Common Stog#yesent of $309,000 of accrued interest on Bridogn Notes Payabl
Warrants to purchase 16,593 shares of Common Steck exercised in March 2006 at an exercise pricet@0 per share in a cashl
exercise transaction resulting in the issuance9gias shares of Common Sto

Warrants to purchase 3,069 shares of Common Steck axercised in May 2006 at an exercise pricedofGper share in a cashl
exercise transaction resulting in the issuancer8fshares of Common Stoc

A warrant to purchase 15,000 shares of Common Steak modified due to its andifution clause resulting in a $142,000 st
compensation expens

The modification of conversion features embeddethiwiBridge Loan Notes Payable was valued at $1908%® and the issuance
$1,104,000 of Bridge Loan Notes Payable contairet/ersion features valued at $1,035,000. The chantgfee conversion featurefai
value through December 31, 2006 resulted in a g$##,235,000

Due to certain debt conversion feature modificagjahe then current fair value of all 16,331,00@standing common stock warrants
$12,948,000 was reclassified from equity to lidigfi. The change in the common stock warrantsvigine through December 31, 2(
resulted in a gain of $2,164,0(

Bridge Loan Notes Payable of $1,104,000 contairied2%,000 of debt discour

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New York corporatiand its subsidiary (the “Company” or “Wel§ a specialty pharmaceuti
company engaged in research, development and naardaof product candidates providing abuse datefeatures and benefits utilizing «

proprietary Aversior!’ Technology. Our portfolio of product candidatesludes opioid analgesics intended to effectiveljeve pain whil
simultaneously discouraging common methods of phaeutical product misuse and abuse including:

« intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cégsu
« nasal snorting of crushed tablets or capsules; and
- intentional swallowing of excess quantities of &blor capsule:

Amounts presented are rounded to the nearest thdugsdiere indicated, except share and per shase @a¢ equity amounts and all share
per share data of the Company have been adjustefi¢ot a one-for-ten reverse stock split on Deoen®, 2007.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of the significant accounting policiesisistently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financial statem
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its whotlywned subsidiary, Acura Pharmaceu
Technologies, Inc. All significant intercompanycaants and transactions are eliminated in condididaDuring 2006, the Compa
dissolved Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation. Thesdlistion of this subsidiary had no impact on thesmidated financial positio
results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid securitieith an original maturity of three months or lessbe cash equivalents. The carn
amount of cash equivalents approximates its fdirevdue to its shotierm nature. Cash and cash equivalents consiststf maintained
one financial institution and in money market furasel United States Treasury obligations. We belteeefinancial risks associated w
these instruments to be minimal. We have not egpedd any losses from our investments in theseiiesuFrom time to time, amoul
may exceed the Federal Reserve insurance limitehemwe believe our credit risk exposure is notemak

3. Short-Term Investments

The Company’s entire portfolio of short-term invasnts is currently classified as “held to matusgcurities”pursuant to Statement
Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, “Accountiftg Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Se@sft We classify thes
investments as current assets and carry them &t Cos shortterm investments are governed by our investmeritypak approved by o
Board of Directors. Our entire shagrm investment portfolio at December 31, 2008 miaf bank commercial paper with maturi
remaining of less than 30 days.




4. Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company invests its excess cash in accordaithehe investment policy approved by our Boardirectors that seeks both liquid
and safety of principal. The policy looks to makedstments in instruments issued by the UnitedeStgbvernment and commer
institutions with strong investment grade crediings and places restrictions on maturity terms@nttentrations by type and issuer.

5. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial Stmnents

The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtconformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United States
America requires management to make estimates aadassumptions that affect the reported amountasséts and liabilities a
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the datetloé consolidated financial statements, as welhasreported amounts of revenues
expenses during the reporting period. Actual restduld differ from those estimates. Managemenbgerally evaluates estimates use
the preparation of the consolidated financial stetets for continued reasonableness. Appropriatestadgnts, if any, to the estimates t
are made prospectively based on such periodic atiahs.

6. Inventories

The Company had no inventories at each of DecerBtier2008 and 2007. Purchases of active pharmaegéutigredients and re
materials required for the Company’s developmeut @imical trial manufacture of product candidatgiizing its Aversion®Technolog'
are expensed as incurred. To purchase certaineaatijredients required for our development and rfeanture, we are required to file
and obtain quotas annually from the U.S. Drug Ec€orent Agency.

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at &wgtreciation is recorded on a straijhe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Amortization of capital lease agséncluded in depreciation expense. Leasehofiiarements are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of their useful livestlee terms of their respective leases. Bettermargscapitalized and maintenance
repairs are charged to operations as incurred. e$timated lives of the major classification of dmpable assets are:

Building and building improvemen 10- 40 year
Land improvement 20- 40 year
Machinery and equipme! 7-10 year
Scientific equipmen 5-10 year
Computer hardware and softwe 3-10 year
Office equipmen 5-10 year
Furniture and fixture 10 year

8. Asset Impairment

Longdived assets are reviewed for impairment whenewents or changes in circumstances indicate thgiogrrvalue may not t
recoverable. Impairment is measured by compariegctrrying value of the lonlived assets to the estimated undiscounted futast
flows expected to result from use of the assetstlagid ultimate disposition. To the extent impaimhbas occurred, the carrying amour
the asset would be written down to an amount tecethe fair value of the asset. During the fouyttarter of 2006, the Company provi
a $71,000 reserve against the net book value @tasssigned to the CompasyOpioid Synthesis Technologies as the Compan'
discontinued all activities relating to this teclogy. At December 31, 2006, the net book valuellbéssets under reserve was $166,
During 2007, assets in the amount of $59,000 frben@pioid Synthesis Technologies were disposecesiliing in a recorded gain
$20,000. Additional other assets of $25,000 wese disposed of resulting in neither gain nor I@asing 2008, the last of the assets v
disposed of resulting in a $29,000 favorable redadn the impairment allowance. No assets rematfeun reserve at December 31, 2008.
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9. Debt Discount

For years 2007 and prior, debt discount resultiognfthe issuance of common stock warrants in cdioreevith subordinated debt a
other notes payable as well as from beneficial ecsion features contained in convertible debt veasnded as a reduction of the rel;
obligations and was amortized over the remainifggdf the related obligations. Debt discount radate the common stock warrants iss
was determined by a calculation based on the veldiir values ascribed to such warrants determiyethanagement's use of the Black-
Scholes valuation model. Inherent in the Bl&toles valuation model are assumptions made bygeanent regarding the estimated

of the warrant, the estimated volatility of the GQmany's common stock (as determined by reviewindpigtorical public market closil
prices) and the expected dividend yield.

10. Debt Conversion Features and Common Stock Warrds

For years 2006 and 2007 certain provisions of timeraled conversion features contained in the ConpdBsidge Loan Agreemer
required the Company to separate the value of dheearsion feature from the debt and record suchevak a separate liability which v
marked-to-market at each balance sheet date. Thgp&woy used the Black-Scholes optimieing model to compute the estimated
value of the conversion features. Marked-to-maskigistments resulted in the recording of furthengiand losses.

As a result of the amendment to the Bridge LoaneAgrents, all outstanding common stock purchaseamarwere fair valued using
Black - Scholes option-pricing model and recordedhdiability with a corresponding reduction in &tdhal paidin capital. This warral
liability was marked-to-market each balance sha&t @hich resulted in the recording of further geand losses.

11. Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee Rewamand Collaboration Revenue

We recognize revenue in accordance with SecudtiesExchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletim §04, ‘Revenue Recognitit
in Financial Statements” (“SAB 104”). We have atsdopted the provisions of Emerging Issues Taske&;dssue No. 00-21,Revenu
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (“EITF Gft"). Revenue is recognized when there is persuasiversidthat an arrangem
exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixad determinable, and collection is reasonably assur

In connection with our License, Development and @mrcialization Agreement dated October 30, 200@ (#ing Agreement”)with
King Pharmaceuticals Research and Development,(Id;ng”), we recognize program fee revenue, collaboratioemae and milesto
revenue.

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized upfpayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront paytfrom King received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the $Bidhnoption exercise fee paid by King to us inckaf May and December 2008 uj
the exercise of its option to license a third aodrth opioid analgesic product candidate underkiimg Agreement. We have assignec
equal portion of the King upfront payment to eathhoee product candidates identified in the Kingréement and recognize the upfi
payment as program fee revenue ratably over oimats of the development period for each identifiedduct candidate. We recogni
$27.9 million of program fee revenue in 2008.

Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursentdritevelopment expenses, which are invoiced qugiite arrears, and are recogni;
when costs are incurred pursuant to the King AgeregmThe ongoing research and development serligiag provided to King under t
collaboration are priced at fair value based upgmn reimbursement of expenses incurred pursuartigcacollaboration with King. W
recognized $11.5 million of collaboration reveno€D08 of which $3.5 million was a current receieadit December 31, 2008.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievémérertain pre-defined events in the developrrmancurox® Tablets and oth
product candidates licensed to King under the Ké&greement. Milestone payments from King are recoeghi as revenue up
achievement of the “at riskhilestone events, which represent the culminatioth® earnings process related to that milestoriteskbne
payments are triggered either by the results ofresearch and development efforts or by eventsreadtéo us, such as regulatory appr
to market a product. As such, the milestones abstantially at risk at the inception of the King rdgment, and the amounts of
payments assigned thereto are commensurate wittmitestone achieved. In addition, upon the achiex@nof a milestone event, we h.
no future performance obligations related to thdestone payment. Each milestone payment is namdtble and nooreditable whe
made. In June 2008, King paid us a $5.0 milliorestibtne payment for successfully achieving the pyireadpoints in our pivotal Phase

study, AP-ADF-105 for AcuroX Tablets.
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12. Research and Development

Research and Development (“R&DExpenses include internal R&D activities, extef@RO activities, and other activities. Internal R
activity expenses include facility overhead, equipimand facility maintenance and repairs, depreciataboratory supplies, pmiical
laboratory experiments, depreciation, salariesgfisn and incentive compensation expenses. CRDitgcexpenses include preclinic
laboratory experiments and clinical trial studi€ther activity expenses include clinical trial dagland regulatory consulting, ¢
regulatory counsel. Internal R&D activities and eathactivity expenses are charged to operationshasrried. The Company mal
payments to the CRO's based on agreed upon temnmay include payments in advance of the studyistadate. The Company revie
and accrues CRO expenses and clinical trial stuggreses based on work performed and relies upanasts of those costs applicabli
the stage of completion of a study as provided iy €RO. Accrued CRO costs are subject to revisamsuch trials progress
completion. Revisions are charged to expense inpth@d in which the facts that give rise to theismn become known. Advan
payments are amortized to expense based on wdidrped. The Company has entered into several CRzal trial agreements pursu.
to which $0 and $0.4 million was prepaid at Decen8de 2008 and 2007, respectively. The unfunded €CB®mitments were $1.0 milli
and $4.0 million at December 31, 2008 and 200heetively, and are expected to be incurred as stibpre enrolled into the clinic
studies.

13. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under tiditiamethod in accordance with Statement of FizriahAccounting Standards M
109 ("SFAS No. 109"), "Accounting for Income TaxXednder this method, deferred income tax assetdiahilities are determined bas
on differences between financial reporting and medax basis of assets and liabilities and are unedausing the enacted income tax 1
and laws that will be in effect when the differemege expected to reverse. Additionally, net ofregdbss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax assets. The agializof deferred income tax assets is dependemt figure earnings. SFAS 109 requ
a valuation allowance against deferred income $@ets if, based on the weight of available evideiég more likely than not that some
all of the deferred income tax assets may not bézed. The Company determined it was more likblgn not that it would be able
realize some of its deferred income tax asseteémear future, and recorded adjustments of $1lllmand $9.6 million to the deferr
income tax asset valuation allowance during 2082007, respectively. These adjustments recogradeehefit from income taxes in «
income for such periods and provided a currentrdedeincome tax asset. At both December 31, 2008807, 100% of the remaining
deferred income tax assets were offset by a valuatilowance due to uncertainties with respecutaré utilization of net operating Ic
carryforwards. If in the future it is determinecathadditional amounts of our deferred income tasetsswould likely be realized, 1
valuation allowance would be reduced in the pefp@hich such determination is made and an additidenefit from income taxes
such period would be recognized.

14. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per sloireommon stock is based upon the weighted averageber of common shai
outstanding during the period, including shareatesl to vested restricted stock units (See Not&Hg computation of diluted earnir
(loss) per share is based on the same number dsshaed in the basic share calculation adjustethéoeffect of other potentially diluti
securities. No such adjustments were made for B@D06 as their effects would be antidilutive.

Net income (loss) used in the Company’s earningssflper share computationsludes the impact in 2007 and 2006 of dividegiesme

to have been issued to certain common shareholdees result of modifications to debt agreements wibse shareholders as furn
described in Note F.
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Year ended December &

(in thousands except per share d 2008 2007 2006
Basic earnings per she
Numerator:
Net income (loss $ 14,47 $ (4,319 $ (5,967
Deemed dividend from modification of debt - (3 (19,960
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockhol: $ 14,47 $ (4,317 $ (25,927
Denominator
Common shares (weighte 42,71¢ 36,65¢ 32,98¢
Vested restricted stock units (weight: 2,95¢ 2,501 1,51C
Weighted average number of shares outstar 45,67¢ 39,157 34,49¢
Basic earnings (loss) per common st $ 03z $ (0.17) $ (0.75)

Diluted earnings per sha
Denominator

Common shares (weighte 42,71¢ 36,65¢ 32,98¢
Vested restricted stock units (weight 2,952 2,501 1,51(C
Stock options 1,44: - -
Common stock warran 2,302 - -
Weighted average number of shares outstar 49,41¢ 39,151 34,49¢
Diluted earnings (loss) per common sh $ 0.2¢ $ (0.1 $ (0.75)

Excluded potentially dilutive securitie
Common stock issuable (2

Employee and director stock optic 1,14¢ 1,85¢ 1,90(C
Common stock warran - 3,972 1,63:
Non-vested restricted stock un 30 - 98¢
Convertible debt - - 3,30¢
Dilutive shares 1,17¢ 4.,82( 7,822

(1) Number of shares issuable represents thoseitieswhich were either i) nonvested at year end)were vested but antidilutive. T
number of shares is based on maximum number oéstissuable on exercise or conversion of the etlsgeurities as of year end. S
amounts have not been adjusted for the treasuck stethod or weighted average outstanding calamratas required if the securities w
dilutive.

15. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has four stotlased compensation plans covering stock optionsrestdcted stock units for its employees and dex
which are described more fully in Note I.

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Finanaiabénting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement Na3 {2vised 2004), “Share-
Based Payment”, (“FASB 123R"Jhis change in accounting replaces existing requérgs under Statement of Financial Accour
Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Cemsption (“SFAS 123") and eliminates the ability aocount for sharbase:
compensation transaction using Accounting Prinsi@ard Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issue Employees," and relal
Interpretations ("APB No. 25"). The compensatiostaelated to sharkased payment transactions is now measured baskdt @alue o
the equity or liability instrument issued. For posps of estimating the fair value of each stockooptinit on the date of grant,
Company utilized the Black-Scholes option-pricingdal. The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimatin
the fair value of traded options, which have naingsrestrictions and are fully transferable. Imiidn, option valuation models require
input of highly subjective assumptions including texpected volatility factor of the market pricetboé Companys common stock (.
determined by reviewing its historical public markéosing prices). Because the Compangmployee stock options have character
significantly different from those of trade optioaed because changes in the subjective input asgumaEan materially affect the f
value estimate, in managemengpinion, the existing models do not necessaribyiple a reliable measure of the fair value okitsploye:
stock options.
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The Company had previously accounted for stoaked compensation using the intrinsic value meihmadcordance with APB No. 25 ¢
had adopted the disclosure provisions of StatemielRinancial Accounting Standards No. 148, "Accaugfor StockBased Compensati
- Transition and Disclosure, ("SFAS No. 148"), an adment of SFAS 123. Under APB No. 25, when the @gerprice of the Compan
employee stock options equaled the market pricthefunderlying common stock on the date of grantcoempensation expense \
recognized. Accordingly, no compensation expenskleen recognized in the consolidated financidkstants in connection with the
types of grants for 2005 and earlier. When the@se price of the Company's employee stock optieas less than the market price of
underlying common stock on the date of grant, campBon expense was recognized. Equity instrumisstsed to nonemployees
exchange for goods, fees and services are accofartadder the fair value-based method of SFAS NR(R).

The Company’s accounting for stock-based compemséir restricted stock units (“RSUs”) has beenellagn the fairvalue method. T
fair value of the RSUs is the market price of tlmrpany’s common stock on the date of grant, Isssxercise cost.

16. Carrying Amount and Fair Value of Financial Insgruments
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalemgsoapnates fair value due to the short-term magsiof the instruments.
17. Newly Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

In March 2008, FASB issued Statement of Financietdunting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 16Disclosures about Derivative Instrume
and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 161" SFAS No. 161 is intended to improve financial reéjmgr about derivative instruments and hed
activities by requiring enhanced disclosures tcben@vestors to better understand their effectaorentitys financial position, financi
performance, and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 alsaorgs transparency about the location and amounderivative instruments in
entity’s financial statements; how derivative instrumesmsl related hedged items are accounted for undeerSént 133; and hc
derivative instruments and related hedged itemachfits financial position, financial performan@nd cash flows. SFAS No. 161
effective for financial statements issued for flsgaars and interim periods beginning after Novenilie 2008, with early applicati
encouraged. The Company intends to adopt SFAStL&4nuary 1, 2009.

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Statements

In December 2007, FASB issued Statement of FindAcieounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 1608l6ncontrolling Interests in Consolida
Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 58FAS 160").SFAS 160 amends ARB No. 51 to establish accouratimyreportin
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a &libsy and for the deconsolidation of a subsididryalso amends certain of ARB No. 51’
consolidation procedures for consistency with #guirements of SFAS 141 (revised 2007), Businesahilmations. SFAS 160 is effect
for fiscal years and interim periods within thogseél years beginning on or after December 15, 28a8lier adoption is prohibited. SF.
160 shall be applied prospectively as of the begonof the fiscal year in which the Statement isdd, except for the presentation
disclosure requirements. The presentation and adisot requirements shall be applied retrospectifetyall periods presented. T
Company has no noncontrolling interest in any siliasy at December 31, 2008.
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Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141ideev2007) “Business Combinations” (“SFAS (141RBJAS 141R retains t
fundamental requirements of the original pronouresnequiring that the purchase method be usedlfdiusiness combinations. SF
141R defines the acquirer as the entity that obta@mtrol of one or more businesses in the busit@sbination, establishes the acquisi
date as the date the acquirer achieves controlragadires the acquirer to recognize the assets iabditles assumed and any non-
controlling interest at their fair values as of #ieguisition date. SFAS 141R requires, among dtiiegs, that the acquisition related c
be recognized separately from the acquisition. SEASR is applied prospectively to business combnatfor which the acquisition d:

is on or after January 1, 2009.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and FinanciLiabilities

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “Fh& Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahtiiabilities 4ncluding ai
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" (“SFAS 158FAS 159 permits an entity to elect to measurabdigtems at fair value téair
value option”)including many financial instruments. The provisaf SFAS 159 are effective for the Company asaofudry 1, 2008.
the fair value option is elected, the Company wélbort unrealized gains and losses on items fochvktie fair value option has be
elected in earnings at each subsequent reportireg dafront costs and fees related to an item foickvthe fair value option is elected s
be recognized in earnings as incurred and not ifellhe fair value option may be applied for gygreligible item without electing it f
other identical items, with certain exceptions, amast be applied to the entire eligible item antl toca portion of the eligible item. T
Company elected not to apply the provisions of SEAS.

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15T WValue Measurements” (“SFAS 157\hich defines fair value, establishe
framework for measuring fair value in generally gmed accounting principles and expands disclosaipesit fair value measureme
SFAS 157 is effective for the Company beginninglanuary 1, 2008. The requirements of SFAS 157heilapplied prospectively exc
for certain derivative instruments that would bguated through the opening balance of retainedirgsnn the period of adoption. T
Company had no financial assets and liabilities tequire fair value on January 1, 2008. In Febrizf08, the FASB issued Staff Posit
No. FAS 157-2 which provides for a one-year defeofathe effective date of SFAS 157 for nfinancial assets and liabilities that
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the finahstatements on a nonrecurring basis, excepettita are recognized or disclosed ai
value in the financial statements on a recurringifoalhe Company is evaluating the impact of SFA% @n nonfinancial assets al
liabilities for next year.

Share-Based Payment

The Company adopted FASB 123R effective JanuaB®0@6 under the modified prospective method, whetognizes compensation ¢
beginning with the effective date (a) based onrdniirements of FASB 123R for all shdyvased payments granted after the effective
and to awards modified, repurchased, or canceltesst that date and (b) based on the requiremenSF#S Statement No. 123 for
awards granted to employees prior to the effedfis of FASB 123R that remain unvested on the &ffecate. The only cumulati
effect of initially applying this Statement for ti@mpany was to reclassify $5,724,000 of previoustorded unearned compensation
paidin capital. The Company has estimated that an iaddit $5,827,000 will be expensed over the appleaémaining vesting perio
for all sharebased payments granted to employees on or befareniier 31, 2005 which remained unvested on Jariya2906. As ¢
December 31, 2007 the $5,827,000 had been fullggrized as expense. The Company anticipates thag ommnpensation costs will
recorded in the future if the use of options argdrieted stock units for employees and director gensation continues as in the past.
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NOTE B — LICENSE, DEVELOPMENT, AND COMMERCIALIZATIO N AGREEMENT

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticalse&eh and Development, Inc. (“King”), a wholiysned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dewmeent and Commercialization Agreement (the “KiAgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and ¢dexthe "King Territory") certain opioid analgegitoducts utilizing our proprieta
Aversion® Technology (as more fully described untthercaption “Iltem 1. Business — King Agreement

NOTE C — PREFERRED SHARES

Effective November 10, 2005, all of the issued audstanding $0.01 par value preferred shares ofChmpany were automatically ¢
mandatorily converted into the Company’s commonclstin accordance with the terms of the CompaniRestated Certification

Incorporation. There is no convertible preferréatk outstanding at either December 31, 2008 o720t authorized but unissued prefe
share information consists of the following (in tisands):

Authorized anc

Convertible Available for Issuance
Preferred Stoc 12/31/08 and 12/31/C

Series A 23,03¢
Series B Junio 4,75¢2
Series (-1 Junior 13,57
Series (-2 Junior 12,567
Series (-3 Junior 18,09:
Total 72,027

NOTE D — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &safsl(in thousands):

December 31

2008 2007

Building and building improvemen $ 1,38t $ 1,391
Land and land improvemer 161 161
Machinery and equipmel 23 59¢
Scientific equipmen 47€ 44&
Computer hardware and softw: 22t 201
Office equipmen 52 42
Other personal property 60 48

2,38 2,88¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,309 (1,75¢)

1,07 1,12¢
Less impairment reserve - (82)
Total property, plant and equipment, $ 1,07 $ 1,04¢

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $1{33130,000 and $118,0!
respectively.
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NOTE E — ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses are summarized as follows (instéuds):

December 31

2008 2007

Payroll, payroll taxes and benet $ 77 $ 63
Legal fees 35 35
Audit examination and tax preparation fi 89 12C
Franchise taxe 144 15
Property taxe 39 34
State income taxe 94 -
Clinical, regulatory, trademarks, and patent cainsgyifees 217 50
Other fees and servic 18¢€ 17

$ 88: $ 334

NOTE F - NOTES PAYABLE
Convertible Bridge Term Notes

As of August 19, 2007, the Company had borrowedBLtnillion pursuant to a series of loan agreemdated between June 2005 to Jan
2006 — all as amended through July 2007 (Bedge Loans), between the Company, Galen Partilers.P. and its affiliates, Care Capi
Investments Il, LP and its affiliate, and Essex \Waads Health Ventures V, L.P. (collectively, th&C' Investors”),and certain othi
shareholders of the Company. The proceeds fronBtitge Loans were used by the Company to devepiersion®Technology and fur
related operating expenses. The Bridge Loans daareinterest rate of 10%, payable quarterly whizhrsuant a November 2006 amendrr
was payable, at the Compasyoption, with shares of its Common Stock. The gid.oans, as amended in March 2007, had a sche
maturity date of September 30, 2007. On August2P0,/, the entire $10.544 million principal amouftre Bridge Loans was converted i
the Companys Units in the Unit Offering pursuant to the terpfsthe Securities Purchase Agreement dated Augis@07 between tl
Company and each of the investors listed therein.

Through August 2006, the Bridge Loans did not ideliconversion provisions. An amendment to the Rritdgans effected in August 2C
added a conversion feature which allowed, at thddes’ option, the Bridge Loans to be converted the Company Common Stock upor
qualifying equity financing at a conversion priagual to the per share price implicit in such eqtiiyancing. The Company did not assign
value to the new conversion feature as it did moviple the lenders with an opportunity to receiaue in a conversion in excess of the
value of the debt regardless of the per share pfitieat equity financing.

In November 2006 and March 2007, the conversiotufeaof the Bridge Loans was further amended twathe bridge loan lenders to con
the Bridge Loans into the Company’s common stogqnuthe completion of a thirdarty equity financing providing gross proceedghe
Company in the aggregate amount of at least $5ldomia “Third Party Equity Financing”)a Change of Control Transaction or upon
maturity date of the Bridge Loans (each a “TrigggriEvent”).Upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event, thed®itbnders could convert $
million (as of August 9, 2007) of Bridge Loans intlee Companys common stock at a conversion price equal to (Ajhie case of tt
completion of a Third Party Equity Financing, tleeder of (i) 80% of the average closing bid an@dgkices of the Compargsfcommon stoc
for the twenty trading days immediately precedihg public announcement of the Third Party Inve§ioancing, but not less than $2.10
share (ii) the average price of the securities bglthe Company in such Third Party Equity Finagdi@0% of such average price in the cas
$1.8 million of Bridge Loans), and (iii) $4.40 pgnare for $2.0 million of Bridge Loans and $4.60 gleare for $1.8 million of Bridge Loa
and (B) in the case of a Change of Control Trafsaair upon the maturity date of the Bridge Loath® lesser of (i) 80% of the aver:
closing bid and asked prices of the Comparmgmmon stock for the twenty trading days immedijgpreceding the public announcement o
Change of Control Transaction or the maturity dateapplicable, but not less than $2.10 per slaae (ii) $4.40 per share for $2.0 million
Bridge Loans and $4.60 per share for $1.8 millibBiedge Loans. In addition, upon a Triggering Eyghe bridge lenders could convert $:
million of Bridge Loans into the Company's commdnoc& at a conversion price of $2.00 per share, $2ilBon of Bridge Loans at
conversion price of $2.25 per share and $1.894anibf Bridge Loans at a conversion price of $2080 share.
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The November and December 2006 issuances of Btidgas for an aggregate face value of $1.1 milliociuided this amended convers
feature which the Company valued at an aggrega®l &f million. This value was recorded as a ligpiWith an offsetting $1.0 million de
discount (which was amortized over the term ofBhnielge Loans). However, as the debt was issuetidoediolders who control the Compe
this loss was recorded as a nmash deemed dividend rather than effecting net laddditional issuances of $0.9 million of Bridge dws i
January and February 2007 similarly had aggregateersion feature value of $0.8 million.

The November 2006 amendment of the conversion fieain all of the then outstanding Bridge Loans,pted with the requirement unc
current accounting guidance to separate the valubeoconversion feature from the debt, requiresl @ompany to record the value of
amended conversion feature on that outstanding akelat liability and a loss on the modification ebtl The Company assigned a valu
$19.95 million to these conversion features at dataodification and reflected that loss as noradsemed dividend.

Upon revaluing the aggregate conversion featureallooutstanding Bridge Loans as of March 30, 202 date immediately before furtl
amendment to the Bridge Loans), the Company redattake resulting increase in value as a $3.48 millass. The increase in the Company’
common stock trading price from December 31, 2@®arch 30, 2007 resulted in the increase in tHaevaf the conversion liability. Tl
Bridge Loan amendment on March 30, 2007 limitedatveversion price of the po§tetober 2006 loans to no lower than $2.10 per shéfigh
this limit in place, the outstanding conversiontfea no longer had to be reflected as Companyliligsi As such, the Company recorde
$21.1 million reclassification of that liability tadditional paid-in capital.

To compute the estimated value of the conversiatufes just prior to the reclassification describddve and at the previous year end
Company used the Black-Scholes option-pricing medtt the following assumptions on these dates:

Mar 30, Dec 31,
2007 2006

Company stock pric $8.50 $7.40
Exercise price (see #1 belov (see #1 belov
Expected dividen: 0.0% 0.0%
Risk—free interest rat 5.07% 5.0%
Expected volatility none 88.8%
Contracted tern 1 day 3 months

(1) The conversion price per share used to estirffatevalue of the Bridge Loan conversion rightsswequal to the fixe
conversion price per share set forth above for eddie specified Bridge Loan amounts. While thédBe Loan Agreemer
provide for other than fixed conversion prices undertain circumstances, the Company has judgedtligafixed conversic
prices will most likely be the lowest price per shander any of the circumstances and the lendatditberefore select such fix
price for their conversion.

The conversion features related to $1.8 milliordBe Note issuances (dated March 30, 2007, Ap20B;7, May 17, 2007, and July 10, 2C
were not required to be separated and accountedt ffair value. However, based on the conversiacepof those notes, the issuances
include beneficial conversion features wherebydabmmon stock to be issued upon conversion woulddr¢h more than the underlying det
converted upon issuance. That incremental valompated as $0.3 million, $0.2 million, $0.4 milliand $0.6 million, respectively, w
recorded as additional paid-capital and as debt discount, which will be atized over the term of the notes. Upon conversiothe Bridge
Loans into Units of the Unit Offering dated Augi, 2007, $0.5 million of unamortized beneficialneersion features reflected as ¢
discount was recorded as a reduction to additipail-in capital.
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Secured Term Note

The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemihteach of the VC Investors and certain othearsholders of the Company de
February 10, 2004 (the "2004 Secured Term NofHie 2004 Secured Term Note was in the principaliamof $5.0 million and was secu
by a lien on all of the Company's and its subsydmmssets. On June 28, 2007, the 2004 Secured Nletemwas amended to extend
maturity date from June 30, 2007 to September 807 2and further amended on August 20, 2007 to extiee maturity date from Septem
30, 2007 to December 31, 2008. In addition, thgust 20, 2007 amendment to the 2004 Secured Terta fidduced the interest rate frol
variable rate of prime plus 4.5%, to a fixed ratel®.0% per annum and to provide for interest paysén the form of cash instead of
Companys common stock. On September 24, 2007, the 2004r& Term Note was further amended to provideHeraccrual and deferral
accrued interest payments. Simultaneous with threg2ay’s receipt of the $30 million upfront cash paymeteived pursuant to the closing
the Agreement with King, the Company prepaid 2084uged Term Nots’ principal amount plus $0.2 million unpaid intéres December
2007.

NOTE G — COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

As a result of a November 2006 amendment to the tlestanding Bridge Loans, the Compangutstanding common stock purchase war
commenced being accounted for as markatoket liabilities with an initial recorded liakiili of $12.9 million and corresponding reductiol

additional paid-in capital. The mark to market faalue adjustments to the warrant liability resdilbe a $2.2 million gain recorded in the"a
quarter 2006 and a recorded liability of $10.8 imillat December 31, 2006. Upon revaluing the wasrgust before their exercise or as
March 30, 2007 (the date immediately before furimaendment to the Bridge Loans), the Company recbtioe resulting increase in value
$1.7 million loss. The increase in the Compangbmmon stock trading price from December 31, 2@08arch 30, 2007 resulted in
increase in the value of the warrant liability. Aidje Loan agreement amendment on March 30, 20difeti the conversion price of the post-
October 2006 loans to no lower than $2.10 per shéfih this limit in place, the outstanding wartemere no longer required to be reflecte
Company liabilities. As such, the Company recordekl 2.3 million reclassification of that liabilitp additional paidn capital in addition to
$0.1 million reclassification related to warranteeeised during the first quarter of 2007.

The Company estimated the warrants’ fair value qugtme Black - Scholes optigoricing model with the following significant expec
assumptions:

November
Amendment Dati December 31, 20(  March 30, 200"

Company stock pric $0.87 $0.74 $0.85
Exercise price $0.12- $ 0.66 $0.12- $0.66 $0.12-$0.34
Expected dividen: 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 4.5%- 5.0% 4.7%- 5.0% 4.54%- 4.70%
Expected volatility 79.8%- 145.9%  48.4%- 143.5%  114.3%- 135.8%
Weighted-average volatility 127.4% 127.7% 127.7%
Contractual tern 38 day= 5.4 year 38 days 5.4 year: 1.4 year— 6.8 year

The Company has outstanding common stock purchasamis at December 31, 2008 exercisable for areggte of approximately 3,908,(
shares of common stock, all of which contained lesshexercise features. Warrants of 409,000, 6496003,4 35,000 will expire if unexercis
during 2009, 2010 and years thereafter, respegtiagld have a weighted average remaining term&fdars, weighted average exercise |
of $3.17, and exercise prices ranging from $1.283td0 per share.
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NOTE H - INCOME TAXES
Provision for Income Taxes
The reconciliation between the statutory federabine tax rate and the Company's effective incomeati is as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Tax (benefit) at U.S. 34% statutory r: $ 7,39¢ $ (4,73)) $ (2,029)
Current state tax (benefit), net of federal ef 1,51¢ (413) (537)
Research tax credi (129 (220) (12€)
Reduction in NOL carryforwar - 1,33¢ -
Fair value change of conversion feature fair vi - 1,18¢ (1,440
Fair value change of warra - 64¢ (73€)
Debt discount amortizatic - 91¢ 62
Financing cost 311 32C
Other (325) (64) 26

8,46 (1,029 (4,460
Change in valuation allowan (1,177%) (8,577 4,46(
Provision for income taxes $ 7,288 $ (9,600 $ -

Tax expense for 2008 is comprised of $0.2 millibowrrent state taxes and $7.1 million of defeti@des and for 2007 the entire $9.6
million tax benefit is deferred.

Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowance

Deferred tax assets reflect the tax effects obpetating losses (“NOLs”"}Jax credit carryovers, and temporary differencdsben the carryir
amounts of assets and liabilities for financialaring purposes and the amounts used for incompugxoses. The most significant item gi\
rise to our deferred tax credits derive from FelR@Ls. We had approximately $67.4 million and $Bhillion of Federal NOLs at Deceml
31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, available to ¢ffisiire taxable income. These NOLs expire betw2@90 and 2027. The components of
deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2008 2007
Deferred tax asset
Estimated future value of NOI
- Federa $ 22,92( % 32,43¢
- state 2,36t 4,63(
Research tax credi 754 625
Deferred program fee reven 1,81¢ -
Stocl-based compensatic 7,36¢ 5,852
Other 98 76
35,32( 43,62:
Deferred tax liabilities: depreciatic - (16)
Total deferred taxe 35,32( 43,60¢
Valuation allowanct (32,829 (34,006
Net deferred tax assets $ 2,491 $ 9,60(

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependemnt fygare earnings, if any, the timing and amoumnivbfch may be uncertain. Prior to 2007
were uncertain of achieving future earnings anaatingly, we offset 100% of deferred tax asset$aitvaluation allowance. At December
2007, based upon the economics of the King Agreemenconcluded that it was likely that we will liea sufficient future earnings to ena
us to utilize at least $9.6 million of these dedertax assets and we reduced the valuation all@vepdhat amount.  Similarly, in 2008,
concluded that it was likely that we will be abteutilize at least another $1.2 million of theséetleed tax assets and we reduced the valu
allowance by that amount. At December 31, 2008, %nillion of deferred tax assets were offset aglaihe 2008 federal and state tax liak
that would otherwise be due in 2009.

Uncertainty in Income Taxes

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No.réfarding "Accounting for Uncertainty in Incomex€s,” an interpretation of FAS
Statement No. 109 ("FIN 48"), defining the threshfdr recognizing the benefits of tax-return pasis in the financial statements as "more-
likely-thannot" to be sustained by the taxing authorities. &depted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2@@ith did not result i
establishing a contingent tax liability reserveaocorresponding charge to retained earnings. AtebBéer 31, 2008 and 2007, we hac
liability for income tax associated with uncertaax positions. The Compars/practice will be to recognize interest and péesltelated t
uncertain tax positions in interest expense andratkpense, respectively. The Company files fedmrdlstate tax returns. In the normal co
of business the Company is subject to examinatiotaking authorities. With few exceptions, the Camyp believes it is no longer subjec



U.S. federal and state income tax examinationgdars before 2005.
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NOTE | - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
1.401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan

The Company has a 401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plaa ‘(Plan”)for all employees. Employees may elect to makesichaontribution of up 1
15% of their annual earnings. The Plan provides ttie Company can make discretionary matching dmrttons equal to 25% of the first ¢
of employee contributions for an aggregate emplaggribution of 1.5%, along with a discretionampfit-sharing contribution. The Compe
did not contribute matching or profit sharing cdmttions for the Plan in years 2008, 2007 and 2006.

2. Stock Option Plans
The Company maintains various option plans as destbelow:

The 1995 Stock Option Plan was approved by ouredtwdders in September, 1995. As of December 318 2tcentive stock options (“1ISO’s”
to purchase 19,000 shares and goalified options to purchase 6,500 shares werstanding under the 1995 Stock Option Plan. In N2&Q~
the 1995 Stock Option Plan expired and the remgininissued shares allocated to the Plan were tatedn The average per share exe
price for all outstanding options under the 199&c&tOption Plan is approximately $12.27.

The 1998 Stock Option Plan was adopted by the Bohfirectors in April, 1998 and approved by ouastholders in June, 1998. The 1
Stock Option Plan permits the grant of ISO’s and-goalified stock options to purchase shares of cm@on Stock. As of December
2008, stock options to purchase 1,903,364 shar€owimon Stock had been granted under the 1998 Siptikn Plan. Of such option gral
68,100 are 1SOs and 1,835,264 are gaalified options. In April, 2008 the 1998 Stocktdn Plan expired and the remaining unissued s
allocated to the Plan were terminated. The avepmgeshare exercise price for all outstanding ogtionder the 1998 Stock Option Pla
approximately $2.14.

The 2008 Stock Option Plan was adopted by the Bo#rDirectors on March 14, 2008 and approved by shareholders on April &
2008. The 2008 Stock Option Plan permits the gediSO’s and norgualified stock options to purchase in the aggreggt to 6,000,0(
shares of our Common Stock. As of December 31826i@ck options to purchase 1,040,000 shares ofn@mn Stock had been granted ui
the 2008 Stock Option Plan. Of such option gradé§,543 are ISOs and 674,457 are gaalified options. The average per share exe
price for all outstanding options under the 200&&tOption Plan is approximately $9.87.

A summary of the Company's stock option plans a®edember 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, and for thesydsen ended consisted of
following:

Years Ended December :

2008 2007 2006

Number Weighted Number Weighted Number Weighted

of Average of Average of Average

Options Exercise Options Exercise Options Exercise

(00C's) Price (00C's) Price (00C's) Price

Outstanding, beginning 1,85¢ $ 2.6C 1,89¢ $ 2.6C 1,97t $ 2.7C
Granted 1,16( 9.5¢ - - - -
Exercisec - - (31) 3.8C (40 2.5C
Forfeited or expired (50) 23.6¢ (10) 3.6( (36) 10.4(
Outstanding, ending 2,96¢ $ 4.9¢ 1,85¢ $ 2.6C 1,89¢ $ 2.6C
Options exercisable, end of year 2,21t $ 3.2¢€ 1,827 $ 2.5¢€ 1,837 $ 2.6(C
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The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions outstanding at December 31, 2008:

Options Outstandin Options Exercisabl

Weighted

Average Weighted Number of Weighted

Number of Remaining Average Vested Average

Range of Exercise Options Contractual Exercise Options Exercise

Prices (00C's) Life Price (00C's) Price

$1.30 to $10.0( 2,88¢ 711 % 4.6t 2,13t $ 2.81
$10.01 to $20.0! 69 1.07 14.1¢ 69 14.1¢
$ 20.01 to $25.00 11 2.9F 23.51 11 23.5]
Total 2,96¢ 6.9t $ 4.9¢ 2,21t $ 3.2€

The following table summarizes information abouhwested stock options outstanding at December@®18:2

Number of Weighted
Options Not Average
Exercisable Fair
(0007 s Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 31 $ 3.1C
Grantec 1,16(C 9.21
Vested (437) 8.5¢
Forfeited or expire: - -
Outstanding at December 31, 200i 754 $ 6.8¢

The Company estimated the option’s fair value on diate of grant using the Black - Scholes optiaokpy model. BlackScholes utilize
assumptions related to volatility, the riske interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswased to be zero, as the Company has not pai
cash dividends) and employee exercise behaviore&igd volatilities utilized in the BlacBeholes model are based on the historical volg
of the Company’s common stock price. The ffide interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasigld curve in effect at the time of grant. -
expected life of the grants is derived from histafifactors. No options were granted in 2007 ar@520

The assumptions used in the Black Scholes modidteermine fair value for the 2008 stock option ¢samere:

2008
Dividend yield -
Average ris-free interest rate use 3.6%
Average volatility uses 141%
Forfeitures 0.C%
Expected life of optiol 10 year
Weighted average grant date fair va $ 6.8

As of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 the aggregainsic value of the option awards outstanding exercisable was $10.5 million, ¢
million, and $10.3 million, respectively. In addit, the aggregate intrinsic value of option awaegsrcised during the years ended Dece
31, 2007 and 2006 was $492,000 and $178,000, riaaglgc The total remaining unrecognized compemsatost related to the unvested op
awards at December 31, 2008 was $7,025,000 andpiscied to be recognized over the next sixteen mamighted average remain
requisite service period of the unvested optionrdearhe total fair value of the option awards tedted during the years ended Decembe
2008, 2007 and 2006 were $3.8 million, $0.1 milliand $2.8 million, respectively. The Company mined stockiased compensation fre
the option awards of $3.7 million, $0.1 million a$@.3 million, during the years ended December28D8, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
discussed in Note H, a 100% valuation reserve le@ becorded against the Compangemaining deferred tax assets, which include
related gross tax benefits of $1.3 million and $@ilion recorded in calendar years of 2008 and72@8spectively, for allowable deductit
that arise from the exercise of non-qualified stopkons.
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3. Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan

The Company has a Restricted Stock Unit Award Rlaen“2005 RSU Plan”) for its employees and reanployee directors. A Restricted St
Unit (“RSU") represents the contingent obligation of the Compiangeliver a share of its common stock to the éoldf the RSU on
distribution date. RSUs for up to 3.5 million sésiof common stock are authorized for issuancertthde2005 RSU Plan.

The RSU Plan is administered by the ComparBoard of Directors or a Committee appointed leyBloard of Directors. RSUs granted ut
the 2005 RSU Plan vest on a schedule determinettibyBoard of Directors or such Committee as sehfor a restricted stock unit awi
agreement. Unless otherwise set forth in suchdagreement, the RSUs fully vest upon a changeritral (as defined in the 2005 RSU P
of the Company or upon termination of an emplogezhployment with the Company without cause ortduteath or disability, and in the ¢
of a non-employee director, such person’s deatfisability or if such person is not renominatechatirector (other than for “causet refuss
to stand for re-election) or is not elected by @wmpanys stockholders, if nominated. Vesting of an RStitles the holder thereof to receiv
share of common stock of the Company on a disidhudate (after payment of the $0.01 par valuespere).

Absent a change of control, ofmirth of vested shares of common stock underlgndRSU award will be distributed (after paymen$6f0]
par value per share) on January 1 of each of 212, 2013 and 2014. If a change in control ocfuteether prior to or after 2011), the ves
shares underlying the RSU award will be distribugedr about the time of the change in control.

In December 2005, an aggregate of 2.75 million R&&ee granted to Company employees. In Februarg,280 aggregate of 200,000 R¢
were granted to two of the Compasyhdependent directors. In April 2008, 50,000 RSt¢re granted to a Company employee. Of th
million RSU awards granted, 2.95 million were fullgsted as of December 31, 2007. The balance ,608(RSUs are vesting at the rat
2,500 per month from May 2008 througlecember 2009. During 2008 and 2007, 20,000 an¢g3083RSUs vested, respectively. As sucl
the RSU awards granted, 2,970,000 and 2,950,008 vested as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, regelyctand 30,000 were nonvestet
of December 31, 2008. The RSUs have a weightedigednir value of $3.49 per share.

The stock-based compensation cost to be incurretthe@®RSUs is the RSU’s fair value, which is the keamprice of the Compang’commo
stock on the date of grant, less its exercise chst fair value of the RSU grants made in 2008 2806 was $431,500 and $680,(
respectively. The fair value of the 2006 RSU gramas entirely expensed on the grant date as the gras made for performance of |
service. The total remaining unrecognized compémsatost related to the unvested RSU awards amduate$247,000 and $879,00C
December 31, 2008 and 2006, respectively. Therensagnrecognized compensation cost at DecembeR®I]. The Company recogni:
compensation cost from the RSU awards of $185,8005879,000 during the year ended December 31, 2002007, respectively. No rela
tax benefits were recorded in calendar year 20082807. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the ggdrdntrinsic value of the RSU awa
outstanding and vested was $21,770,000 and $1D@B6respectively. As discussed above, the RSUdsvarre distributable only upon
occurrence of certain events or beginning Janua®p11.
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NOTE J — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Employment Contracts

Each of Andrew D. Reddick, Robert B. Jones andrP&teClemens are parties to employment agreemesrigaiming similar terms expirit
December, 31, 2009 which provide a minimum annaaklsalary for 2009 of $365,000, $290,000 and $205 respectively, plus the paym
of annual bonuses, in the discretion of the ComgiEms Committee or the Board, based on the achiemeérof such targets, conditions,
parameters as set by the Board of Directors o€tmapensation Committee. In 2008, bonuses of $388$080,500 and $102,500 were pai

Messrs. Reddick, Jones and Clemens, respectiveytal among other reasons, advancing our Aclirbablets and other products using

Aversion ® Technology through proof of concept and clinicalelepment, implementing the King Agreement andrg&eg of addition:
products to King through the exercise of Kimgptions under the King Agreement. The matedkdry and bonus performance targets for :

consist of the approval by the FDA of the AcufdXablet NDA, advancement of additional product cdatis (both opioid and napioid)

utilizing Aversion® Technology, and expansion of the intellectual propportfolio for abuse deterrent technologies. ISperformance targe
are both organization and individual goals.

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., was employed pursuant tongpla@yment agreement effective as of April 5, 2084 amended, which provided that
Spivey would serve as the Company's Senior Vicsi@eat and Chief Scientific Officer for term expigi December 31, 2008 at an annual
salary of $315,000 plus the payment of annual besmigsibject to the achievement of such targetsibescabove. The employment agreer
of Dr. Spivey was amended to provide that Dr. Spiweuld receive a $315,000 bonus payment (in aolditb any other payments to whict
may be entitled pursuant to his employment agre@niehe remained employed by the Company througitdnber 31, 2008. As such,
December 31, 2008 Dr. Spivey received a total bapiu$630,000. In addition, as part of the amendmenDr. Spiveys employmer
agreement, the Company entered into an AmendedRasthted Employment Agreement which provides tbatraencing January 1, 2009,
Spivey will continue his employment with the Compdhrough December 31, 2010 on a parte basis (10 weeks per year) at an annual ¢
of $120,000 as Senior Scientific Advisor. Dr. Spiwvill report to the Chief Executive Officer andllvibe eligible for benefits offered to part-
time employees.

Financial Advisor Agreement
In connection with the Company’s August 2007 Unite@ing, the Company is obligated to pay a feeh® €ompanys financial advisor upc
each exercise of the warrants issued in the Urfgrdfy, in proportion to the number of warrants reied. The maximum amount of such
assuming 100% exercise of such warrants, is $285,Dle Company has not reflected this obligatiom &ability in its consolidated financ
statements as the payment is contingent upon tiegiand exercise of the warrants by each of theaméholders. Such fee, if any, will
paid and charged against earnings as and if theamtarare exercised. No warrants have been exdraimter the August 2007 Unit Offering.
NOTE K — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Selected quarterly consolidated financial daghiswn below. On December 5, 2007, the Company tefiex one-for-ten reverse stock split.
All share and per share information herein reflélis reverse stock split (in thousands, excepshare data):

Three Month Period Ende

Calendar Year 200 Mar. 31 Jun. 3C Sept. 3C Dec. 31
Total revenue $ 17,08 $ 15,68t $ 388C $ 7,78¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 12,13: 11,227 (3,18¢) 80¢
Net income (loss 7,44¢ 6,87( 3,14¢ (2,999
Income per common sha
Basic $ 0.1€ $ 0.1t $ 0.07 $ (0.07)
Diluted $ 0.1t $ 0.1 $ 0.06 $ (0.07)
Calendar Year 200 Mar. 31 June 3( Sept. 3C Dec. 31
Total revenus $ - $ - $ - 8 6,40/
Loss from operation (1,979 (1,340 (1,420 (172
Net income (loss (9,159 (2,199 (2,47€) 9,521

Income (loss) per common shyafter

deemed dividend) (Note /
Basic $ (0.26¢) $ (0.06) $ (0.06) $ 0.21
Diluted $ (0.26) $ (0.06) $ (0.06) $ 0.2C

Effective August 20, 2007, the Company entered mtSecurities Purchase Agreement with an investouand under the Unit Offerir
issued an aggregate 9.5 million shares of the Cagipa&ommon stock. The 3rd Quarter 2007 loss per camshare amount of $.06 refle
the increased weighted average common shares rditsgafrom the Unit Offering and the impact of tidgsuance causes the 2007 quarterly
per share amounts not to add up to and equal e &nual loss per share amount.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part a$ thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated het®y reference.

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

3.1

3.2

3.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist (incorporated by reference to Appendix C t® Registrant
Proxy Statement filed on July 6, 200

Certificate of Amendment Reverse Splitting Commaoc® and restating but not changing text of parfdicle IlI
of Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorgerhby Reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the ForrK 8fed December ¢
2007).

Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Forr-K filed on October 1:
2007).

License, Development and Commercialization Agredrbgrand between the Registrant and King Pharmenzds
Research and Development, Inc. (incorporated bgreete to Exhibit 10.1 of the FormkBfiled on November :
2007). (confidential treatment has been requesteddrtions of this Exhibit)

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of AsR007 (“PIPE SPA”among the Registrant, Vivo Ventu
Fund VI, L.P., Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, . (collectively “Vivo"), GCE Holdings LLC, and certain ott
signatories thereto (incorporated by referencextuitkit 10.1 to the Form-K filed on August 21, 2007

Form of Warrant dated as of August 20, 2007 issugduant to the PIPE SPA (incorporated by referéade<hibii
4.1 to the Form-K filed on August 21, 2007

Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued to WatsonnRcauticals, Inc.“WPI") dated December 20, 2C
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 toFfoem ¢-K filed on December 27, 200z

Form of Warrants dated August 15, 2001 issued terGRartners I, L.P., Galen Partners Internatiokig L.P. anc
Galen Employee Fund llI, L.P. (currently exercigabt $9.90 per share) (incorporated by referendextobit 10.:
to the Form -3 filed on October 1, 2007 (t“October 2007 -3")).

Form of Warrants dated January 9, 2002, Februar002, March 1, 2002, and April 5, 2002 issued wle€
Partners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners Internationidl,I.P. and Galen Employee Fund Ill, L.P. (curtgrexercisable :
an exercise price of $3.40 per share) (incorporbyedference to Exhibit 10.4 to the October 20-3).

Form of Warrants dated May 8, 2002, June 3, 2001,1] 2002, July 23, 2002, August 5, 2002, Septm3) 200z
October 1, 2002, November 4, 2002, November 122 2B@vember 21, 2002 and December 5, 2002 issuGalex
Partners 1ll, L.P., Galen Partners Internationid),Ll.P. and Galen Employee Fund Ill, L.P. (curfgrexercisable :
an exercise price of $3.40 per share) (incorporhyetference to Exhibit 10.5 to the October 20-3).

Form of Warrants dated May 5, 2003 issued to GRlamners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners Internationl LL.P., Galel
Employee Fund lll, L.P., Essex Woodlands Healthtusrs Fund V, L.P. and Care Capital Investmentsml,anc
others (currently exercisable at an exercise fc$l.285 per share) (incorporated by referencExioibit 10.6 t
the October 2007-3).
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated asebfulry 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Care C
Investments 1l, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventufes\d V, L.P., Galen Partners Ill, L.P., and ot
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of theer 8-K filed on February 10, 2004 (the “Februa®p2 Form 8-

K™)).

Joinder and Amendment to Amended and Restated §otigreement dated November 9, 2005 betweel
Registrant, GCE Holdings, Essex Woodlands Healthtses Fund V, L.P., Care Capital Investments R, Galel
Partners Ill, L.P. and others (incorporated byneriee to Exhibit 10.1 to the Forn-K dated November 9, 200t

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Votingeekgent dated as of January 24, 2008 betwee
Registrant and GCE Holdings, LLC (incorporated bference to Exhibit 10.1 to the FormK8filed January 2¢
2008).

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreemated February 6, 2004 among the Registrant, WRI¢
Capital Investments II, LP, Essex Woodlands He#&lgmtures Fund V, L.P., Galen Partners lll, L.P. antlder:
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of tlefiary 2004 Form-K).

Registrar’'s 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchéese (ihcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te
Registrant's Registration Statement on Fo-8, File No. 3.-98396).

Registrant’s 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amenuhedrporated by reference to Appendix C to the Regit's Prox
Statement filed on November 16, 20C

Registrant 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, as amer{aexdrporated by reference to Appendix D to
Registrar’s Proxy Statement filed on November 16, 20

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Aug6stZD03 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&
(“Reddick™) (incorporated by reference to Exhib@.2 to the Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 2004
“June 2004 1-Q")).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwten Registrant and Reddick, dated May 27, :
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to theel2004 1-Q).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbetween the Registrant and Reddick, dated May @25
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.116 to Beem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2005 filec
February 21, 2006 (tt*2005 Form 1-K")).

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeetiveen the Registrant and Reddick, dated Decenth
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1tHe Form 8-K filed December 23, 2005 (tHeetember 20(C
Form &K™)).

Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreentettveen the Registrant and Reddick dated Decent
2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28h® Form 1K for the year ending December 31, 2007, files
March 5, 2008)

Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeetiheen the Registrant and Reddick executed JuRD@¢
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Barm &K filed on July 10, 2008

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of AprR@)4 between the Registrant and Ron J. Spivepi(iucate:
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the June 200-Q).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement datedelnber 22, 2005 between Registrant and Ron Jey
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to trec@mber 2005 Form-K).
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

10.24 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerdated December 19, 2007 between the RegistranRar
J. Spivey (incorporated by reference to Exhibi2Bdto the Form 10 for the year ending December 31, 2007,
on March 5, 2008}

10.25 Third Amendment to Employment Amendment to Exeautizmployment Agreement executed July 9, :
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to oarrf &-K filed on July 10, 2008

10.26 Amended and Restate Employment Agreement effeasvef January 1, 2009 between the registrant amd J
Spivey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14@.®ur Form -K filed on July 10, 2008

10.27 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 1968véen the Registrant and Peter Clemens (“Clemens
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to Bgem 10K for the period ending December 31, 2007, file(
April 15, 1998).

10.28 First Amendment to Employment Agreement made aduwsfe 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Cle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44A to Registrar’'s 2005 Form 1-K).

10.29 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbetween Registrant and Clemens, dated as of Jabi
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1h® Registrant's Forn-K filed January 31, 2005

10.30 Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeaated December 22, 2005 between Registrant and @k
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to trec@mber 2005 Form-K).

10.31 Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeated December 16, 2007 between Registran
Clemens (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@@fhe Form 1K for the year ending December 31, 2007, °
on March 5, 2008

10.32 Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemexecaited July 9, 2008 between Registrant and Cle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Barm ¢-K filed on July 10, 2008

10.33 Employment Agreement dated as of March 18, 200&dxxt the Registrant and Robert B. Jones (incorpdrt
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Forr-K filed on March 24, 200¢

10.34 Loan Agreement among the Registrant Essex Woodldedtth Ventures Fund V, L.P., Care Capital Invesits ||
LP, Galen Partners lll, L.P. and others dated Jyn8a, 2006 (the “Loan Agreementdhd together with certe
other bridge loan agreements, the “Loan Agreemgifiistorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Ferm 8K
filed on January 31, 200¢

10.35 Form of Secured Promissory Note of the Registralating to January 31, 2006 Loan Agreement (incaiea b
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Fori-K filed on January 31, 2006

10.36 Subordination Agreement among Essex Woodlands M&ahtures Fund V, L.P., Care Capital InvestmehtsP,
Galen Partners lll, L.P., and others dated JanBayyY006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8he Form 8-
K filed on January 31, 2006

10.37 Company General Security Agreement among the Ragisand Galen Partners I, L.P., as Agent, ddtuar
31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the Form -K filed on January 31, 2001
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

Guarantor Security Agreement among Acura Pharmmedufechnologies, Inc.“APT”) and Galen Partners |
L.P., as Agent, dated January 31, 2006 (incorpdrbyereference to Exhibit 10.6 to the FornK8Hed on Januar
31, 2006)

Omnibus Amendment effective as of May 24, 2006 agribie Registrant and APT and certain lenders amegritik
Loan Agreements (incorporated by reference to threnR-K filed on May 24, 2006)

Omnibus Amendment effective as of August 16, 286%®ng the Registrant, APT and certain lenders, ding
among other things, the Loan Agreements (incorpadray reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the ForrK @iled on Augus
16, 2006)

Omnibus Amendment effective as of September 226 2000ng the Registrant, APT and certain lendergnaling
among other things, the Loan Agreements (incorpdrdty reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the ForniK Hled on
September 25, 200¢

Omnibus Amendment effective as of October 20, 280®ng the Registrant, APT and certain lenders, ding
among other things, the Loan Agreements (incorpdrdty reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the ForniK 8Hled on
October 20, 2006

Omnibus Amendment effective as of November 30, 286®ng the Registrant and APT and certain ler
amending among other things, the Loan Agreement®i(porated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to then+8K filed
on December 4, 200€

Omnibus Amendment and Consent dated March 30, 200Gng the Registrant, Galen Partners lll, L.P.,e
Capital Investments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands He&#ntures Fund V, L.P. and the other signatorieseti
(incorporated by referenced to Exhibit 10.1 of fwem ¢-K filed April 2, 2007).

Omnibus Amendment and Consent effective as of I0)y2007 among the Registrant, Galen Partners.m,, Car:
Capital Investments I, LP, Essex Woodlands Heal#mtures Fund V, L.P. and the other signatorieseth
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of tlwerf &-K filed on July 10, 2007]

Fourth Amendment, Waiver and Consent to Loan Agergrdated as of June 28, 2007 between the Redistng

Galen Partners lll, LP, as agent (incorporateddgrence to Exhibit 10.1 of the FornK8filed on July 5, 2007 (tt
“July 5, 2007 -K")).
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.47 Consent and Amendment to Noteholders Agreement grigssex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund V, L.P.gf
Partners Ill, L.P. and Care Capital Investment&M, and certain other signatories thereto (incafsal by referen:
to Exhibit 10.2 of the July 5, 200°-K).

10.48 Amended Secured Promissory Note dated as of Deaed® 002 in the principal amount of $5,000,0Guéed b
the Registrant, as the maker, in favor of Galenreas I, L.P., as agent (incorporated by refeestec Exhibit 10.
of the July 5, 2007-K).

10.49 Fifth Amendment, Waiver and Consent to Loan Agresintiated as of August 20, 2007 between the Regisama
Galen Partners lll, L.P., as agent (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 10.2 to the FornmK8filed on August 21
2007).

10.50 Amended Secured Promissory Note dated as of Deaed® 002 in the principal amount of $5,000,0Guéed b
the Registrant, as the maker, in favor of Galenreas Ill, L.P., as agent (incorporated by refeestoc Exhibit 10.
of the Form -K filed on August 21, 2007

10.51 Sixth Amendment, Waiver and Consent to Loan Agregrdated as of September 27, 2007 between the tRat
and Galen Partners Ill, L.P., as agent (incorpdratereference to Exhibit 10.1 to the FornK8Hed on Septemb:
24, 2007)

10.52 Amended Secured Promissory Note originally issueedf@december 20, 2002 in the principal amountm080,00!
issued by the Registrant, as the maker, in favdBaien Partners Ill, L.P., as Agent (incorporatgdrdference t
Exhibit 10.2 of the Form-K filed on September 24, 2007

14.1 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi1 of the Form-K filed on December 10, 2007

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated bgnexice to the Form -K for the fiscal year ended December
2006 filed on March 15, 2007

*23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

*31.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@ficer pursuant to Rule 1-14 and 15-14 of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 193¢

*31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financiafficer pursuant to Rule 1-14 and 15-14 of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 193¢

*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and ChiEinancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiob@,3as adopte

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002.

*Filed or furnished herewith.
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéndbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-1851653, 333-151620, 3333172
333-123615, 333-63288, and 33-98356) and on Foln(I$a. 333146416) of our report dated February 27, 2009 irgjab the consolidats
financial statements of Acura Pharmaceuticals,, Imcluding our attestation of the effectivenessAaiura Pharmaceuticals, Ins.interng
control over financial reporting appearing in then@pany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeadeshDecember 31, 2008.

Chicago, lllinois /s/ BDO Seidman, LLI
February 27, 200




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

[, Andrew D. Reddick, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescontain any untrue statement of a material facomit to state a material f
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedfircumstances under which such statements mwade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining diseie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢t) and internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reipgr or caused such internal control over finahoégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slasire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armtquiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registral
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qegrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondiigly to materially affect, tr
registrant's internal control over financial rejrogt; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiomtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatazaimmittee of the registrant's board of directfms persons performing the equiva
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidteaability to record, process, summarize and itefieincial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 27, 200

/s/ Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Offic
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescontain any untrue statement of a material facomit to state a material f
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedfircumstances under which such statements mwade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining diseie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢t) and internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f) ) for the registrant and ha\

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reipgr or caused such internal control over finahoégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slasire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armtquiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registral
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qegrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondiigly to materially affect, tr
registrant's internal control over financial rejrogt; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiomtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatazaimmittee of the registrant's board of directfms persons performing the equiva
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidteaability to record, process, summarize and itefieincial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 27, 20(

/sl Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify, pursuant to 18 U.SI350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of #ibaBexley Act of 2002, that tt
Annual Report on Form 1K-of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2008 fully complies with tguirement
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Excleagt of 1934 and that information contained intséanual Report of Form 10K fait
presents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of Acura Pharunécals, Inc.

February 27, 200 By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddicl
Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executi
Officer

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 16 of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2008 fully complies with thguirements ¢
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange @& 1934 and that information contained in suafnéal Report of Form 10K fair
presents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of Acura Pharunécals, Inc.

February 27, 200 By: /s/ Peter A. Clemer
Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Ch
Financial Officer
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